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Young People and Their Futures

Financial security is a crucial aspect of overall wellbeing, and 

mental health in particular, for people at all stages in life. The 

sooner the youth can develop skills in financial literacy to manage 

our personal finances well in the immediate and long term, the 

better. Leveraging the expertise of FTLife Insurance in financial 

management and protection planning, we are able to empower 

members of our community, especially the underprivileged, to 

make informed and responsible financial decisions for themselves 

and their families, ultimately helping them to build a better future.

Partnerships to Support our Community

In extending the positive impact to support those in need in the 

community, NWS and Hip Hing Group has in turn partnered 

and collaborated with AESIR, a start-up cultivated from Eureka 

Nova founded by the New World Group that creates games 

and interactive solutions for people with special needs using 

Augmented and Virtual Reality technologies. We have arranged 

programmes for children with special education needs (“SEN”) to 

learn from playing interactive games especially during COVID-19, 

through our “Catch Your 5**” programme. Through the “SEED 

Programme”, offered by the Home Affairs Bureau and the Hong 

Kong Productivity Council, AESIR was matched with Hip Hing 

Group, who helped reaching out to more beneficiaries, for 

instance, in providing VR training to prevent the elderly from 

falling.

Money Smart Workshop held online for students 

in-need by FTLife Insurance
SEN students learning through specially 

designed interactive games.

Empowering young people with  
financial literacy

FTLife Insurance partnered with Junior Achievement’s Hong 

Kong chapter, Investor and Financial Education Council 

(“IFEC”), and Principal Chan Free Tutorial World to offer a 

free online Money Smart Workshop for 108 students in-need 

from 60 primary schools. 35 volunteers from FTLife Insurance 

assisted the facilitation in 12 virtual classrooms. This event 

was created in support of the Financial Literacy Strategy led 

by the IFEC and as part of Hong Kong Money Month in March 

2021, a territory-wide initiative to enhance financial literacy in 

Hong Kong.

108 students from 60 schools  
learnt to be money smart

It complements FTLife Insurance’s ongoing endeavours 

to support young people in learning financial management 

and protection planning and its scholarship programme for 

students from Principal Chan Free Tutorial World, empowering 

them with financial literacy to make good life choices. In 2020, 

332 students benefited from the scholarship. In addition, 

FTLife Insurance’s “Go Green Go Digital” SIM Card Donation 

Programme supports underprivileged children to learn 

online, while at the same time contributes to reducing our 

environmental impact.
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Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Content Index
The following indicates the location of or direct response to the disclosures required by Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting 

Guide included in this report.

Aspect & Key 
Performance Indicator

General Disclosure and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section/Remarks

Governance structure A statement from the board containing:
1.	 a disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues
2.	 how the board reviews progress made against 

ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation 
of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses

3.	 the board’s ESG management approach and 
strategy, including the process used to evaluate, 
prioritize and manage material ESG-related issues

How We Govern and Manage

Reporting principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application of 
the (i) Materiality, (ii) Quantitative,  
(iii) Consistency reporting principles

About this Sustainability Report

Reporting boundary Reporting boundaries of the ESG report and process of 
setting them

About This Sustainability Report

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1: Emissions Compliance with emissions laws and regulations There were no reported cases of non-
compliance that had a significant impact 
on the Group in FY2021.

Policies relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, 
discharges into water and land, and generation of 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

How We Govern and Manage;
“Sustainability Policy”

KPI A1.1 Types of emissions and waste and respective data Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) 
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity

Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity

Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, 
where appropriate, intensity

Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

KPI A1.5 Description of emission targets set and steps taken to 
achieve them

Greener Future

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes 
are handled, and a description of reduction targets set 
and steps taken to achieve them

Greener Future; 
Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

https://sr.nws.com.hk/html/eng/pdf/NWS_Sustainability_Policy_English.pdf
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Aspect & Key 
Performance Indicator

General Disclosure and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section/Remarks

A2: Use of Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including 
energy, water and other raw materials

How We Govern and Manage

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total 
(kWh in ‘000s) and intensity

Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity Environmental Performance Data 
Summary

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency targets set and steps 
taken to achieve them

Greener Future

KPI A2.4 Any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 
efficiency targets set and steps taken to achieve them

Greener Future; 
Freshwater used by the Group’s 
operations is sourced locally from 
the respective municipalities that are 
considered adequate and fit for purpose 
and we strive to conserve water 
consumption

KPI A2.5 Total packaging (in tonnes), and, if applicable, packaging 
intensity

Data not tracked. The use of packaging 
material is not material to the Group

A3: �The Environment and 
Natural Resources

Policies on minimising significant impacts on the 
environment and natural resources

How We Govern and Manage

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 
environment and natural resources and the actions taken 
to manage them

Greener Future

A4: Climate Change Policies on identification and mitigation of significant 
climate-related issues

How We Govern and Manage;
Greener Future

KPI A4.1 Description of significant climate-related issues which 
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, 
and the actions taken to manage them

How We Govern and Manage;
Greener Future

B. SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices

B1: Employment Compliance with employment practices laws and 
regulations

There were no reported cases of non-
compliance that had a significant impact 
on the Group in FY2021

Policies on employment practices How We Govern and Manage; Thriving 
Peoples

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group, 
geographical region

Social Data Summary

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group, 
geographical region

Social Data Summary



93ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Sustainability Report

Aspect & Key 
Performance Indicator

General Disclosure and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section/Remarks

B2: Health and Safety Policies on health and safety How We Govern and Manage;
Thriving Peoples

Compliance with health and safety laws and regulations One minor conviction case was reported 
by Hip Hing Group Group due to 
improper PPE used in one construction 
site. 

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in 
each of the past three years including the reporting year

Social Data Summary

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury Social Data Summary

KPI B2.3 Description of OHS measures adopted, and how they are 
implemented and monitored

Thriving Peoples

B3: �Development and 
Training

Policies of employees’ development and training and 
description of such activities

How We Govern and Manage;
Thriving Peoples

KPI B3.1 Percentage of employees trained by gender and 
employee category

Social Data Summary;
Data not tracked. Relevant data including 
the average training hours completed 
per employee by gender and employee 
category, and total training hours by 
training topics completed is available 
under Thriving Peoples chapter.

KPI B3.2 Average training hours completed per employee by 
gender and employee category

Social Data Summary

B4: Labour Standards Policies on preventing child and forced labour How We Govern and Manage

Compliance with child and forced labour laws and 
regulations

There were no reported cases of non-
compliance related to child and forced 
labour that had a significant impact on 
the Group in FY2021.

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices 
to avoid child and forced labour

How We Govern and Manage

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate child and forced 
labour practices when discovered

How We Govern and Manage

Operating Practices

B5: �Supply Chain 
Management

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of 
the supply chain

How We Govern and Manage

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region How We Govern and Manage

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, 
number of suppliers where the practices are being 
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored

How We Govern and Manage

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental 
and social risks along the supply chain, how they are 
implemented and monitored

How We Govern and Manage

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 
preferable products and services when selecting 
suppliers, how they are implemented and monitored

How We Govern and Manage;
Greener Future
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Aspect & Key 
Performance Indicator

General Disclosure and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section/Remarks

B6: Product Responsibility Policies on product responsibility (health and safety, 
advertising, labelling and privacy matters)

How We Govern and Manage

Compliance with product responsibility laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer 
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and 
privacy matters relating to products and services provided 
and methods of redress

There were no reported cases of non-
compliance that had a significant impact 
on the Group in the reporting year.

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to 
recalls for safety and health reasons

There were no recalls concerning the 
provision and use of products and 
services for safety and health reasons in 
the reporting year

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints 
received and how they are dealt with

The Group received a total of 634 
complaints in relation to product 
and services during FY2021. Refer 
to Continuous Innovation for Quality 
Customer Service section for description 
of complaint handling mechanism.

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and 
protecting intellectual property rights

How We Govern and Manage

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall 
procedures

Recall is not material to the Group’s 
operations, yet recall procedures are in 
place for Free Duty to inform customers 
for refund when recall incidents are 
confirmed with manufacturers.

Free Duty purchase products from 
“Authorized Distributors” only. To 
ensure the quality of products, the Best 
Before Date of Free Duty’s products 
are reviewed on monthly basis and the 
storage temperature is regularly checked 
internally.

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy 
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored

How We Govern and Manage

B7: Anti-Corruption Policies relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money 
laundering

How We Govern and Manage

Compliance with anti-corruption laws and regulations that 
have a significant impact on the issuer

There were no reported cases of non-
compliance related to anti-corruption 
laws and regulations that had a significant 
impact on the Group in FY2021.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt 
practices brought against the issuers or its employees 
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the 
cases

There were no reported or concluded 
legal cases of corruption brought against 
the Group or its employees that had 
a significant impact on the Group in 
FY2021.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventative measures and whistleblowing 
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored

How We Govern and Manage

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to 
directors and staff

How We Govern and Manage

Community

B8: Community Investment Policies on community investment Fostering an Inclusive Community 

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution Fostering an Inclusive Community 

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area Fostering an Inclusive Community 
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VERIFICATION STATEMENT
Scope and Objectives
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency (“HKQAA”) performed a limited assurance engagement on the sustainability disclosures stated in 
the Sustainability Report 2021 (“the Report”) of NWS Holdings Limited (“NWS”) for the period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) set 
out in the Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (SEHK), and with 
reference to the Core option of the Global Reporting Initiative Sustainability Reporting Standards (“GRI Standards”).

Our responsibility is to express an assurance conclusion on the completeness, accuracy and reliability of the sustainability data and 
information stated in the Report. The objectives are to:

•	 assess the completeness of the scope to cover all significant aspects of NWS sustainability performance;

•	 verify the fulfillment in addressing the ESG Reporting Guide and review the referencing of the Core option of the GRI Standards;

•	 evaluate the accuracy of the selected data and information presented in the Report including the performance of 2030 Targets 
and Progress status, Environment and Social Performance Data and, etc.; and

•	 review the reliability of the data and information management mechanism for preparing the Report.

Level of Assurance and Methodology
We conducted our assurance engagement in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 
(Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and the International Standard on 
Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3410, Assurance Engagements on Greenhouse Gas Statements issued by the International Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board. The verification procedure was designed for devising opinions and conclusions to obtain a limited level 
of assurance. The extent of this verification process undertaken covered the criteria specified in the ESG Reporting Guide and the GRI 
Standards (Core option).

Within the scope of our verification, we conducted the following procedures and activities:

•	 reviewing internal systems and processes for collecting, analyzing, aggregating and reporting of the performance data,

•	 verifying performance data of Environment, Social, 2030 Targets and Progress, including key metrics of energy, greenhouse 
gases, water, waste, health and safety, employment and training, etc.,

•	 interviewing responsible personnel with accountability for preparing the Report, and

•	 examining raw data and supporting evidence of the selected samples according to the risk-based sampling plan.

Independence
NWS is responsible for the collection and presentation of the information. Our verification activities are independent and impartial.

Conclusion
Based on the verification procedures performed and evidence obtained, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe 
that the information and data stated in the Report has not been prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with the ESG Reporting 
Guide and the Core option of the GRI Standards. The data and information provided for verification is considered reliable and accurate.

Signed on behalf of Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

Connie Sham
Head of Audit
Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
September 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Group Overview
The Group concluded FY2021 with solid results despite all 

the volatil ities brought by COVID-19 outbreak, economic 

stimulus package introduced by governments, looming inflation 

pressure and the protracted tensions between the United 

States and Mainland China. Thanks to sequential improvement 

in performance in majority of our business segments, AOP 

increased by 49% year-on-year to HK$5,225.9 million in FY2021.

Among our Core Business, powered by the swift recovery in 

overall traffic volume of Roads segment following the resumption 

of toll fee collection in May 2020 and full year contribution of 

FTLife Insurance with robust Hong Kong domestic business 

performance which has outperformed the industry, AOP of Core 

Business grew by 34% year-on-year to HK$4,223.7 million, partly 

offset by lower AOP contribution from Construction segment 

which was mainly due to the reclassification of investment in Wai 

Kee from an associated company to an asset held-for-sale as at 

31 December 2020 and ceased to equity account for its profit 

afterwards.

For Strategic Portfolio, AOP surged by 172% year-on-year 

to HK$1,002.2 million, mainly attributable to i) the steady 

growth in Logistics segment; ii) the improved performance of 

Facilities Management segment spurred by the further ramp up 

of operations of GHK Hospital and the cost-saving initiatives 

implemented by Free Duty; iii) an increase in contribution from 

Strategic Investments segment benefited from improved share of 

results from some associated companies or joint ventures due to 

the recovery of underlying businesses and the net fair value gain 

from certain strategic investments; and iv) the absence of loss 

contribution from Transport segment following the disposal of 

bus and ferry businesses. The strong performance was partially 

offset by the operating pressure faced by HKCEC and the decline 

in AOP contribution from SUEZ NWS and Derun Environment as 

the Group no longer share their profits after their reclassification as 

assets held-for-sale as at 31 December 2020.

In FY2021, further progress has been made in optimizing our 

business portfolio with the disposals of several non-core assets, 

including the completion of the disposal of i) the whole Transport 

segment that encompasses NWS Transport (which owns New 

World First Bus Services Limited and Citybus Limited) in October 

2020, as well as the remaining 40% stake in New World First 

Ferry Services Limited in December 2020; ii) approximately 

11.5% interest in Wai Kee; iii) all of our 25% interests in Zhujiang 

Power Station – Phase II; and iv) all of our interests in Derun 

Environment. Together with the disposal of all of our shares in 

SUEZ NWS which is pending completion and the proposed 

disposal of our entire 20% stake in XCTG announced on  

30 June 2021, total considerations involved in all of our non-core 

disposals amounted to approximately HK$14.2 billion in FY2021. 

Part of the proceeds from non-core disposals will be used as 

growth capital to fund our future investments as well as support 

our sustainable and progressive dividend policy. Upon completion 

of disposal of XCTG, the Group will have completely exited all 

investments in port-related projects.

Non-operating losses recorded in FY2021 was mainly due to the 

remeasurement, impairments and provisions for various projects 

totalled approximately HK$2.6 billion, entailing the remeasurement 

loss of HK$1,373.8 million owing to the reclassification of 

investment in Wai Kee to an asset held-for-sale, the Group’s 

share of provisions of HK$553.3 million from Goshawk which 

was due to assets impairment, provision for expected credit loss 

and aircraft repossession/recovery costs, a remeasurement loss 

of HK$228.1 million in relation to the reclassification of Derun 

Environment to an asset held-for-sale, and other impairments and 

provisions for certain investments of the Group.

With a decrease in other corporate expenses due to the 

implementation of stringent cost control measures and reduction 

in finance costs attributable to lower interest rate and average 

loan balance and including the non-operating losses, profit 

attributable to shareholders, after the deduction of profit 

attributable to holders of perpetual capital securities, surged by 

353% to HK$1,146.5 million in FY2021, with basic earnings per 

share increasing to HK$0.29.

Contribution from operations in Hong Kong accounted for 39% 

of the AOP in FY2021 (FY2020: 49%), while the Mainland and 

other regions contributed 46% and 15% of the AOP, respectively 

(FY2020: 39% and 12%, respectively). Adjusted EBITDA was up 

by 19% to HK$5,637.5 million.
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The Group’s balance sheet continued to be solid with a net 

gearing ratio of 25% as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: 31%; 

31 December 2020: 26%). The Group’s unutilized committed 

banking facilities were approximately HK$19.4 billion, and total 

cash and bank balances were HK$10.8 billion. Our strong 

balance sheet and strengthening cash flow have allowed us to 

maintain our sustainable and progressive dividend policy.

In FY2021, the Group has redeemed a portion of the 10-year 

4.25% senior notes in an effort to optimize capital structure and 

lower interest expense. Meanwhile, the Group has arranged 

three sustainability-linked loan facilities with an aggregate total 

of HK$2.8 billion during the year. The sustainability-linked loan 

facilities incentivize the Group’s achievement of improvement 

targets on the Group’s annual and cumulative sustainability 

performance by way of interest rates reduction.

Contribution by Division

2021 2020

For the year ended 30 June HK$’m HK$’m

Core Business 4,223.7 3,145.7

Strategic Portfolio   

Continuing operations 753.1 107.0

Discontinued operations 249.1 261.6

Attributable Operating Profit 5,225.9 3,514.3

Corporate office and non-operating items

Net loss on fair value of investment properties (13.2) (22.9)

Remeasurement, impairments and provisions (2,551.6) (1,709.4)

Net gain on disposal of projects, net of tax 9.3 101.0

Net (loss)/gain on fair value of derivative financial instruments (59.1) 73.1

Interest income 37.5 107.5

Finance costs (483.4) (737.4)

Expenses and others (435.8) (491.1)

(3,496.3) (2,679.2)

Profit for the year after tax and non-controlling interests 1,729.6 835.1

Profit attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 1,146.5 253.2

Holders of perpetual capital securities 583.1 581.9

1,729.6 835.1

Adjusted EBITDA# 5,637.5 4,729.9

#	 Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as gross profit minus general and administrative expenses, and selling and marketing expenses plus depreciation/
amortization, dividends received from associated companies and joint ventures and interest income from debt instruments as financial assets at 
FVOCI.
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Operational Review –  

Core Business

AOP of Core Business was HK$4,223.7 million during 

FY2021, contributing 81% to the Group’s AOP.

AOP Contribution by Segment

For the year ended 

30 June

2021 2020 Change %

HK$’m HK$’m Fav./(Unfav.)

Roads 1,807.5 907.4 99

Aviation 496.0 421.9 18

Construction 948.5 1,066.0 (11)

Insurance 971.7 750.4 29

Total 4,223.7 3,145.7 34

Changliu Expressway

907.4

1,807.5

421.9
496.0

1,066.0
971.7

750.4

948.5

Roads

HK$’m

Aviation Construction Insurance

2021

2020

Roads
Our Roads segment witnessed noticeable rebound in traffic 

flow and toll revenue upon the toll fee exemption policy in the 

Mainland ended in May 2020 and benefited from the swift 

reopening of the Mainland’s economy and fast-growing logistics 

sector. Overall traffic volume and toll revenue of our road portfolio 

increased 45% and 42% year-on-year, respectively (or grew 13% 

and 9%, respectively, versus FY2019). Along with the benefit 

from Renminbi appreciation, AOP of the Roads segment surged 

by 99% year-on-year to HK$1,807.5 million in FY2021 and has 

already surpassed that in FY2019. The three expressways in 

Central region that were being acquired in the past few years, 

namely Suiyuenan Expressway, Sui-Yue Expressway and 

Changliu Expressway, have started to bear fruits and contributed 

over 10% of the Roads segment’s AOP. Excluding the impact of 

Renminbi appreciation, underlying AOP growth from operation of 

the Roads segment was 88% year-on-year.

The Group’s four anchor expressways, which include Hangzhou 

Ring Road, Tangjin Expressway (Tianjin North Section), 

Guangzhou City Northern Ring Road and Beij ing-Zhuhai 

Expressway (Guangzhou-Zhuhai Section), have altogether 

contributed approximately 80% of the Roads segment’s AOP in 

FY2021. Traffic flow of these roads has also seen rapid recovery 

and registered a 38% year-on-year growth in FY2021 (or 2% 

growth versus FY2019).

The overall average remaining concession period of our 

roads portfolio was around 10 years and such long remaining 

concession period is set to generate sustainable income and 

cash flow for the Group for years to come.
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Aviation
The Group’s Aviation segment principally engages in commercial 
aircraft leasing business through our full service leasing platform 
Goshawk. While the aviation industry has been confronted by 
the challenges posed by the outbreak of COVID-19, Goshawk’s 
strategy of diversifying client portfolio, strategic focus on young 
narrowbody aircraft and efforts in exploring innovative financing 
solutions to expand and diversify funding source, combined with 
our well-established risk management policies, have successfully 
steered Goshawk through these challenges and facilitated an 
improvement in AOP by 18% to HK$496.0 million in FY2021. In 
FY2021, a mark-to-market accounting gain of HK$51.1 million 
(FY2020: loss of HK$146.4 million) from interest rate swap 
contracts was shared by the Group.

Included in the non-operating items of FY2021, a provision of 
HK$553.3 million was shared by the Group for impairments on 
aircraft and provision for expected credit loss, as well as aircraft 
repossession/recovery costs resulted from lease restructuring 
and airline reorganization driven by the impact of COVID-19, in 
which Goshawk’s 8 aircraft across 5 airlines were involved as at 
30 June 2021.

Thanks to the global rollout of vaccination, gradual resumption 
of domestic flights, formation of travel bubbles by governments 
and relaxation of travel restrictions in certain countries, business 
environment has seen noticeable improvement. Number of 
requests for rental deferral continued to decrease and deferred 
rental payment continued to be repaid, resulting in further 
improvement in our collection rate to 92% in the second quarter 
of 2021 from 82% in the fourth quarter of 2020 and 68% in 
the second quarter of 2020. Our owned aircraft utilization rate 
maintained at an almost fully utilized level of 99% in FY2021.

Goshawk’s strategy of focusing on young and in-demand fleet 
with long leases and maintaining a globally broad customer base 
with 60 airlines in 34 countries as of 30 June 2021 is crucial for 
us to diversify and minimize risk exposure during uncertain times 

and benefit from the air travel recovery. As at 30 June 2021, 
taking into account the direct orders of 40 narrow-body aircraft 
from two major aircraft manufacturers, the number of aircraft 
owned, managed and committed totalled 222 (30 June 2020: 
233), and the overall appraised value amounted to approximately 
US$9.9 billion. The 162 aircraft on book as at 30 June 2021  
(30 June 2020: 162) had an average age of 5.4 years and an 
average remaining lease term of 5.6 years. With 78% of our 
aircraft on book being narrowbody, together with the staggering 
lease maturities, our fleet is well positioned for demand pick up 
when short-haul flight rebounds.

Goshawk maintained a firm financial footing in FY2021. As at  
30 June 2021, alongside a well-balanced debt maturities profile, 
Goshawk had ample liquidity, while cash and undrawn liquidity 
stood at record high of US$1.6 billion. Goshawk will maintain a 
prudent stance in terms of capital expenditure to strike a balance 
between growth and risk.

Construction
Construction segment comprises solely our wholly-owned 
interest in Hip Hing Group after the reclassification of investment 
in Wai Kee to an asset held-for-sale as at 31 December 2020. 
The drop of 11% in AOP of Construction segment in FY2021 to  
HK$948.5 million was mainly due to the decrease in AOP 
contribution from Wai Kee after its reclassification and only six 
months of AOP was accounted for. AOP of Hip Hing Group 
alone grew steadily by 6% to HK$801.2 million in FY2021, 
notwithstanding a challenging business environment and rising 
competition. Major projects during FY2021 mainly included 
construction management services and foundation works for 
Kai Tak Sports Park, construction works of public rental housing 
development at Queen’s Hill, residential development at Ap Lei 
Chau, KOKO HILLS at Kwun Tong, commercial development at 
Kai Tak, Two Taikoo Place at Quarry Bay, Inland Revenue Centre 
at Kai Tak and Immigration Headquarters at Tseung Kwan O.

Overview of Kai Tak Sports Park (3D Rendering)
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In FY2021, FTLife Insurance has reviewed its brand strategy and 

adopted “Think Beyond Insurance” as its core value to reflect its 

new strategy to tap into the thriving ecosystem of New World 

Group to bring more innovative products and unique services to 

customers. To further enrich our insurance product diversity, a 

series of new insurance products have been introduced in market 

to meet the rising needs of people from all walks of life in Hong 

Kong. New insurance plans such as “On Your Mind” Insurance 

Plan (launched in September 2020) with first-in-market, innovative 

built-in reverse mortgage function and “Prosperous Deferred 

Annuity Plan 2” (launched in January 2021), our new Qualifying 

Deferred Annuity Policy targeting young customers who are  

20 years old or above to capture demand from new generation 

and encourage them to start retirement planning early have been 

gaining traction in the Hong Kong market. These initiatives, as a 

result, have fuelled the growth of APE of our Hong Kong domestic 

business by 49%, and overall APE by 4% to HK$1,956.3 million, 

despite a lack of contribution from Mainland visitors. Gross 

written premium increased by 9% to HK$10,259.2 million, VONB 

grew by 1% to HK$485.4 million, and VONB margin, representing 

VONB as a percentage of APE, was 25%. Overall investment 

return of FTLife Insurance’s investment portfolio was 4.3% in 

FY2021.

FTLife Insurance’s financial position stayed strong in FY2021. At 

as 30 June 2021, solvency ratio of 524% remained well above 

minimum industry regulatory requirement of 150%. Embedded 

value continued to grow by 21% year-on-year to HK$21.4 billion. 

Total assets value and net assets value (excluding goodwill 

arising from business combination) were HK$79.1 billion and  

HK$18.6 billion, respectively. Moody’s has maintained the 

insurance financial strength rating of FTLife Insurance at A3/Stable  

and Fitch Rating has also continued to affirm FTLife Insurance’s  

A- insurer financial strength rating with stable rating outlook.

Hip Hing Group’s gross value of contracts on hand dropped 

slightly by 6% year-on-year to approximately HK$49.4 billion, 

and the remaining works to be completed declined by 22% to 

HK$28.2 billion, mainly impacted by existing projects completion 

outpacing new tenders offered in the market, in which the delay 

was caused by the outbreak of COVID-19. Approximately 70% 

of the remaining works to be completed were from private 

sector which included both commercial and residential, while the 

remaining about 30% were from government and institutional 

related projects. In FY2021, Hip Hing Group successfully secured 

around HK$7.0 billion of new contracts, which included the 

residential development at Tai Wo Ping, AIA urban campus 

redevelopment, transitional housing project at Tung Tau, Yuen 

Long, the design and construction of temporary quarantine 

facilities at Penny’s Bay and foundation works for public housing 

development at Sheung Shui.

Hip Hing Group endeavours to improve the construction efficiency 

and reduce onsite energy use and construction waste through 

adoption of wider electrification and innovative technologies. In 

FY2021, Hip Hing Group completed the construction of InnoCell 

at the Hong Kong Science Park using MiC which has been widely 

recognized by the industry and received many industry leading 

awards. Meanwhile, the construction of temporary quarantine 

facilities at Penny’s Bay, which was completed within 89 days 

and a total of 901 MiC modules were fabricated to provide 857 

quarantine units plus ancillary facilities, has demonstrated not only 

our technical expertise, but also our commitment to contribute to 

our society and community.

Insurance
FY2021 marked the f irst ful l year contribution of FTLife 

Insurance to the Group since the completion of acquisition on 

1 November 2019. While FTLife Insurance has gone through 

various challenges since the completion of acquisition, our 

flexible business strategy as well as swift product innovation 

and adjustments to meet our policyholders’ needs have 

prompted FTLife Insurance to deliver a set of solid results to our 

shareholders. In FY2021, FTLife Insurance contributed an AOP 

of HK$971.7 million to the Group, representing an increase of 

29% versus FY2020 (8 months contribution).

Albeit border closure and containment measures imposed to curb 

the transmission of COVID-19 have seriously affected business 

from Mainland visitors, our swift response to market change and 

launch of innovative products have allowed us to outshine the 

competition that was testified by our outstanding performance in 

APE in FY2021. In the first half of 2021, our overall APE growth 

was 27%, versus flat in the industry, and the APE of our Hong 

Kong domestic business jumped 49%, outperforming the 16% 

growth in the industry. As at 30 June 2021, FTLife Insurance 

ranked 12th amongst Hong Kong life insurance companies by 

APE, improved from 13th as at 30 September 2020.

FTLife Insurance Company Limited
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Business Outlook –  
Core Business
Roads
Following a rapid recovery in FY2021, notwithstanding the 

uncertainties created by COVID-19 and the ongoing trade 

tensions between Mainland China and the United States, the 

Mainland’s economy remains on the recovery path and stands 

out in the global major economies. The increase in car ownership 

as well as booming logistics sector in the post-COVID-19 era 

have enhanced our confidence that our Roads segment will 

continue to maintain a healthy growth trajectory over the long 

term. In order to capture the growth opportunities in this sector, 

the Group will continue to pursue new investment opportunities 

in the Mainland to enrich our roads portfolio, particularly in the 

areas with decent long term growth outlook, such as Greater Bay 

Area and Central region. At the same time, the Group will also 

continue to explore and leverage technology to improve safety, 

efficiency and traffic of our roads, as well as to explore other 

source of income such as our premium service area at Hangzhou 

Ring Road which will commence operation by the end of 2021.

Negotiation with the Mainland Government regarding the 

compensation measures for toll fee exemption period such as 

extension of concession period is still ongoing. While some 

provinces have already announced compensation policies 

that allow application for extension in concession period when 

approaching concession expiry, other provinces are still waiting 

for official announcement. The Group will continue to discuss with 

the Mainland Government to strive for the best compensation to 

safeguard stakeholders’ interest.

Aviation
The aviation industry is experiencing recovery in air travel in 

several markets such as Mainland China, the United States, 

Russia and Brazil upon the rollout of global vaccination 

programme and the gradual easing of travel restrictions in some 

countries. While the emergence of Delta variant may delay 

the resumption of international travel, the recovery trajectory 

and improvement in business sentiment remain intact and 

have increased optimism about passenger demand. The long 

term demand outlook stays constructive and is expected to 

see a strong rebound once the international travel returns to 

normal, and Goshawk’s most liquid narrowbody aircraft such as  

B737-800, A320ceo family and A320neo family are set to 

spearhead our post-COVID-19 recovery. Since COVID-19 

outbreak, more than 40 new start-up airlines in countries such as 

the United States and Norway were set up and over 30 airlines 

are actively planning to launch within 12 to 24 months. These 

new start-up airlines have also demonstrated the long term 

confidence amongst industry players.

While there is an overhang of short term uncertainties with 

current international traffic remaining stalled as travel restrictions 

have yet to be fully eased and certain airlines continuing to be 

susceptible to some forms of restructuring, Goshawk’s prudent 

and disciplined business strategy with focus on young fleet and 

well-diversified customer portfolio, alongside a strong balance 

sheet and stringent risk management policy, will definitely guide us 

over these uncertainties. Meanwhile, Goshawk is also exploring 

new income streams such as asset management in an effort to 

enhance return of the business.

Hangzhou West Lake Service Area (3D Rendering)
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Construction
Though tenders coming to the market in Hong Kong may still be 

hindered by COVID-19 in the short term, that does not change 

our positive medium to long term view on Hip Hing Group. With 

government’s resolution in alleviating housing shortage in Hong 

Kong through increasing supply in land and public housing, 

construction demand from both government and private sectors 

remains optimistic over the longer term and is set to benefit Hip 

Hing Group. Hip Hing Group’s proven track record in both private 

and public sectors and sound technical expertise will definitely 

allow us to stand out from the competition and place us in a better 

position to secure new projects. Our strategy of maintaining a 

balanced portfolio among private, government and institutional 

sectors will also ensure the Group to enjoy a steady growth.

While the whole industry is facing margin pressure from rising 

competition and raw material costs, Hip Hing Group’s continuous 

efforts in optimizing building procedure, along with the adoption 

of various construction technologies such as MiC and BIM, will 

facilitate us to further improve construction efficiency, reduce 

onsite construction energy and waste consumption and mitigate 

cost pressure.

Insurance
Despite the current challenges brought by COVID-19, the 

secular outlook remains firm for life insurance industry in Hong 

Kong, driven by the structural growth benefiting from the rising 

healthcare awareness and solid demand for insurance protection, 

alongside the keen demand from Mainland visitors. Meanwhile, the 

reopening of borders when COVID-19 subsides is poised to be a 

boost to both the insurance industry and FTLife Insurance in view 

of the strong pent-up demand during the COVID-19 outbreak.

Against this backdrop, with additional high-calibre management 

joining FTLife Insurance, FTLife Insurance is ready to further 

effectuate its strategy through actively recruiting quality agents, 

expanding distribution channel and creating more innovative 

products to meet the rising demand and at the same time well 

prepared to grasp the opportunities from Mainland visitors 

once the borders reopen. Being part of the New World Group’s 

ecosystem, FTLife Insurance is privileged to be able to tap the 

growth opportunities generated from the synergies within the 

New World Group. FTLife Insurance’s latest collaboration with 

GHK Hospital to launch an “Insurance + Medical Care” model 

that is designed to explore and create synergies by developing 

in-depth and long-term cooperation to upgrade customer 

journey, product development as well as health management 

and wellness programmes is set to create a unique medical 

insurance experience for our customers. Through this new 

collaboration, customers can enjoy three major privileges 

including ward upgrade, cashless arrangement service and 

e-Connect Health Platform on the “Reach FTLife” mobile app that 

enables customers to browse information on network medical 

clinics and hospitals and doctors for outpatient colonoscopy 

and gastroscopy procedures and get an instant out-of-pocket 

estimation anytime and anywhere. Going forward, the Group will 

continue to look for opportunities to deploy capital and further 

expand in the Mainland, especially in the Greater Bay Area.
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Operational Review –  
Strategic Portfolio
The Strategic Portfolio reported an increase in AOP of 172% 

to HK$1,002.2 million in FY2021.

AOP Contribution by Segment

For the year ended 

30 June

2021 2020 Change %

HK$’m HK$’m  Fav./(Unfav.)

Logistics 663.0 627.8 6

Facilities Management (649.3) (771.8) 16

Strategic Investments 739.4 251.0 195

Discontinued operations

Environment 244.3 380.4 (36)

Transport 4.8 (118.8) 104

Total 1,002.2 368.6 172

Strategic
InvestmentsLogistics

HK$’m

Facilities
Management Environment

2021

2020

663.0 627.8

(771.8)
(649.3)

739.4

251.0 244.3

(118.8)

380.4

4.8

Transport

Logistics
Logistics segment reported resilient performance in FY2021 with 

AOP increasing 6% to HK$663.0 million.

ATL continued to maintain steady performance in FY2021 

and accounted for approximately 70% of the segment’s AOP. 

While the outbreak of COVID-19 has posed a pressure on the 

warehouse leasing market in Hong Kong, ATL’s outstanding 

facilities and quality services remain to be the leader in the market. 

Average occupancy rate maintained at a high level of 99.7% 

(FY2020: 99.7%), and average rent edged up 1% in FY2021.

CUIRC has benefited from the further development of rail 

intermodal transportation and international block train service 

as well as the brisk expansion of logistics services. Throughput 

increased remarkably by 25% to 4,869,000 TEUs, while AOP 

jumped 63% in FY2021. The new Guangzhou terminal is under 

construction and will commence operation in FY2022, while the 

expansion of Wuhan terminal is in progress.

Propelled by the recovery from COVID-19, XCTG’s throughput 

in FY2021 grew by 9% to 9,245,000 TEUs while AOP rose 16% 

year-on-year (or dropped 3% versus FY2019) and contributed 

approximately 15% of the Logistics segment’s AOP. On  

30 June 2021, the Group entered into a framework agreement 

with Xiamen International Port Co., Ltd. for the proposed disposal 

of its entire 20% equity interest in XCTG at a consideration of 

RMB1,568 million. On 20 August 2021, the Group has further 

announced the signing of the sale and purchase agreement and 

the completion of the transaction is subject to the fulfilment of 

the condition precedents in the sale and purchase agreement. 

Upon completion of the disposal of XCTG, the Group will have 

completely exited all investments in port-related projects. As at 

30 June 2021, the Group has reclassified the investment in XCTG 

as an asset held-for-sale and ceased to equity account for the 

financial results of XCTG.

ATL Logistics Centre
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Facilities Management
Business performance of Facilities Management saw mixed 

results and continued to be weighed down by the outbreak of 

COVID-19 in FY2021. Yet, with the further ramp up of operations 

of GHK Hospital and our efforts in stringent cost control in Free 

Duty, AOL narrowed by 16% to HK$649.3 million.

Attr ibutable to our superb healthcare service standard, 

advanced equipment and constant marketing initiatives that have 

enhanced the brand awareness in the market, GHK Hospital’s 

business further advanced in FY2021. AOL further narrowed 

while EBITDA breakeven has been achieved since May 2021. 

Revenue saw remarkable growth in FY2021 with number of 

outpatient increasing by 45% and number of inpatient growing 

by 29%. As at 30 June 2021, number of regularly utilized beds 

increased to 210 (30 June 2020: 194) with average occupancy 

rate of 60%. To further extend and expand our clinical service, 

new service centres such as Spine Centre and Musculoskeletal 

Tumour Centre providing the latest and advanced treatment 

protocols have been set up and our Central clinic has continued 

to ramp up quickly after relocating to New World Tower in  

October 2020. Moreover, with an aim of accelerating growth 

of GHK Hospital, collaborations with New World Group and 

various major insurance companies have been made and 

other new services and promotion campaigns such as DrGo, 

a teleconsultation platform, and GHK Hospital’s patient mobile 

application, My Gleneagles SmartHealth, have been launched in 

FY2021.

The exhibition and convention industry in Hong Kong has been 

severely hammered by COVID-19 in FY2021. Yet, with the 

lifting of some social distancing measures, there was sequential 

improvement in HKCEC’s performance in the second half of 

FY2021 compared with the first half of FY2021. While number 

of events held at HKCEC declined by 45% year-on-year to 235 

in FY2021, it has improved to 130 in the second half versus 105 

in the first half of FY2021. Total patronage surged to around 

672,000 in the second half from about 365,000 in the first half 

of FY2021, despite a full year plunge of 77% year-on-year to 

approximately 1.0 million in FY2021. In FY2021, HKCEC’s 

AOL accounted for close to half of the AOL of the Facilities 

Management segment.

Free Duty’s business remained in worst shape in FY2021 under 

the impact of COVID-19. Our three outlets at Lo Wu, Hung Hom 

and Lok Ma Chau MTR stations remain closed as a result of 

border closure. Besides a slew of cost-cutting measures in place 

in a move to minimize losses, our outlet at Hong Kong-Zhuhai-

Macao Bridge, together with new business initiatives like pop-

up stores at D•Park, THE FOREST and Kowloon City Plaza, 

alongside an e-commerce website, FDMall, which have been 

launched to cope with border closure as well as to explore new 

distribution channel, have all contributed positively to Free Duty.

Gleneagles Hospital 

Hong Kong

Free Duty shop at Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge

(Hong Kong Port)

Hong Kong Convention 

and Exhibition Centre
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Strategic Investments
This segment includes investments with strategic value to 

the Group and with growth potential which will enhance and 

create value for our shareholders. AOP in FY2021, which mainly 

comprised the share of results, net fair value change, interest and 

dividends from certain investments, grew markedly by 195% to 

HK$739.4 million. The respectable increase in AOP was mainly 

attributable to improved share of results from some associated 

companies or joint ventures due to recovery of underlying 

businesses and the net fair value gain from certain strategic 

investments.

Discontinued Operations
Environment
In the wake of the disposal of all of our interests in SUEZ NWS 

and Derun Environment announced in January 2021, the Group 

has presented the result of both businesses as a discontinued 

operation, and six months of AOP contribution total led  

HK$244.3 million was recorded in FY2021. A remeasurement 

loss (net of tax and transaction costs) of approximately  

HK$228.1 million in relation to the reclassification of Derun 

Environment to an asset held-for-sale was recognized and was 

included in the non-operating items. The disposal of Derun 

Environment was completed in May 2021, while the disposal of 

SUEZ NWS remains to be completed, subject to the fulfilment of 

the condition precedents in the sale and purchase agreement, 

and the Group expects the disposal to be completed in FY2022. 

The Group is entitled to a dividend covering the period from  

1 January 2021 till the date of completion and it is anticipated 

that a gain will be derived from the disposal of SUEZ NWS upon 

its completion. ForVEI II S.r.l., our solar energy platform in Europe, 

together with the remaining environmental projects, have been 

reclassified to Strategic Investments segment.

Transport
In FY2021, the Group has completely exited the transport 

business after disposing of NWS Transport which owns 

New World First Bus Services Limited and Citybus Limited in  

October 2020, as well as the remaining 40% stake in New World 

First Ferry Services Limited in December 2020 at a consideration 

of HK$142.8 million. AOP of HK$4.8 million was contributed by 

Transport segment in FY2021.

Business Outlook – 
Strategic Portfolio
Logistics
Outlook of Logistics segment remains sanguine driven by the 
rapid development of the new economy and the post-COVID-19 
economic recovery.

Business environment for ATL continues to be favourable driven 
by the solid demand for high quality warehouse in Hong Kong. 
Situated in the prime location in Hong Kong, combined with its 
unmatched scale and excellent service, ATL is poised to continue 
to be the top player in the market in coming years.

Benefiting from the Central Government’s support on sea-rail 
intermodal and international rail container transportation, CUIRC 
will continue to ride on these favourable government policies 
and explore new opportunities including the development of 
new Guangzhou terminal which is scheduled to be operational in 
FY2022, the expansion of Wuhan terminal which is in progress 
and Zhengzhou terminal which is in the pipeline, as well as further 
expansion of its terminal network.

Against the backdrop of rising demand for logistics service 
post-COVID-19 driven by the expansion of cross-border trade, 
increasing demand for e-commerce and leveraged use of 
multimodal transportation, as well as supportive government 
policies, the Group is actively expanding investment in modern 
logistics, targeting businesses such as cold chain and logistics 
services, aiming at riding on the synergies with ATL and CUIRC 
and establishing a logistics ecosystem in the Group with a holistic 
platform backed by core assets and network.

Facilities Management
Apart from GHK Hospital’s ongoing improvement in the quality 
of healthcare services provided, with the deepening collaboration 
with various major insurance companies in Hong Kong, coupled 
with further integration into New World Group’s ecosystem and 
enhancement of partnership with different business units within the 
New World Group to explore new business opportunities, GHK 
Hospital is stand to deliver better performance in the coming future. 
While EBITDA breakeven has been achieved in GHK Hospital and 
its Central clinic since May and July 2021, respectively, we expect 
GHK Hospital to continue to deliver its performance.

While HKCEC has seen some improvements in business in the 
wake of the relaxation of some social distancing measures in Hong 
Kong, resumption of regional expos and events depends on the 
timing of border reopening and full recovery hinges on the restart of 
international travel. The Group will continue to work closely together 
with organizers of exhibitions and conventions and leverage upon 
government subsidies to accelerate the recovery in the exhibition 
and convention industry, whilst cautiously implementing cost 
saving initiatives to revive business performance.

The timing of reopening of borders between the Mainland and 
Hong Kong will be critical to determine when Free Duty’s outlets 
can resume normal operation, and we are well prepared for that. 
Cost reduction measures will continue to be in place to minimize 
losses until full recovery.
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Looking Forward
While COVID-19 is still ravaging the world, the massive rollout of 

the vaccination programme in different countries along with the 

stimulus packages launched by governments to resuscitate the 

battered economy have given a shot in the arm for the recovery. 

The Mainland’s GDP growth of 12.7% in the first half of 2021, 

one of the fastest in the world, is also on track to achieve its 

target expansion of over 6% in 2021. With normalizing economic 

activities and a positive economic outlook, we are seeing light at 

the end of the tunnel.

Against the backdrop of the gradually improving business 

sentiment while uncertainties brought by COVID-19, geographical 

tensions and looming inflation still exist, the Group will remain 

cautious in terms of our capital deployment, with an aim of 

balancing risks posed by these uncertainties and the growth 

opportunities offered by the optimization of our business portfolio 

that entails non-core disposals and further investment in areas 

such as roads, modern logistics and insurance.

On the back of the various changes to our business portfolio 

and the non-core disposals that took place in the last few years, 

we may from time to time seek opportunities to further capital 

enhancement and optimize our capital structure.

As part of our continuous effort to further integrate ESG aspects 

into our corporate strategy, we are continually adopting ESG 

risks as part of our Enterprise Risk Management, including 

climate risks of which we have conducted our first climate-related 

transition risk assessment in FY2021. The sustainability-linked 

loans we entered into have also reinforced our commitment to 

improve sustainability performance in our business, emphasizing 

the importance in tackling climate change by reducing our carbon 

emissions and improving wellness of our stakeholders.

Following a solid result amid COVID-19 outbreak, with our lucid 

corporate strategy, revitalized portfolio, improved earnings quality, 

solid financial footing and risk management policies, we are 

ready to grasp growth opportunities in the post-COVID-19 era 

with our new and improved platform and grow together with our 

stakeholders.
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Financial Resources
Treasury management and cash funding
The Group’s funding and treasury policy is designed to maintain a 

diversified and balanced debt profile and financing structure. The 

Group operates a centralized treasury function to monitor its cash 

position, cash flow and debt profile as well as optimize its funding 

cost-efficiency. In order to maintain maximum financial flexibility 

with adequate liquidity for the Group’s operations, potential 

investments and growth plans, the Group has built a strong base 

of funding resources and will continue to optimize our capital 

structure and expand our sources of funding which include 

perpetual capital securities, debt issuance in the capital markets 

and bank borrowings, for which the proportion will change 

depending on financial market conditions. The capital structure 

of the Group was 30% debt and 70% equity as at 30 June 2021, 

compared with 35% debt and 65% equity as at 30 June 2020.

As a means to optimize capital structure and lower interest 

expense, the Group has redeemed and cancelled US$14.1 

million in the aggregate principal amount of 10-year 4.25% 

senior notes during the year. After the redemption, US$635.9 

million in aggregate principal amount of the senior notes remains 

outstanding.

For reinforcing our commitment to improve sustainability 

performance in our businesses, the Group has entered into 

three sustainability-linked loan facilities with an aggregate total 

of HK$2.8 billion during the year. The sustainability-linked loan 

facilities incentivize the Group’s achievement of improvement 

targets on the Group’s annual and cumulative sustainability 

performance by the way of interest rates reduction.

The Group manages its financial risks including interest rate 

exposure and foreign exchange risks. Interest rate swaps 

contracts are used to hedge against part of the Group’s 

exposures to changes in interest rates, while foreign exchange 

forward contracts are used to hedge against foreign currency 

exposures of the Group’s businesses which involve foreign 

currencies. Cross currency swaps contracts are entered to 

manage the Group’s overall cost of funding and the exposure 

from foreign currency translation. The Group’s Insurance segment 

enters into cross currency swaps and forward starting swaps 

contracts to hedge against its foreign currency risk from bond 

investments and its interest rate risk for bonds to be purchased 

respectively. The Group did not have any material exposure to 

exchange risk other than Renminbi and United States Dollar 

during FY2021. Certain subsidiaries, associated companies and 

joint ventures have local currency project loans in place, and 

these are naturally hedged against the investments in the same 

local currency of the entities concerned.

Liquidity and capital resources
As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s total cash and bank balances 

amounted to HK$10,804.6 million, compared with HK$13,221.8 

million as at 30 June 2020. Cash and bank balances were 

mainly denominated as to 51% in United States Dollar, 26% 

in Hong Kong Dollar and 22% in Renminbi. The Group’s Net 

Debt as at 30 June 2021 was HK$14,543.4 million, compared 

with HK$17,733.9 million as at 30 June 2020. The decrease 

in Net Debt was mainly due to the proceeds from the disposal 

of interests in NWS Transport, Derun Environment, and certain 

non-core businesses/investments, repayment of shareholder’s 

loan by and dividends received from associated companies and 

joint ventures, net of payments of dividends and investments 

made. The Group’s Net Gearing Ratio reduced from 31% as at  

30 June 2020 to 25% as at 30 June 2021. The Group had 

unutilized committed banking facilities of approximately HK$19.4 

billion as at 30 June 2021.

Debt profile and maturity
As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s total debt decreased 

to HK$25,348.0 mil l ion from HK$30,955.7 mil l ion as at  

30 June 2020. The Group has managed to evenly distribute its 

debt maturity profile to reduce refinancing risks. Amongst the 

non-current portion of the long-term loans and borrowings of 

HK$23,229.4 million as at 30 June 2021, 27% will mature in the 

second year, 40% will mature in the third to fifth year and 33% will 

mature after the fifth year. Bank loans were mainly denominated 

in Hong Kong Dollar and Renminbi and bearing interest at floating 

rates while fixed rate bonds were denominated in United States 

Dollar. As at 30 June 2021, the Group has provided a pledge 

over its 30% equity interest in an associated company which 

owns and operates Suiyuenan Expressway as security for a bank 

loan made to that associated company.
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Commitments
The Group’s total commitments for capital expenditures 

was HK$2,209.6 million as at 30 June 2021, compared with 

HK$1,159.8 million as at 30 June 2020. These comprised 

commitments for capital contributions to certain associated 

companies, joint ventures and other financial investments of 

HK$1,231.4 million as well as additions of intangible assets and 

property, plant and equipment of HK$978.2 million. Sources 

of funds for capital expenditures include internal resources of 

the Group and committed external financing from reputable 

international banks.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts of the Group were HK$3,881.8 

million as at 30 June 2021, compared with HK$3,807.9 million 

as at 30 June 2020. These comprised guarantees for banking 

facilities of associated companies and joint ventures.

In addition, the Company and NWD, through their respective 

wholly-owned subsidiaries, provided a joint and several 

guarantee in favour of the Hong Kong Government for the 

punctual, true and faithful performance and observance by 

KTSPL under the contract entered into between the Hong 

Kong Government and KTSPL for the design, construction and 

operation of Kai Tak Sports Park. Taking into consideration the 

deed of counter-indemnity which has been entered into, the 

Group’s guarantee towards KTSPL is up to the extent of 25% of 

the contract sum or an amount of approximately HK$7.5 billion 

as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: HK$7.5 billion). KTSPL is 

an associated company of the Group in which the Group has a 

25% interest.
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Report of the Directors

The directors of NWS Holdings Limited submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for 
FY2021.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of Operations
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries include:

(i)	 the development of, investment in and/or operation of roads, commercial aircraft leasing, construction and 
insurance; and

(ii)	 the investment in and/or operation of environmental, logistics and facilities management projects.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in note 6 to the 
financial statements.

Business Review
A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year 
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position, as well as the outlook for the Group’s business, are 
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” (page 3) and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” (pages 96 to 108) 
sections. Particulars of significant events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of FY2021, if applicable, 
can also be found in the aforesaid sections and the notes to the financial statements (pages 140 to 271). Description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group can be found throughout this annual report, particularly in the “Risk 
Management Report” (pages 38 to 51). An analysis using financial key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial 
Highlights” section (pages 4 and 5). Description of the Group’s relationships with its key stakeholders is included in the 
“Corporate Governance Report” (pages 16 to 37) and the “Sustainability Report” (pages 52 to 95) sections. Furthermore, 
the Group’s environmental policies and performance are set out in the “Sustainability Report” section (pages 52 to 95) 
and details regarding the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the 
Group are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” section (pages 16 to 37).

The above discussion forms part of this report of the directors.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2021 are 
set out in the financial statements on pages 132 to 271.

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend FY2021 (the “Final Dividend”) of HK$0.30 per share (2020: 
HK$0.29 per share) in cash to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on  
26 November 2021. Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.29 per share (2020: HK$0.29 per share) paid in April 
2021, total distribution of dividend by the Company for FY2021 will be HK$0.59 per share (2020: HK$0.58 per share).

Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the 2021 AGM, it is expected that the Final Dividend will be paid on or 
about 20 December 2021.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 55 to the financial statements.

Associated Companies and Joint Ventures
Particulars of the Group’s principal associated companies and joint ventures are set out in notes 56 and 57 to the 
financial statements respectively.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in notes 37 and 54 to 
the financial statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves
At 30 June 2021, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to HK$24,556.2 million (2020: 
HK$23,778.6 million).
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Donations
During the year, the charitable donations made by the Group amounted to HK$1.2 million (2020: HK$6.0 million).

Investment Properties
Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial 
statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the 
financial statements.

Share Capital
There was no movement in either the authorized or issued share capital of the Company during the year. Details of the 
share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

Debentures Issued
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

Borrowings and Other Interest-bearing Liabilities
Particulars of the borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities of the Group are set out in note 39 to the financial 
statements.

Equity-Linked Agreements
Save for the share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”) disclosed in the section headed “Share 
Option Scheme” below and note 36 to the financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the 
Group or existed during the year.

Pre-emptive Rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities
During the year, a tender offer was made by Celestial Dynasty Limited (“CDL”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company) to purchase for cash the US$650,000,000 4.25 per cent. guaranteed senior notes due 2029 (the 
“CDL Notes”), which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, issued by CDL and unconditionally and irrevocably 
guaranteed by the Company. An aggregate principal amount of US$14,050,000 of the CDL Notes were purchased and 
redeemed, representing 2.16 per cent. of the then outstanding principal amount of the CDL Notes, on 23 April 2021. 
US$635,950,000 in aggregate principal amount of the CDL Notes remain outstanding as at the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The amount of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate and the Group’s largest customer 
accounted for 38% and 11% respectively of the Group’s total revenue for FY2021. None of the directors, their close 
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued 
shares) had an interest in these major customers.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the 
Group’s total purchases for FY2021.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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Permitted Indemnity Provisions
The bye-laws of the Company provides that directors, secretary or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified out 
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or 
about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

In addition, a directors and officers liability insurance policy insuring claims made against, among others, the directors 
and the senior management of the Group members and the persons representing the Group in associates as directors or 
senior management was in effect throughout FY2021 and remained in effect up to the date of this report.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive directors
Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry (Chairman)
Mr Ma Siu Cheung (Chief Executive Officer)
Dr Cheng Chi Kong, Adrian
Mr Cheung Chin Cheung
Mr Cheng Chi Ming, Brian
Mr Ho Gilbert Chi Hang
Mr Chow Tak Wing
Mr Cheng Chi Leong, Christopher (appointed on 1 December 2020)

Non-executive directors
Mr To Hin Tsun, Gerald
Mr Dominic Lai
Mr Tsang Yam Pui (resigned on 1 January 2021)
Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo
Mr Lam Wai Hon, Patrick (alternate director to Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo)
  (retired as a non-executive director and was appointed as an alternate director, both on 25 November 2020)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr Kwong Che Keung, Gordon
Dr Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher
The Honourable Shek Lai Him, Abraham
Mr Lee Yiu Kwong, Alan
Mrs Oei Fung Wai Chi, Grace
Mr Wong Kwai Huen, Albert

In accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr Cheng Chi Leong, Christopher, who was appointed as 
a director of the Company by the Board with effect from 1 December 2020, holds office until the conclusion of the 2021 
AGM and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

Moreover, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s bye-laws, Mr Cheung Chin Cheung, Mr To Hin Tsun, Gerald, 
Mr Dominic Lai, Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo and Mr Lee Yiu Kwong, Alan will retire by rotation at the 2021 AGM, 
and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts
No director has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 
compensation other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” below and note 15(b) to the financial statements, 
and the contracts amongst group companies, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation 
to the Group’s businesses to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries 
was a party, and in which any director of the Company or the director’s connected entity had a material interest, whether 
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
During the year and up to the date of this report, the following directors of the Company are considered to have interests 
in the business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group (other 
than those businesses where the directors of the Company were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the 
Company and/or the Group), pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules as set out below:

Name

Entity whose business is 
considered to compete or 
likely to compete with the 
businesses of the Group

Description of business
of the entity which is
considered to compete or
likely to compete 
with the businesses of
the Group

Nature of 
interest of 
the director 
in the entity

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry CTF Enterprises group of 
companies

Investment in healthcare and 
commercial aircraft leasing 
businesses

Director

FSE Holdings Limited group of 
companies

Carpark management Shareholder*

FSE Lifestyle Services Limited 
group of companies

Carpark management Director

NWD group of companies Investment in healthcare, 
development and operation 
of sports park complex, and 
management and construction 
of building and civil engineering 
works

Director

Mr Ma Siu Cheung Hip Seng Construction Company 
Limited group of companies

Management and construction 
of building and civil engineering 
works

Director*

Dr Cheng Chi Kong, Adrian CTF Enterprises group of 
companies

Investment in healthcare and 
commercial aircraft leasing 
businesses

Director

NWD group of companies Investment in healthcare, 
development and operation 
of sports park complex, and 
management and construction 
of building and civil engineering 
works

Director

New Century Healthcare 
Holding Co. Limited group of 
companies

Investment in healthcare Director

Mr Cheng Chi Ming, Brian Integrated Waste Solutions 
Group Holdings Limited

Investment in waste 
management business

Director

Mr To Hin Tsun, Gerald Mongolia Energy Corporation 
Limited

Investment in coal mining Director

Mr William Junior Guilherme 
Doo

FSE Holdings Limited group of 
companies

Carpark management Director

The Dynasty Club Limited Food and beverage operations Director

Mr Lam Wai Hon, Patrick FSE Holdings Limited group of 
companies

Carpark management Director

*  ceased to be so interested in the entity during and/or after FY2021.
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As the Board is independent of the boards of the abovementioned entities and none of the above directors of the 
Company can control the Board, the Group is therefore capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at 
arm’s length from the businesses of these entities.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Save for the interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities” below, at no time during the year 
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to 
enable the directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Securities
As at 30 June 2021, the directors of the Company had the following interests in the shares, underlying shares and 
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such 
provisions of the SFO) or were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or were 
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

(a)	 Long position in shares

Number of shares

Approximate

 percentage of

shareholding

as at

30.06.2021Name

Personal

 interests

Family

 interests

Corporate

 interests Total

The Company

(Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each)

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry 18,349,571 – 12,000,000(1) 30,349,571 0.776%

Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo – – 128,869(2) 128,869 0.003%

Mr Kwong Che Keung, Gordon 1,207,077 – – 1,207,077 0.031%

Dr Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher 2,875,786 – – 2,875,786 0.074%

Mr Lam Wai Hon, Patrick 1,446,207 – 7,608(3) 1,453,815 0.037%

NWD

(Ordinary shares)

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry 2,668,909 – – 2,668,909 0.105%

Dr Cheng Chi Kong, Adrian 2,559,118 – – 2,559,118 0.101%

Mr Cheung Chin Cheung 31,100 – – 31,100 0.001%

Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo – 10,000(4) – 10,000 0.000%

Mr Kwong Che Keung, Gordon 10,000 – – 10,000 0.000%

Notes:

(1)	 The shares were held by a company wholly owned by Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry.

(2)	 The shares were held by a company wholly owned by Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo.

(3)	 The shares were held by a company wholly owned by Mr Lam Wai Hon, Patrick.

(4)	 The shares were held by the spouse of Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo.
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(b)	 Long position in underlying shares – share options

Under the share option scheme of NWD, the holding company of the Company, the following directors of the 
Company had personal interest in options to subscribe for shares of NWD. Details of the share options of NWD 
granted to them are as follows:

Number of share options

Name Date of grant
Exercisable

 period

Balance
 as at

 01.07.2020

Granted
 during

 the year

Exercised
 during

 the year

Balance
 as at

 30.06.2021

Exercise
 price

 per share
(Note) HK$

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry 3 July 2017 (1) 500,000 – – 500,000 40.144

Dr Cheng Chi Kong, Adrian 3 July 2017 (1) 500,000 – (500,000) – 40.144

Notes:

(1)	 Divided into 4 tranches exercisable from 3 July 2017, 3 July 2018, 3 July 2019 and 3 July 2020 respectively to 2 July 2021.

(2)	 The cash consideration paid by the directors for each grant of share options was HK$10.

(c)	 Long position in debentures

Amount of debentures

Approximate
 percentage to

 the total
 amount of

 debentures
 in issue as at

 30.06.2021Name
Personal
 interests

Family
interests

Corporate
 interests

Other
 interests Total

NWCL
Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo – – HK$7,800,000(1) – HK$7,800,000 0.095%

NWD Finance (BVI) Limited
Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo – US$660,000(2) US$6,000,000(3) – US$6,660,000 0.137%

NWD (MTN) Limited (“NWD (MTN)”)
Dr Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher – – – US$3,000,000(4) US$3,000,000 0.063%

Notes:

(1)	 The debentures, which were issued in US$, were held by a company wholly owned by Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo and 
had been translated into HK$ using the rate of US$1=HK$7.8.

(2)	 The debentures were held by a company wholly owned by the spouse of Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo.

(3)	 The debentures were held by a company wholly owned by Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo.

(4)	 The debentures were owned by a controlled corporation of a trust and Dr Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher is a beneficiary under 
the trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2021, none of the directors or chief executive of the Company had or was 
deemed to have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any 
of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO which were notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or were recorded in the register kept by the Company 
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or were notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to 
the Model Code.
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Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme was adopted at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 November 2011. 
Summary of the Share Option Scheme disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules is as follows:

Purpose of the Share Option 
Scheme

To reward directors and employees of the Group for their past service or 
performance; providing incentive, motivation or reward to eligible participants for 
optimizing their performance or making contribution to the Group; attracting and 
retaining persons of right caliber with the necessary experience to work for or make 
contribution to the Group; and fostering a sense of corporate identity.

Participants of the Share Option 
Scheme

Eligible participant may be a person or an entity belonging to any of the following 
classes:

(i)	 any employee (whether full time or part time employee, including any 
executive director but excluding any non-executive director) of the Company, 
any subsidiary or any invested entity (“Invested Entity”) of the Group (“Eligible 
Employee”);

(ii)	 any non-executive director (including independent non-executive director) of 
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii)	 any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any 
Invested Entity;

(iv)	 any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(v)	 any person or entity that provides research, development or other 
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi)	 any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any 
holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested 
Entity;

(vii)	 any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business 
or business development of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; 
and

(viii)	 any joint venture partner or business alliance that co-operates with any 
member of the Group or any Invested Entity in any area of business operation 
or development.

Total number of shares available 
for issue under the Share 
Option Scheme and percentage 
of the issued shares as at the 
date of this report

The Company had granted share options to certain eligible participants to subscribe 
for a total of 55,623,705 shares of the Company under the Share Option Scheme, 
which include certain adjustments made pursuant to the rules of the Share Option 
Scheme, up to the date of this report.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 
310,957,666 shares, representing approximately 7.95% of the Company’s total 
number of issued shares as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each 
participant under the Share 
Option Scheme

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of shares 
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to each eligible 
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month 
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the 
shares must be taken up under 
an option

At any time during a period as specified by the directors, however in any event the 
share options must be exercised within 10 years from the date of grant.

The minimum period for which an 
option must be held before it 
can be exercised

Any period as determined by the directors.

The amount payable on 
application or acceptance of 
the option and the period within 
which payments or calls must 
or may be made or loans for 
such purposes must be paid

HK$10 is to be paid as consideration for the grant of option within 14 days from the 
date of offer.

The basis of determining the 
exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the directors which must be at least the highest 
of: (i) the closing price of the share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the share 
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five 
dealing days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of 
the share.

The remaining life of the Share 
Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 
the date of adoption, i.e. 21 November 2011.
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During the year ended 30 June 2021, no share option of the Company has been granted under the Share Option 
Scheme.

Since the Share Option Scheme will expire on 21 November 2021, a new share option scheme will be proposed to be 
adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the 2021 AGM.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interest in Securities
As at 30 June 2021, so far as are known to the directors of the Company, the following parties (other than a director 
or chief executive of the Company) would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or were recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO as being 
directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Number of shares

Approximate
 percentage to

 the issued
 share capital

 of the Company
 as at

 30.06.2021Name
Beneficial
 interests

Corporate
 interests Total

Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited – 2,477,530,362(1) 2,477,530,362 63.35%

Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited – 2,477,530,362(2) 2,477,530,362 63.35%

CTFC – 2,477,530,362(3) 2,477,530,362 63.35%

CTFH – 2,477,530,362(4) 2,477,530,362 63.35%

CTF Enterprises 97,034,424 2,380,495,938(5) 2,477,530,362 63.35%

NWD 1,588,468,276 792,027,662(6) 2,380,495,938 60.86%

Mombasa Limited 718,384,979 – 718,384,979 18.37%

Notes:

(1)	 Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Limited held approximately 48.98% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to have an 
interest in the shares deemed to be interested by CTFC.

(2)	 Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings II) Limited held approximately 46.65% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to have an 
interest in the shares deemed to be interested by CTFC.

(3)	 CTFC held approximately 81.03% direct interest in CTFH and was accordingly deemed to have an interest in the shares deemed to be 
interested by CTFH.

(4)	 CTFH held 100% direct interest in CTF Enterprises and was accordingly deemed to have an interest in the shares interested by or 
deemed to be interested by CTF Enterprises.

(5)	 CTF Enterprises, together with its subsidiaries, held more than one-third of the issued shares of NWD and was accordingly deemed to 
have an interest in the shares interested by or deemed to be interested by NWD.

(6)	 NWD held 100% indirect interest in Mombasa Limited and was accordingly deemed to have an interest in the shares held by Mombasa 
Limited in the Company. NWD was also deemed to be interested in 2,979,975 shares held by Financial Concepts Investment Limited, 
35,331,354 shares each held by Hing Loong Limited and Fine Reputation Incorporated respectively, all of them being subsidiaries of 
NWD.

(7)	 All the interests stated above represented long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2021, there was no other person (other than the directors or chief executives 
of the Company whose interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporation are set out on pages 113 and 114) was interested (or deemed to be interested) or held any short position in 
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions 
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under 
Section 336 of the SFO.
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Sufficiency of Public Float
According to information that is available to the Company, the percentage of the Company’s shares which are in the 
hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares during the year and up to the date of 
this report.

Major Acquisitions and Disposals
1.	 On 21 August 2020, NWS Service Management Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Bravo Transport Holdings Limited to dispose of the entire issued 
share capital of NWS Transport at a consideration of HK$3,200 million (subject to instalment arrangements and 
adjustments). Completion of the disposal took place in October 2020 and since then the Group ceased to have 
any equity interest in NWS Transport.

2.	 On 11 January 2021,

(i)	 Beauty Ocean Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and SUEZ (Asia) Limited 
entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed to dispose 
of all its 42% interest in SUEZ NWS to SUEZ (Asia) Limited at the consideration of HK$4,173 million. The 
disposal is yet to complete at the date of this annual report. The Group’s entire interest in SUEZ NWS was 
accounted for as an asset held-for-sale as at 30 June 2021; and

(ii)	 the Company, SUEZ NWS and SUEZ (Asia) Limited entered into another conditional sale and purchase 
agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed to dispose of the entire interest in NWS HKI, which 
indirectly holds 12.55% effective interest in Derun Environment, together with the inter-company balance 
payable by NWS HKI to the Company at the consideration of HK$2,360 million. Completion took place in 
May 2021 and since then the Group ceased to have any shareholding interest in NWS HKI.

3.	 On 3 April 2021, the Group disposed of approximately 11.5% shareholding interest in Wai Kee at a consideration 
of approximately HK$422.9 million. After completion, the Group’s shareholding interest in the Wai Kee was 
reduced to approximately 11.5%.

Connected Transactions
The following connected transactions of the Group has been entered into or subsisting during the year and up to the 
date of this report:

(1)	 On 24 April 2020, a master services agreement was entered into between the Company and CTF Enterprises 
(the “CTF Enterprises Master Services Agreement”) whereby each of the Company and CTF Enterprises agreed 
to, and agreed to procure that members of the Group or the CTF Enterprises Group (being (a) CTF Enterprises; 
(b) any other company which is its subsidiary or holding company or is a fellow subsidiary of any such holding 
company; (c) any other company which is a direct or indirect 30%-controlled company of CTF Enterprises and/or 
such other companies referred to in (b) above; and (d) the subsidiaries of such other companies referred to in (b) 
and (c) above, but excluding members of the NWD Group (as defined in (2) below) and the Group) (to the extent 
practicable), engage relevant members of the CTF Enterprises Group or the Group to provide certain operational 
services to relevant members of the Group or the CTF Enterprises Group during the term of the CTF Enterprises 
Master Services Agreement.

As at the date of signing of the CTF Enterprises Master Services Agreement, CTF Enterprises together with 
its subsidiaries held approximately 44.6% of the total issued share capital of NWD and CTF Enterprises held 
approximately 2.5% of the total issued share capital of the Company. NWD together with its subsidiaries held 
approximately 60.9% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly, CTF Enterprises was a 
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules and the CTF Enterprises Master Services Agreement 
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The CTF Enterprises Master Services Agreement has an initial term of three years commencing from 1 July 
2020. Subject to re-compliance with the applicable Listing Rules at the relevant time, the CTF Enterprises Master 
Services Agreement may be renewed at the end of the initial term for a further term of three years (or such other 
period permitted under the Listing Rules).
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During FY2021, the contract amounts for the operational services under the CTF Enterprises Master Services 

Agreement are summarized as follows:

Categories

Approximate

 total

 contract sum Annual cap

HK$’m HK$’m

Operational services by members of the Group to members of  

the CTF Enterprises Group 1.8 105.0

Operational services by members of the CTF Enterprises Group to  

members of the Group 9.8 10.0

(2)	 On 24 April 2020, a master services agreement was entered into between the Company and NWD (the “NWD 

Master Services Agreement”) whereby each of the Company and NWD agreed to, and agreed to procure that 

members of the Group or the NWD Group (being NWD, its subsidiaries, any other company which is a direct 

or indirect 30%-controlled company of NWD and/or any of its subsidiaries, and the subsidiaries of such other 

companies, but excluding members of the Group) (to the extent practicable), engage relevant members of the 

NWD Group or the Group to provide certain operational services to relevant members of the Group or the NWD 

Group during the term of the NWD Master Services Agreement.

As at the date of signing of the NWD Master Services Agreement, NWD together with its subsidiaries held 

approximately 60.9% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly, NWD was a connected 

person of the Company under the Listing Rules and the NWD Master Services Agreement constituted continuing 

connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The NWD Master Services Agreement, the transactions contemplated thereunder and the related annual caps 

were approved by the independent shareholders at the special general meeting of the Company held on 18 June 

2020 (the “2020 SGM”). The NWD Master Services Agreement has an initial term of three years commencing 

from 1 July 2020. Subject to re-compliance with the applicable Listing Rules at the relevant time, the NWD Master 

Services Agreement may be renewed at the end of the initial term for a further term of three years (or such other 

period permitted under the Listing Rules).

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the contract amounts for the operational services under the NWD Master 

Services Agreement are summarized as follows:

Categories

Approximate

 total

contract sum Annual cap

HK$’m HK$’m

Operational services by members of the Group to members of  

the NWD Group 839.4 2,073.0

Operational services by members of the NWD Group to  

members of the Group 43.2 178.0
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(3)	 On 24 April 2020, a master services agreement (the “DOO Master Services Agreement”) was entered into 

between the Company and Mr Doo Wai Hoi, William (“Mr Doo”) whereby each of the Company and Mr Doo 

agreed to, and agreed to procure that members of the Group or the Services Group (being Mr Doo and 

any company which is a direct or indirect 30%-controlled company of Mr Doo, and the subsidiaries of such 

companies) (to the extent practicable), engage relevant members of the Services Group or the Group to provide 

certain operational services to relevant members of the Group or the Services Group during the term of the DOO 

Master Services Agreement.

As at the date of signing of the DOO Master Services Agreement, Mr Doo was the father of Mr William Junior 

Guilherme Doo, brother-in-law of Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry and uncle of Dr Cheng Chi Kong, Adrian and  

Mr Cheng Chi Ming, Brian, all of whom were directors of the Company. Mr Doo was therefore a connected 

person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Certain members of the Services Group were majority-controlled 

companies of Mr Doo and hence connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the DOO Master Services 

Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The DOO Master Services Agreement, the transactions contemplated thereunder and the related annual caps 

were approved by the independent shareholders at the 2020 SGM. The DOO Master Services Agreement has 

an initial term of three years commencing from 1 July 2020. Subject to re-compliance with the applicable Listing 

Rules at the relevant time, the DOO Master Services Agreement may be renewed at the end of the initial term for 

a further term of three years (or such other period permitted under the Listing Rules).

During the year ended 30 June 2021, the contract amounts for the operational services under the DOO Master 

Services Agreement are summarized as follows:

Categories

Approximate
 total

 contract sum Annual cap
HK$’m HK$’m

Operational services by members of the Group to members of  
the Services Group 0.8 40.0

Operational services by members of the Services Group to  
members of the Group 935.2 2,245.0

(4)	 On 21 June 2021, FTLife Insurance, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, agreed to subscribe for 

the 4.79% senior unsubordinated and unsecured notes in the principal amount of HK$1,000,000,000, which was 

issued by NWD (MTN) on 30 June 2021 and was listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, upon satisfaction of 

the conditions to issue and other terms under the US$6,000,000,000 medium term note programme established 

by NWD (MTN) (the “Notes”). The Notes will mature on 30 June 2051.

As at the date of subscription of the Notes, NWD together with its subsidiaries held approximately 60.86% of the 

total issued share capital of the Company. Therefore, NWD (MTN) (being an associate of NWD) was a connected 

person of the Company and accordingly, the subscription of the Notes constituted financial assistance provided 

by the Group to NWD Group and hence a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules.

The subscription was subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but exempted from the 

independent shareholders’ approval requirement for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.



120 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDReport of the Directors

(5)	 On 31 August 2021, (i) each of Modern Elite (Hong Kong) Limited (“Modern Elite”), FTLife Insurance and Tycoon 
Estate Investments (HK) Limited (“Tycoon Estate”) (collectively, the “Purchasers”, all of which are indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) and Good Sense Development Limited (the “Vendor”, an indirect 
wholly-owned subsidiary of NWD) entered into the preliminary agreement I, preliminary agreement II and 
preliminary agreement III (collectively, the “Preliminary Agreements”) respectively, pursuant to which each of 
Modern Elite, FTLife Insurance and Tycoon Estate, agreed to purchase, and the Vendor agreed to sell, the office 
units on 18th Floor, 19th Floor and 20th Floor, and 21st Floor (each of which, the “Property” and collectively, the 
“Properties”), No. 888 Lai Chi Kok Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Development”) respectively, at the aggregate 
purchase price of approximately HK$1,367 million; and (ii) the Vendor offered to the Purchasers and the 
Purchasers acknowledged and accepted that, subject to conditions contained therein, (a) each of the Purchasers 
shall have a priority to purchase (the “Priority to Purchase Parking Spaces”) up to nine parking spaces in the 
Development as designated by the Vendor at a price of not higher than HK$1.5 million per parking space for 
each Property the relevant Purchaser has purchased; and (b) each of the Purchasers shall be entitled to leasing 
benefits (the “Leasing Benefits”) offered by the Vendor at annual rent of approximately 3.1% to approximately 3.2% 
of the purchase price for the relevant Property.

Each of the tenancy agreements (the “Tenancy Agreements”) will be entered into between the relevant Purchasers 
and the tenant(s) in relation to the lease of the Property by the relevant Purchaser to the tenant(s) pursuant to 
the terms and conditions of the Leasing Benefits as a definitive operational agreement under the NWD Master 
Services Agreement and are therefore, subject to the terms and conditions thereunder.

As at 31 August 2021, NWD together with its subsidiaries holds approximately 60.9% of the total issued share 
capital of the Company. The Vendor is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of NWD and therefore a connected 
person of the Company as defined under the Listing Rules. As such, (i) the Preliminary Agreements, the Priority 
to Purchase Parking Spaces and the transactions contemplated therein constitute connected transactions of 
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the Tenancy Agreements and the transactions 
contemplated therein, when entered into, will constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 10 September 2021, each of the Purchasers and the Vendor entered into the formal agreements for sale and 
purchase in relation to the sale and purchase of the relevant Properties pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
the Preliminary Agreements.

The price and terms of the continuing connected transactions mentioned in (1) to (3) above have been determined in 
accordance with the pricing policies and guidelines as set out in the circular of the Company dated 1 June 2020. These 
continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by the independent non-executive directors of the Company who 
have confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(a)	 in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)	 on normal commercial terms or better;

(c)	 according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of 
the shareholders of the Company as a whole; and

(d)	 within the caps as set out in the relevant announcement and circular.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with 
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or 
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing 
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by HKICPA. The auditor has issued an unqualified 
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the 
Company in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has 
been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of significant related party transactions made during the year, which included the 
abovesaid connected transactions of the Company, if applicable, is disclosed in note 50 to the financial statements.
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Disclosure pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules
As at 30 June 2021, the Group has provided financial assistance, by way of shareholders’ loans or advances, in the 
aggregate amount of HK$11,789.9 million to its affiliated companies (included in the amounts disclosed in notes 23, 
24 and 30 to the financial statements), guarantees given for bank loans and other credit facilities for the benefit of the 
affiliated companies and the guarantee towards KTSPL in the aggregate amount of HK$11,381.8 million (included in the 
amounts disclosed in note 48 to the financial statements) and contracts to provide an aggregate amount of HK$287.4 
million in capital and/or loans to affiliated companies (included in the amount disclosed in note 47(a)(i) to the financial 
statements). The said amounts, in aggregate, represent approximately 15.5% under the assets ratio as defined under 
Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Affiliated companies include associated companies and joint ventures of the Group.

The advances are unsecured, interest free and have no definite repayment terms except for (i) an aggregate amount of 
HK$104.7 million which carries interest at 8% per annum; (ii) an amount of HK$30.1 million which carries interest at Hong 
Kong prime rate; (iii) an aggregate amount of HK$1,600.0 million which carries interest at 6-month Hong Kong Interbank 
Offered Rate plus a margin of 1.3% per annum and is not repayable within the next 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period; (iv) an amount of HK$498.0 million which carries compound interest at 5% per annum and is repayable 
on demand; (v) an amount of HK$241.0 million which carries interest at 90% of over-five-year Renminbi benchmark 
lending rate published by the People’s Bank of China and is not repayable within the next 12 months from the end of 
the reporting period; (vi) an amount of HK$202.0 million which carries interest at 4% per annum; and (vii) an aggregate 
amount of HK$6,166.6 million which is interest free and is repayable within the next 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period. The advances also include an amount of HK$197.5 million which has been subordinated to certain 
indebtedness of an affiliated company. Contracted capital and loan contributions to affiliated companies would be funded 
by internally generated resources and banking facilities of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, a proforma combined statement of financial position of those affiliated 
companies with financial assistance from the Group and the Group’s attributable interest in those affiliated companies as 
at 30 June 2021 are presented as follows:

Proforma
combined

 statement of
 financial position

The Group’s
 attributable

 interest
HK$’m HK$’m

Non-current assets 86,792.5 41,962.3
Current assets 12,164.5 5,644.5
Current liabilities (27,552.2) (13,457.6)
Non-current liabilities (57,778.2) (29,023.2)

13,626.6 5,126.0

The proforma combined statement of financial position of the affiliated companies is prepared by combining their 
statements of financial position, after making adjustments to conform with the Group’s significant accounting policies and 
re-grouping into significant classification in the statement of financial position, as at 30 June 2021.

Employees and Remuneration Policies
As at 30 June 2021, approximately 14,100 staff were employed by entities under the Group’s management of which 
approximately 4,300 staff were employed in Hong Kong. Total staff related costs from continuing operations, including 
provident funds, staff bonus and deemed share option benefits but excluding directors’ remunerations during FY2021 
were HK$2.373 billion (2020: HK$2.561 billion). Remuneration packages including salaries, bonuses and share options 
are granted to employees according to individual performance and are reviewed according to general market conditions 
every year. Structured training programmes were provided to employees on an ongoing basis.

Five-Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 
272 and 273.
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Auditor
The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire 

at the 2021 AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
 

To the shareholders of NWS Holdings Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of NWS Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set 

out on pages 132 to 271, which comprise:

•	 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021;

•	 the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

•	 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

•	 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 

the Group as at 30 June 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the 

Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)
The key audit matters identified in our audit relate to (i) impairment of the Group’s interests in associated companies 

and joint ventures, (ii) fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and (iii) assessment on (a) valuation of insurance contract liabilities and (b) 

amortization of value of business acquired and deferred acquisition costs.

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

(i)	 Impairment of the Group’s interests in 
associated companies and joint ventures

(Refer to notes 5, 23 and 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements)

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying values of the 
Group’s interests in associated companies and 
joint ventures amounted to HK$5,674 million and 
HK$10,806 million respectively. Management 
reviewed regularly whether there are any indicators 
of impairment of the investments by reference to 
the requirements of HKAS 28 (2011) “Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures” and HKAS 36 
“Impairment of Assets”.

Based on management’s assessment, the Group 
has certain associated companies and joint 
ventures mainly engaging in roads, aviation and 
strategic investments businesses with an aggregate 
carrying amount of approximately HK$2,677 
million (before impairment as detailed below) where 
relevant impairment indicators existed at the end of 
the reporting period.

For the above-mentioned businesses, management 
estimated the recoverable amount to be the higher 
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. Independent external valuers were involved 
in certain value in use assessments. Based on 
the results of these impairment assessments, 
impairment losses were recognized for the 
underlying assets of relevant associated companies 
and joint ventures and the Group’s share of 
such impairment losses (net of tax) amounting to 
approximately HK$120 million and approximately 
HK$347 million have been included in the Group’s 
share of results of associated companies and share 
of results of joint ventures for the year ended 30 
June 2021 respectively. In addition, an impairment 
loss on interests in associated companies 
amounting to approximately HK$128 million was 
recognized in the consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Our procedures to assess management’s judgements 

and estimates applied in the impairment assessments of 

the Group’s interests in associated companies and joint 

ventures based on value in use approach included:

•	 We obtained an understanding of the 

management’s controls and procedures of 

impairment assessment of the Group’s interests 

in associated companies and joint ventures and 

assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement 

by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty 

and level of other inherent risk factors;

•	 We evaluated the competence, capabilities and 

objectivity of independent external valuers;

•	 With the support from our in-house valuation 

experts, we assessed the appropriateness of the 

valuation methodology and the reasonableness 

of the key assumptions adopted in the cash flow 

projections;

•	 We assessed the reasonableness of the discount 

rates applied by the management in the discounted 

cash flow model by comparing to external market 

data and publicly available information; and

•	 We checked the key assumptions used to external 

market data or other supporting evidence where 

available; we performed sensitivity analysis on 

the key assumptions adopted in the impairment 

assessments to understand the impact of 

reasonable changes in assumptions on the 

estimated recoverable amounts.

Based on the procedures performed, we found 

management’s impairment assessments of the Group’s 

interests in associated companies and joint ventures based 

on value in use approach to be reasonable.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

 (i)	 Impairment of the Group’s interests in 
associated companies and joint ventures 
(continued)

The fair value less costs of disposal is generally 
determined with reference to quoted market 
prices, recent or expected transaction prices, 
where appropriate, involved less judgements and 
estimates.

On the other hand, the impairment assessments 
based on value in use approach is determined 
based on the discounted cash flow projections. 
We focused on this area due to significant 
management judgements required to determine the 
key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow 
models including estimated traffic volume, toll rates, 
revenue growth, terminal value, terminal growth rate 
and discount rates.

(ii)	 Fair value measurement of financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

(Refer to notes 5, 25, 26 and 31 to the consolidated 
financial statements)

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income and 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(including those classified as investments related 
to unit-linked contracts) amounted to HK$44,787 
million and HK$23,741 million respectively.

Management determined the fair value of these 
investments as follows:

•	 For investments with quoted market prices, 
management determined the fair value 
based on quoted market prices;

Our procedures to assess management’s judgements in 
respect of the fair value measurement of investment funds 
or equity and debt instruments included:

•	 We obtained an understanding of the 
management’s controls and processes of fair 
value measurement of fair value through other 
comprehensive income and fair value through 
profit or loss and assessed the inherent risk of 
material misstatement by considering the degree 
of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent 
risk factors;

•	 We performed control testing over the investment 
system and evaluated and tested management’s 
control procedures over investment cycle on a 
sample basis where applicable;

•	 We performed the following work with the support 
from our in-house valuation experts in relation to fair 
value measurement of investment funds or equity 
and debt instruments :

•	 For investments with quoted market prices, 
we checked fair value determined by 
management against the quoted market 
prices or quotes obtained from independent 
sources;
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

(ii)	 Fair value measurement of financial assets 

at fair value through other comprehensive 

income and financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (continued)

•	 For investments in unlisted investment 

funds, management discussed with the 

respective fund managers to understand the 

performance of the underlying investments 

and fair value measurement basis 

conducted by the respective fund managers 

in order to evaluate whether the fair values as 

stated in the fund statements at the end of 

reporting period is appropriate;

•	 For investments in unlisted equity and 

debt instruments with recent transactions, 

management determined the fair value at 

the end of reporting period with reference to 

recent transaction prices of these financial 

assets; and

•	 For investments in unlisted equity and debt 

instruments without recent transactions, 

management established fair values of these 

investments by using appropriate valuation 

techniques. Independent external valuer has 

been involved in determining the fair value, 

where appropriate.

We focused on this area because of the financial 

significance of the balances and management 

judgements involved in determining the fair values 

of these financial assets.

•	 For investments in unlisted investment 

funds, we obtained fund statements from 

fund managers and selected a sample 

of investments to enquire about and 

assess management control regarding 

the appropriateness of methodologies, 

parameters and key assumptions used 

by fund managers and/or to assess the 

reasonableness of the methodologies and 

key assumptions used in the fair value 

assessment;

•	 For investments in unlisted equity and debt 

instruments with recent transactions, we 

agreed, on a sample basis, to the evidence 

of recent transaction prices of those financial 

assets in fair value measurement; and

•	 For investments in unlisted equity and debt 

instruments without recent transactions, 

we evaluated the competence, capabilities 

and objectivity of the independent valuer. 

We assessed, on a sample basis, the 

appropriateness of methodologies and 

key assumptions used in the fair value 

measurement of these financial assets. We 

also assessed the reasonableness of the key 

observable and unobservable inputs used 

in the valuation by comparing assumptions 

used against appropriate third party pricing 

sources such as public stock prices and 

bond yields.

Based on the procedures performed above, we found 

judgements exercised by management in the fair value 

measurement of financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss to be reasonable.

Key Audit Matters (continued)



127ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

(iii)	 Assessment on (a) valuation of insurance 
contract liabilities and (b) amortization of value 
of business acquired and deferred acquisition 
costs

(a)	 Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

(Refer to notes 3, 4, 31 and 41 to the 
consolidated financial statements)

The Group had insurance contract liabilities 
(including those classified as liabilities related 
to unit-linked contracts) of HK$39,645 
million as at 30 June 2021, representing 
approximately 42% of the Group’s total 
liabilities.

The valuation of insurance contract liabilities 
requires the use of appropriate actuarial 
methodologies and various economic 
and operational assumptions that are 
subject to a high degree of management’s 
judgements. The key assumptions used in 
measuring the insurance contract liabilities 
include discount rates, mortality rates, lapse 
rates and expenses.

We focused on this area due to significant 
management judgements and estimates 
required in the valuation of insurance 
contract liabilities at the end of reporting 
period.

We involved our in-house actuarial experts in 
performing the following audit procedures:

•	 We obtained an understanding of the 
management’s controls and processes of 
valuation of insurance contract liabilities 
and assessed the inherent risk of material 
misstatement by considering the degree 
of estimation uncertainty and level of other 
inherent risk factors;

•	 We evaluated whether the methodologies 
are consistent with recognized actuarial 
practices in the insurance industry. We built 
independent models to test, on a sampling 
basis, the algorithm within the actuarial 
models applied;

•	 We assessed the reasonableness of the 
key assumptions made by management 
including discount rates, mortality rates, 
lapse rates and expenses based on the 
Group’s own historical data and experience 
study, market-observable data, and our 
industry knowledge and experience;

•	 We performed analysis of the movements 
in insurance contract liabilities to assess 
whether the changes are in line with our 
understanding of the assumptions and 
any developments and changes during the 
period; and

•	 We reviewed the calculation of the liability 
adequacy test to assess the adequacy of 
insurance contract liabilities.

Based on the procedures performed above, we 
found the methodologies and assumptions used by 
management in the valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities to be reasonable.

Key Audit Matters (continued)
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

(iii)	 Assessment on (a) valuation of insurance 

contract liabilities and (b) amortization of value 

of business acquired and deferred acquisition 

costs (continued)

(b)	 Amortization of value of business 

acquired and deferred acquisition costs

(Refer to notes 3, 20 and 22 to the 

consolidated financial statements)

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying value 

of value of business acquired (“VOBA”) 

and deferred acquisition costs (“DAC”) 

amounting to HK$5,395 million and 

HK$1,712 million respectively. Amortization 

of VOBA and DAC amounting to HK$256 

million and HK$367 million, respectively, 

was recognized in the consolidated income 

statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

VOBA is amortized over the estimated life 

of the contracts in the acquired portfolio 

on a systematic basis primarily based on 

expected future profits which involved 

significant management judgements and 

estimates.

DAC of new business is amortized according 

to the expected future premiums or 

expected future profits, which are projected 

based on the Group’s best estimate 

assumptions and actual persistency.

We focused on this area due to the high 

degree of management judgements and 

estimates required.

•	 We obtained an understanding of the 

management’s controls and processes of 

amortization of value of business acquired 

and deferred acquisition costs and assessed 

the inherent risk of material misstatement 

by considering the degree of estimation 

uncertainty and level of other inherent risk 

factors;

•	 With the assistance of our in-house 

actuarial experts, we evaluated the basis of 

amortization of VOBA and DAC determined 

by management and assessed the 

reasonableness of key assumptions used 

by management, including discount rates, 

mortality rates, lapse rates and expenses in 

determining the expected future profits.

Based on the procedures performed above, we 

found the assumptions used in the amortization of 

VOBA and DAC to be appropriate.

Key Audit Matters (continued)
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 

information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of 

Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 

for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements (continued)
We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 

thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Hung Nam.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 September 2021
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Continuing operations    
Revenue 6 28,197.3 22,612.2
Cost of sales 7, 9 (24,406.1) (19,762.0)
    

Gross profit 3,791.2 2,850.2
Other income and gains, net 8 2,026.9 1,002.4
Selling and marketing expenses 9 (969.0) (820.4)
General and administrative expenses 9 (1,810.6) (1,533.5)
Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets 8(a) (1,270.6) 208.2
    

Operating profit 9 1,767.9 1,706.9
Finance costs 11 (838.7) (966.8)
Share of results of

Associated companies 6(c) 266.2 (132.6)
Joint ventures 6(c) 1,280.6 1,092.9

    

Profit before income tax 2,476.0 1,700.4
Income tax expenses 12 (691.2) (589.6)
    

Profit from continuing operations 1,784.8 1,110.8

Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations 33(a) (43.8) (283.3)
    

Profit for the year 1,741.0 827.5
    

Profit/(loss) attributable to
Shareholders of the Company

From continuing operations 1,190.3 536.5
From discontinued operations (43.8) (283.3)

    

1,146.5 253.2
Holders of perpetual capital securities 583.1 581.9
Non-controlling interests 11.4 (7.6)

    

1,741.0 827.5
    

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to  
shareholders of the Company 14
From continuing operations HK$0.30 HK$0.14
From discontinued operations (HK$0.01) (HK$0.08)

    

HK$0.29 HK$0.06
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Profit for the year 1,741.0 827.5

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Net fair value changes on equity instruments as financial assets  

at fair value through other comprehensive income 76.5 (774.1)

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligation 25.2 32.0

Items that have been reclassified/may be subsequently  

reclassified to profit or loss

Net fair value changes and other net movements on debt 

instruments as financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 37(a) (1,677.3) 1,881.1

Release of reserve upon disposal of debt instruments as financial 

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (40.7) (309.7)

Release of reserves upon disposal of subsidiaries 71.4 24.7

Release of reserves upon disposal/partial disposal of interests  

in associated companies (61.6) (14.5)

Release of reserve upon disposal of interest in a joint venture (93.8) –

Release of reserve upon deconsolidation of a subsidiary (10.3) –

Share of other comprehensive loss of associated companies  

and joint ventures (3.3) (12.9)

Cash flow/fair value hedges 242.7 131.4

Amount reported in other comprehensive income  

applying overlay approach adjustments on financial assets 8(a) 1,270.6 (208.2)

Currency translation differences 2,889.9 (1,293.2)
    

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 2,689.3 (543.4)    

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,430.3 284.1
    

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to

Shareholders of the Company

From continuing operations 3,319.8 374.6

From discontinued operations 33(b) 495.1 (656.3)
    

3,814.9 (281.7)

Holders of perpetual capital securities 583.1 581.9

Non-controlling interests 32.3 (16.1)
    

4,430.3 284.1
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

ASSETS    
Non-current assets

Investment properties 16 1,681.4 1,703.1
Property, plant and equipment 17 1,186.0 4,881.5
Intangible concession rights 18 14,355.6 14,083.9
Intangible assets 19 5,916.2 5,906.8
Value of business acquired 20 5,395.1 5,651.5
Right-of-use assets 21 1,359.9 1,999.7
Deferred acquisition costs 22 1,711.5 688.2
Associated companies 23 5,673.6 13,353.5
Joint ventures 24 10,806.0 12,287.5
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 25 42,889.2 38,011.7
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 26 12,551.8 8,488.2
Derivative financial instruments 27 658.2 1,972.0
Other non-current assets 28 1,947.7 1,198.7

    

106,132.2 110,226.3
    

Current assets
Inventories 29 207.0 328.6
Trade, premium and other receivables 30 15,162.2 16,207.5
Investments related to unit-linked contracts 31(a) 10,770.2 9,053.6
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 25 1,898.1 528.1
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 26 471.9 373.2
Derivative financial instruments 27 801.8 0.7
Cash and bank balances 32 10,804.6 13,221.8

    

40,115.8 39,713.5
    

Assets held-for-sale 34 6,324.9 112.2    

Total assets 152,572.9 150,052.0
    

EQUITY
Share capital 36 3,911.1 3,911.1
Reserves 37 44,002.3 42,455.9
    

Shareholders’ funds 47,913.4 46,367.0
Perpetual capital securities 38 10,528.5 10,528.5
Non-controlling interests 12.1 562.2
    

Total equity 58,454.0 57,457.7
    



135ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities 39 23,229.4 26,891.7

Deferred tax liabilities 40 1,925.4 2,285.9

Insurance and investment contract liabilities 41 18,143.5 14,454.8

Liabilities related to unit-linked contracts 31(b) 180.8 168.2

Derivative financial instruments 27 102.5 140.7

Lease liabilities 42 1,079.4 1,575.1

Other non-current liabilities 43 102.5 189.3
    

44,763.5 45,705.7
    

Current liabilities

Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities 39 2,118.6 4,064.0

Insurance and investment contract liabilities 41 24,359.3 20,445.3

Liabilities related to unit-linked contracts 31(b) 10,770.2 9,053.6

Derivative financial instruments 27 0.3 97.7

Trade, other payables and payables to policyholders 44 11,332.9 12,475.0

Lease liabilities 42 227.3 377.3

Taxation 546.8 375.7
    

49,355.4 46,888.6    

Total liabilities 94,118.9 92,594.3    

Total equity and liabilities 152,572.9 150,052.0
    

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry Mr Ma Siu Cheung

Director Director



136 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2021

Shareholders’ funds

HK$’m Note

Share

capital

Share

premium

Revenue

reserve

Other

reserves Total

Perpetual

capital

securities

Non-

controlling

interests Total

At 1 July 2020 3,911.1 17,821.5 25,749.3 (1,114.9) 46,367.0 10,528.5 562.2 57,457.7

Total comprehensive income for the year 37 – – 1,500.1 2,314.8 3,814.9 583.1 32.3 4,430.3

Contributions by/(distribution to) owners

Dividends paid to 

Shareholders of the Company 13, 37 – – (2,268.5) – (2,268.5) – – (2,268.5)

Non-controlling interests – – – – – – (26.3) (26.3)

Distribution to perpetual capital securities holders – – – – – (583.1) – (583.1)

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary – – – – – – (556.1) (556.1)

Transfer of reserves 37 – – (32.3) 32.3 – – – –

Total transactions with owners – – (2,300.8) 32.3 (2,268.5) (583.1) (582.4) (3,434.0)

At 30 June 2021 3,911.1 17,821.5 24,948.6 1,232.2 47,913.4 10,528.5 12.1 58,454.0
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Shareholders’ funds

HK$’m Note

Share

capital

Share

premium

Revenue

reserve

Other

reserves Total

Perpetual

capital

securities

Non-

controlling

interests Total

At 1 July 2019 3,911.1 17,821.5 28,184.1 (977.3) 48,939.4 8,039.8 160.8 57,140.0

Total comprehensive income for the year 37 – – (378.7) 97.0 (281.7) 581.9 (16.1) 284.1

Contributions by/(distribution to) owners

Dividends paid to  

Shareholders of the Company 37 – – (2,268.5) – (2,268.5) – – (2,268.5)

Non-controlling interests – – – – – – (35.2) (35.2)

Issuance of perpetual capital securities 38 – – – – – 2,489.8 – 2,489.8

Distribution to perpetual capital securities holders – – – – – (583.0) – (583.0)

Transaction costs in relation to the issuance 

of perpetual capital securities 37 – – (22.2) – (22.2) – – (22.2)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests – – – – – – 555.6 555.6

Return of capital to non-controlling interests – – – – – – (102.9) (102.9)

Transfer of reserves (a), 37 – – 234.6 (234.6) – – – –

Total transactions with owners – – (2,056.1) (234.6) (2,290.7) 1,906.8 417.5 33.6

At 30 June 2020 3,911.1 17,821.5 25,749.3 (1,114.9) 46,367.0 10,528.5 562.2 57,457.7

(a)	 The amount mainly included the transfer of share option reserve HK$254.9 million to revenue reserve.

For the year ended 30 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash generated from operations 49(a) 9,543.1 4,356.2
Finance costs paid (858.1) (857.2)
Interest received 1,855.3 1,402.5
Dividends received from financial assets in relation to insurance 

business and investments related to unit-linked contracts 223.4 33.8
Hong Kong profits tax paid (220.7) (333.3)
Mainland China and overseas taxation paid (482.4) (497.7)

Net cash generated from operating activities before net purchases of 
financial assets in relation to insurance business 10,060.6 4,104.3

Purchases of financial assets in relation to insurance business (13,965.4) (14,135.5)
Disposal of financial assets in relation to insurance business 3,801.9 9,802.5

(10,163.5) (4,333.0)

Net cash used in operating activities (102.9) (228.7)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired – (10,097.7)
Dividends received from associated companies 23(h) 436.3 345.6
Dividends received from joint ventures 24(e) 910.6 1,656.7
Decrease/(increase) in investments in and advances to associated 

companies 870.6 (207.4)
Decrease/(increase) in investments in and advances to joint ventures 471.4 (431.7)
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed of 49(b) 5,083.4 241.0
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary 49(d) (1,104.5) –
Deferred consideration/proceeds received from disposal/partial 

disposal of interests in associated companies and a joint venture 934.8 391.5
Additions of intangible concession rights, intangible assets and 

property, plant and equipment 17,18,19 (403.8) (5,962.1)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income (508.2) –
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (1,599.0) (955.1)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 17.4 778.3
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,076.4 563.4
Disposal of intangible concession rights and property, plant and 

equipment 9.2 97.1
Settlement of derivative financial instruments (340.5) 140.5
Dividends received from financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss 84.2 108.0

Increase in short-term bank deposits maturing after more than three 
months (0.1) (0.1)

Decrease in pledged deposits 10.0 –
Increase in other non-current assets (8.1) (56.7)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 5,940.1 (13,388.7)
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2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of perpetual capital securities, net of 

transaction costs 38 – 2,467.6

New bank loans and other borrowings 49(c) 1,860.1 14,559.7

Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings 49(c) (6,106.7) (2,639.9)

Redemption of fixed rate bonds 49(c) (112.0) –

Repayment of financing received under a financial reinsurance 

arrangement 49(c) (91.1) (32.7)

Distribution to perpetual capital securities holders (583.1) (583.0)

Capital element of lease liabilities payments 49(c) (301.1) (280.9)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests – 555.6

Return of capital to non-controlling interests – (102.9)

(Decrease)/increase in cash collateral received from counterparties 49(c) (948.0) 423.9

Repayment of loan from non-controlling interests 49(c) (6.5) (4.5)

Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company 37 (2,268.5) (2,268.5)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (26.3) (35.2)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (8,583.2) 12,059.2

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,746.0) (1,558.2)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 13,367.6 15,045.4

Currency translation differences 222.4 (119.6)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 10,844.0 13,367.6

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances 32 10,804.6 13,221.8

Cash and bank balances attributable to investments related 

to unit-linked contracts 31(a) 53.1 169.4

Short-term bank deposits maturing after more than three months 32 (13.7) (13.6)

Pledged deposits 32 – (10.0)

10,844.0 13,367.6
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 

1	 General information
NWS Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is 

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries include:

(i)	 the development of, investment in and/or operation of roads, commercial aircraft leasing, construction and 

insurance; and

(ii)	 the investment in and/or operation of environmental, logistics and facilities management projects.

The Company has its listing on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements were approved for issuance by the Board on 30 September 2021.

2	 Basis of preparation and accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and interpretations (collectively, the “HKFRS”) issued 

by the HKICPA. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 

as modified by the revaluation of investment properties, certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including 

derivative financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 

Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5 below.

As analyzed in note 6(b), the Group, before taking into consideration the insurance business, is in net current 

assets position as at 30 June 2021, while the Group is in net current liabilities position of HK$2,914.7 million at 

the reporting date which is mainly due to the classification of the full surrender value of insurance and investment 

contract liabilities of HK$24,359.3 million (note 41) as current liabilities.

Under Hong Kong Accounting Standard 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, liability is classified as current 

if there is no unconditional right by the issuer to defer the settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 

period. The unavoidable payment obligation exists if all the policyholders choose to exercise their surrender 

option at the reporting date and accordingly the full surrender value of insurance and investment contract 

liabilities is classified as current liabilities as at the year end. However, management considered the likelihood for 

all policyholders to exercise the surrender option and leading to the settlement of the aforesaid liabilities within 

one year is low. Based on historical pattern, management considered the amount of insurance contract liabilities 

expected to be settled within one year is approximately HK$3,861.4 million as detailed in the liquidity risk table in 

note 4(c).
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2	 Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)
Taking into consideration the expected settlement pattern for insurance contract liabilities, it is reasonable to 

expect that the Group will have adequate resources to meet its liabilities in the next 12 months as and when they 

fall due and to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Group continues to 

adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(a)	 Adoption of amendments to standards and interpretation

During FY2021, the Group has adopted the following amendments to standards and interpretation which 

are relevant to the Group’s operations and are mandatory for FY2021:

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments) Amendments to Definition of Material

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9 

(Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 1

Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting 2018

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The adoption of the amendments to standards and interpretation does not have significant effect on the 

results and financial position of the Group.

(b)	 Standard, amendments to standards and interpretations which are not 
yet effective

The following new standard, amendments to standards and interpretations are mandatory for accounting 

period beginning on or after 1 July 2021 or later periods but which the Group has not early adopted:

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual Framework

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 

Associate or Joint Venture

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

HKAS 1 (Amendments) and  

HKFRS Practice Statement

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

Single Transaction

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 

and HKFRS 16 (Amendments)

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

HKFRSs Amendments Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised) Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations
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2	 Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)
(b)	 Standard, amendments to standards and interpretations which are not 

yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” (“HKFRS 17”) and HKFRS 17 (Amendments)

HKFRS 17 will replace the current HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”. HKFRS 17 includes some 

fundamental differences to current accounting treatment in both insurance contract measurement and 

profit recognition. The general model is based on a discounted cash flow model with a risk adjustment 

and deferral of unearned profits. A separate approach applies to insurance contracts that are linked to 

returns on underlying items and meet certain requirements. Additionally, HKFRS 17 requires more granular 

information and a new presentation format for the statement of comprehensive income as well as extensive 

disclosures. In October 2020, HKICPA issued HKFRS 17 (Amendments) which defer the effective date of 

the standard to accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and provide additional transition 

relief when applying HKFRS 17 for the first time. The Group is undertaking an assessment of the new 

standard.

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of other amendments to standards and 

interpretations, certain of which may be relevant to the Group’s operations and may give rise to changes 

in accounting policies, changes in disclosures and remeasurement of certain items in the consolidated 

financial statements.

(c)	 Restatements due to discontinued operations

During FY2021, the Group has disposed of its entire interest in the transport business and plans to 

recover a significant part of the carrying amount of environment business principally through sale rather 

than through continuing use. Their results for the year are presented separately as one-line item below 

profit from continuing operations as “discontinued operations” in the consolidated income statement. 

The comparative figures in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income have been restated to present their operations as “discontinued operations”. The 

comparative figures in consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated statement of cash 

flows were not re-presented. Further details of financial information of the discontinued operations are set 

out in note 33.
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3	 Significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, which 

have been consistently applied to all the years presented, except for the accounting policies described in notes 

3(d)(x), 3(d)(xi) and 3(ac) applied from 1 November 2019, are set out as below:

(a)	 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all its 

subsidiaries made up to 30 June.

(i)	 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities in which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 

Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 

has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated 

from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 

transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 

incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 

consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 

basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognized 

amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the acquirer’s previously 

held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or 

losses arising from such remeasurement are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognized at fair value at the 

acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is 

deemed to be an asset or liability is recognized in the consolidated income statement. Contingent 

consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is 

accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 

acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the 

fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration 

transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest measured is less than 

the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the 

difference is recognized directly in the consolidated income statement.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains or losses on transactions between group 

companies are eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted 

to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)	 Consolidation (continued)

(i)	 Subsidiaries (continued)

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 

as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity 

as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share 

acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or 

losses on disposal to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its 

fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized in the 

consolidated income statement. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 

subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associated company, joint venture or 

financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in 

respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets 

or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income 

are reclassified to the consolidated income statement.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 

impairment losses. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries 

are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the interests in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 

investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 

period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial 

statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s 

net assets including goodwill.

(ii)	 Associated companies

An associated company is a company other than a subsidiary and a joint venture, in which the 

Group has significant influence exercised through representatives on the board of directors.

The Group’s interests in associated companies include the loans and advances to the associated 

companies which, in substance, form part of the Group’s interests in the associated companies. 

The provision of loans and advances to the associated companies are a form of commercial 

arrangement between the parties to the associated companies to finance the development of 

projects and viewed as a means by which the Group invests in the relevant projects.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and 

are initially recognized at cost. The Group’s investments in associated companies include goodwill 

(net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition. The interests in associated 

companies also include long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net 

investment in associated companies.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)	 Consolidation (continued)

(ii)	 Associated companies (continued)

The Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized 

in the consolidated income statement, and the share of post-acquisition movements in other 

comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-

acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the share 

of losses in an associated company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company, 

including any other unsecured receivable, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless 

it has incurred legal and constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated 

company.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated 

to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealized losses are also 

eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

For equity accounting purpose, accounting policies of associated companies have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains or losses arising from investments in associated companies are recognized in the 

consolidated income statement.

The cost of an associated company acquired in stages is measured as the sum of consideration 

paid for each purchase plus a share of investee’s profits and other equity movements.

The Group ceases to use the equity method from the date an investment ceases to be an associated 

company that is the date on which the Group ceases to have significant influence over the 

associated company or on the date it is classified as held-for-sale.

(iii)	 Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control and over 

which none of the participating parties has unilateral control.

Investments in joint arrangements are classified either as joint operations or joint ventures, 

depending on the contractual rights and obligations each investor has.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)	 Consolidation (continued)

(iii)	 Joint arrangements (continued)

(1)	 Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the assets and obligations for the 

liabilities of an arrangement. Investments in joint operations are accounted for such that 

each joint operator recognizes its assets (including its share of any assets jointly held), its 

liabilities (including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share 

of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation) and its expenses (including 

its share of any expenses incurred jointly). Each joint operator accounts for the assets and 

liabilities, as well as revenues and expenses, relating to its interest in the joint operation in 

accordance with the applicable standards.

(2)	 Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties have rights to the net assets of 

the arrangement.

The Group’s interests in joint ventures include the loans and advances to the joint ventures 

which, in substance, form part of the Group’s interests in the joint ventures. The provision of 

loans and advances to the joint ventures is a form of commercial arrangement between the 

parties to the joint ventures to finance the development of projects are viewed as a means 

by which the Group invests in the relevant projects.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognized at 

cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits 

or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in that 

joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 

Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not recognize further losses, 

unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of that joint venture.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a)	 Consolidation (continued)

(iii)	 Joint arrangements (continued)

(2)	 Joint ventures (continued)

The share of post-acquisition results and reserves is based on the relevant profit sharing 

ratios which vary according to the nature of the joint ventures set out as follows:

•	 Equity joint ventures

Equity joint ventures are joint ventures in respect of which the capital contribution 

ratios of the venturers are defined in the joint venture contracts and the profit sharing 

ratios of the venturers are in proportion to the capital contribution ratios.

•	 Co-operative joint ventures

Co-operative joint ventures are joint ventures in respect of which the profit sharing 

ratios of the venturers and share of net assets upon the expiration of the joint 

venture periods are not in proportion to their capital contribution ratios but are as 

defined in the joint venture contracts.

•	 Companies limited by shares

Companies limited by shares are limited liability companies in respect of which each 

shareholder’s beneficial interests therein is in accordance with the amount of the 

voting share capital held thereby.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to 

the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealized losses are also eliminated 

unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. For 

equity accounting purpose, accounting policies of the joint ventures have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(b)	 Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests are the equity in a subsidiary which is not attributable, directly or indirectly, to 

a parent. The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests (namely, acquisitions of additional 

interests and disposals of partial interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control) as 

transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases of additional interests in subsidiaries from 

non-controlling shareholders, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share 

acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on 

disposals of partial interests to non-controlling shareholders are also recorded in equity.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c)	 Intangible assets

(i)	 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill arising 

on acquisitions of associated companies and joint ventures is included in interests in associated 

companies and joint ventures respectively and is tested for impairment as part of overall balance. 

Separately recognized goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses 

on the disposal of all or part of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 

entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”) for the purpose of testing for impairment. 

The allocation is made to those CGU or groups of CGU that are expected to benefit from the 

business combination in which the goodwill arose.

(ii)	 Operating right

Operating right primarily resulted from the acquisition of right to operate facilities management 

and transport businesses. Separately acquired operating rights are initially recognized at cost. 

Operating rights acquired in a business combination are initially recognized at fair value at the 

acquisition date. Operating right is carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment. 

Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the period of the 

operating right.

(iii)	 Intangible concession rights

The Group has entered into various service concessions (“Service Concessions”) with local 

government authorities for its participation in the development, financing, operation and 

maintenance of infrastructural projects (“Infrastructures”). The Group carries out the construction 

or upgrade work of Infrastructures from the granting authorities in exchange for the right to operate 

the Infrastructures concerned and the right to charge users of the respective Infrastructures. 

The fees collected during the operating periods are attributable to the Group. The relevant 

Infrastructures are required to be returned to the local government authorities upon the expiry of 

the operating rights without significant compensation to the Group.

The Group applies the intangible asset model to account for the Infrastructures where they are paid 

by the users of the Infrastructures and the concession grantors (the respective local governments) 

have not provided any contractual guarantees in respect of the amounts of construction costs 

incurred to be recoverable. The consideration to be received during the construction or upgrade 

period is classified as contract assets and reclassified as intangible concession rights upon 

completion.

Land use rights acquired in conjunction with the Service Concessions which the Group has no 

discretion or latitude to deploy for other services other than the use in the Service Concessions are 

treated as intangible assets acquired under the Service Concessions.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c)	 Intangible assets (continued)

(iii)	 Intangible concession rights (continued)

Amortization of intangible concession rights is calculated to write off their costs, where applicable, 

on an economic usage basis for roads whereby the amount of amortization is provided based 

on the ratios of actual volume compared to the total projected volume or on a straight-line basis 

for water treatment plant over the periods which the Group is granted the rights to operate these 

Infrastructures. The total projected volume of the respective Infrastructures is reviewed regularly 

with reference to both internal and external sources of information and appropriate adjustments will 

be made should there be a material change.

(iv)	 Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly represents for computer software. Expenditure on development 

activities is capitalized if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the 

Group has sufficient resources and the intention to complete development. The expenditure 

capitalized includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of 

overheads and borrowing costs, where applicable. Capitalized development costs are stated at 

cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses.

Amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to consolidated income 

statement on a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives or 3 to 5 years, whichever is 

shorter.

(d)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when or as the control of the good or service is transferred to the customer. 

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the good or 

service may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the good or service is transferred over 

time if the Group’s performance:

•	 provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

•	 creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

•	 does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable 

right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the good or service transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period of the contract 

by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, 

revenue is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the good or service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured based on one of 

the following methods that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

•	 direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group to the customer; or

•	 the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation relative to the total 

expected efforts or inputs.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d)	 Revenue recognition (continued)

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable, are capitalized as contract assets and 

subsequently amortized when the related revenue is recognized.

(i)	 Toll revenue

Toll revenue from road operations is recognized at a point in time when services are rendered.

(ii)	 Service fee income

Property and facilities management service fees and property letting agency fee are recognized 

over time and at a point in time respectively when services are rendered.

(iii)	 Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of 

the lease agreements.

(iv)	 Construction revenue

Revenue from construction service contract is recognized over the period of the contract by 

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation using input 

method.

(v)	 Sales of goods

Income from sales of goods is recognized at a point in time when the goods are delivered to 

customers and title has passed.

(vi)	 Fare revenue

Fare revenue from bus and ferry services is recognized at a point in time when the services are 

rendered.

(vii)	 Advertising income

Advertising income is recognized over time when the advertisement or commercial appears before 

the public.

(viii)	 Interest income

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. When 

a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being 

the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, 

and continues to unwind the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is 

recognized using the original effective interest rate.

(ix)	 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d)	 Revenue recognition (continued)

(x)	 Premiums related to insurance business

Premiums arising from insurance contracts in respect of traditional policies and group policies are 

recognized as income when they fall due, whereas those in respect of universal life and unit-linked 

contracts are accounted for as they are received.

Premiums on reinsurance contracts held which related to direct insurance contracts are recognized 

in the consolidated income statement in the same accounting period as the premiums for the direct 

insurance contracts to which they relate.

(xi)	 Fees and commission income related to insurance business

Insurance and investment contract policyholders are charged for policy administration services and 

investment management services. The policy administration fee is recognized as revenue over time 

when services are rendered. Investment management fees related to asset management services 

are recognized over time when services are rendered.

(e)	 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 

the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

(f)	 Leases

The Group leases various land, office buildings and premises. Rental contracts are made for a range 

of fixed periods but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis 

and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any 

covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognized as right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased 

assets are available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and 

finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated income statement over the lease period so as 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The 

right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-

line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities 

primarily include the net present value of the fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 

determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to 

pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment 

with similar terms and conditions.



152 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDNotes to the Financial Statements

3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f)	 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following items:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

•	 any initial direct costs; and

•	 restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-

line basis as an expense in the consolidated income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease 

term of 12 months or less.

Some leases contain variable payment terms that are linked to sales generated. Variable lease payments 

that depend on sales are recognized in the consolidated income statement in the period in which the 

condition that triggers those payments occurs. Most leases are subject to fixed payments.

(g)	 Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied 

by the Group, is classified as investment property. Investment property also includes property that is being 

constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment property comprises land held under operating leases and buildings held under finance leases. 

Land held under operating leases are classified and accounted for as investment property when the rest 

of the definition of investment property is met. The operating lease is accounted for as if it was a finance 

lease.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs and where 

applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value 

is determined by professional valuation or estimation by management conducted at the end of each 

reporting period. Changes in fair values are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is stated at fair 

value.

Subsequent expenditure is included in the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that 

future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can 

be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated income 

statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, 

and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has been changed, any difference resulting 

between the carrying amount and the fair value of this property at the date of transfer is recognized in 

equity as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment. However, if a fair value gives rise to a reversal of 

the previous impairment loss, the write-back is recognized in the consolidated income statement.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. 

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the assets or recognized as a separate asset, 

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow 

to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of replaced part is 

derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged in the consolidated income statement 

during the period in which they are incurred. The carrying amount of an asset is written down immediately 

to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

(i)	 Assets under construction

All direct costs relating to the construction of property, plant and equipment, including borrowing 

costs during the construction period are capitalized as the costs of the assets.

(ii)	 Depreciation

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress until such time when the relevant 

assets are completed and available for intended use.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment are calculated to allocate their cost to their estimated 

residual values over their estimated useful lives or lease terms, using the straight-line method, at 

the following annual rates:

Properties	 2.5% – 5%

Other plant and equipment	 4% – 50%

Buses, vessels and other motor vehicles	 5% – 25%

The residual values and useful lives of the assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 

end of each reporting period.

(iii)	 Gain or loss on disposal

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is 

recognized in the consolidated income statement.

(i)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life (e.g. goodwill) or have not yet been available for use are not 

subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

The carrying amount of an asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the carrying 

amount of the asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized 

in the consolidated income statement for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 

its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value 

in use. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets 

are grouped as CGU for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than 

goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of 

each reporting period.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j)	 Investments and other financial assets

(i)	 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

•	 those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive 

income (“OCI”), or through profit or loss); and

•	 those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and 

the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in consolidated income 

statement or other comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend 

on the business model in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments that 

are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election 

at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies its investments in debt instruments when and only when its business model 

for managing those assets changes.

(ii)	 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date on 

which the group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when 

the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and 

the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(iii)	 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 

financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are 

expensed in consolidated income statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 

whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j)	 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iii)	 Measurement (continued)

(1)	 Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of investments in debt instruments depends on the Group’s 

business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There 

are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortized cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. A gain 

or loss on investment in a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at amortized cost 

and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognized in consolidated income statement 

when the asset is derecognized or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is 

included in interest income using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for sale where the assets’ 

cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. 

Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of 

impairment losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are 

recognized in consolidated income statement. When the financial asset is derecognized, 

the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to 

consolidated income statement and recognized in “other income and gains, net”. Interest 

income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest 

rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment loss are presented in “other 

income and gains, net”.

Financial assets at FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A 

gain or loss on investments in debt instruments that is subsequently measured at FVPL and 

is not part of a hedging relationship is recognized in consolidated income statement and 

presented net within “other income and gains, net” in the period in which it arises.

(2)	 Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all investments in equity instruments at fair value. 

Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on 

investments in equity instruments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent 

reclassification of fair value gains and losses to the consolidated income statement following 

the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be 

recognized in consolidated income statement as “other income and gains, net” when the 

Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of investments in equity instruments at FVPL recognized in 

“other income and gains, net” in the consolidated income statement. Investments in equity 

instruments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortized cost, including trade and other receivables, amounts 

receivable from associated companies and joint ventures and cash and bank balances, and debt 

instruments as financial assets at FVOCI as well as contract assets are subject to expected credit loss 

model under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”).

For trade receivables, retention money receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified 

approach for provision for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which requires the use of the 

lifetime expected credit loss provision for these assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month expected credit 

loss, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group 

recognizes lifetime expected credit loss. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 4(b) details how the Group determines whether there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk.

(l)	 Deferred income

Deferred income is included in both current and non-current liabilities and is credited to the consolidated 

income statement on a straight-line basis over the concession periods.

(m)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting 

for subsequent changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 

instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives 

as hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognized assets or liabilities or highly 

probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges) or the changes in fair value of recognized assets or 

liabilities (fair value hedges).

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the economic relationship between hedging 

instruments and hedged items including whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging instruments are 

expected to offset changes in the cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents its risk management 

objective and strategy for undertaking its hedge transactions.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments designated in hedge relationships are disclosed in note 

27. Movements in the hedge reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in note 37. The full fair value of a 

hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged 

item is more than 12 months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of 

the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

(i)	 Cash flow hedges that qualify for hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify 

as cash flow hedges is recognized in OCI and accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve 

within equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the 

consolidated income statement.

When option contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, the Group designates only the 

intrinsic value of the options as the hedging instrument.

Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change in intrinsic value of the options are 

recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The changes in the time value of the 

options that relate to the hedged item (‘aligned time value’) are recognized in OCI and accumulated 

in the costs of hedging reserve within equity.

When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, the group generally designates 

only the change in fair value of the forward contract related to the spot component as the hedging 

instrument. Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the change in the spot component 

of the forward contracts are recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve within equity. The change 

in the forward element of the contract that relates to the hedged item (‘aligned forward element’) is 

recognized in OCI and accumulated in the costs of hedging reserve within equity. In some cases, 

the Group may designate the full change in fair value of the forward contract (including forward 

points) as the hedging instrument. In such cases, the gains or losses relating to the effective portion 

of the change in fair value of the entire forward contract are recognized in OCI and accumulated in 

the cash flow hedge reserve within equity.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the periods when the hedged item affects profit 

or loss, as follows:

•	 Where the hedged item subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset, 

both the deferred hedging gains and losses and the deferred time value of the option 

contracts or deferred forward points, if any, are included within the initial cost of such asset. 

The deferred amounts are ultimately recognized in consolidated income statement as the 

hedged item affects profit or loss.

•	 The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of the hedging instruments is recognized in 

consolidated income statement at the same time as expense on the hedged items.

•	 When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer 

meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred gain or loss and deferred 

costs of hedging in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction 

occurs, resulting in the recognition of a non-financial asset. When the forecast transaction is 

no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging that 

were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to the consolidated income statement.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m)	 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

(ii)	 Fair value hedges

Change in the fair value on hedging instrument is recognized in OCI and accumulated in the fair 

value hedge reserve within equity when the hedged item is an equity instrument for which the 

Group has elected to presents changes in fair value in OCI.

(iii)	 Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any 

derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are recognized immediately in the 

consolidated income statement.

(n)	 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed 

in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or 

less (or in the normal operation cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, 

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 

contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the 

trade and other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures 

them subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The Group’s impairment policies 

are further described in notes 3(k) and 4(b).

(o)	 Inventories

Inventories comprise stocks and work in progress and are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value. Cost is determined using the weighted average or the first-in first-out methods depending on the 

operating segments. Net realizable value is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less 

estimated selling expenses.

(p)	 Contracts assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains rights to receive consideration from the 

customer and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives rise to a net contract asset or a 

net contract liability depending on the relationship between the remaining rights and the performance 

obligations. The contract is an asset and recognized as contract assets if the cumulative revenue 

recognized in consolidated income statement exceeds cumulative payments made by customers. 

Conversely, the contract is a liability and recognized as contract liabilities if the cumulative payments made 

by customers exceeds the revenue recognized in consolidated income statement.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same approach adopted for impairment assessment 

of trade receivables as described in notes 3(k) and 4(b). Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue 

when the Group transfers the goods or services to the customers and therefore satisfied its performance 

obligation.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(p)	 Contracts assets and contract liabilities (continued)

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer are capitalized and presented as contract  

related assets, if the Group expects to recover those costs, and are subsequently amortized on a 

systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customers of the goods or services to which 

the assets relate. The Group recognizes an impairment loss in the consolidated income statement to the 

extent that the carrying amount of the contract related assets recognized exceeds the remaining amounts 

of consideration that the Group expects to receive less the costs that relate directly to providing those 

goods or services that have not been recognized as expenses.

(q)	 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held-for-sale and discontinued 
operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held-for-sale when their carrying amount is to be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated 

at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For assets such as deferred tax 

assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets and investment property that are carried at 

fair value, would continue to be measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 3.

A remeasurement loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal 

group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognized for any subsequent increase in fair value less 

costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative remeasurement loss 

previously recognized. A gain or loss not previously recognized by the date of the sale of the non-current 

asset (or disposal group) is recognized at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortized 

while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a 

disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognized.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 

are presented separately from the other assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 

liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held 

for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is 

part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area 

of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of discontinued 

operations are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income.

(r)	 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits 

held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 

or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings under current liabilities in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s)	 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course 

of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 

one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as 

non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 

the effective interest method.

(t)	 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount 

has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow of resources will be required 

in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized 

even if the likelihood of an outflow of resources with respect to any one item included in the same class of 

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 

interest expense.

(u)	 Share capital and perpetual capital securities

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Perpetual capital securities with no contractual obligation to repay its principal or to pay any distribution 

are classified as part of equity.

(v)	 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be 

confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognized 

because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation 

cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognized but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a 

change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognized as a 

provision.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v)	 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets (continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of 

the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognized but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an 

inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognized.

(w)	 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated 

income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income 

or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 

at the end of the reporting period in the regions where the Group, associated companies and joint ventures 

operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns 

with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes 

provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, 

the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction other than a business combination that at the time of transaction affects neither accounting 

nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 

related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associated 

companies and joint ventures except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 

controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities 

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable 

entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(x)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying assets are capitalized during the 

construction period when the asset is being prepared for its intended use. Other borrowing costs are 

expensed as incurred.

(y)	 Foreign currencies

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 

currency”). The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional and presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 

period are recognized in the consolidated income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Translation differences on financial assets and liabilities held at FVPL are recognized in consolidated 

income statement as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 

financial assets, such as equity instruments as financial assets at FVOCI, are included in other 

comprehensive income.

(iii)	 Group companies

The results and financial position of all the entities of the Group that have a functional currency 

different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)	 assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are 

translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of that consolidated statement of 

financial position;

(2)	 income and expenses for each consolidated income statement are translated at the 

average exchange rate during the period covered by the consolidated income statement; 

and

(3)	 all resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 

operations are taken to equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising 

are recognized in equity.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(y)	 Foreign currencies (continued)

(iv)	 Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss 

of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences 

accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the equity holders of the Company 

are reclassified to the consolidated income statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary 

that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are 

re-attributed to non-controlling interests and not recognized in the consolidated income statement. 

For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in associated 

companies or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint 

control) the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to the 

consolidated income statement.

(z)	 Employee benefits

(i)	 Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision 

is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up 

to the end of the reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not 

recognized until the time of leave.

(ii)	 Bonus plans

Provision for bonus plans are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation 

can be made.

(iii)	 Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays contributions into a 

separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions 

if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee 

service in the current and prior periods. Contributions to defined contribution plans including 

the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme and employee pension schemes established by 

municipal governments in the Mainland are expensed as incurred. Contributions are reduced by 

contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the 

contributions, where applicable.



164 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDNotes to the Financial Statements

3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(z)	 Employee benefits (continued)

(iv)	 Defined benefit plans

Defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 

retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of services and 

compensation.

The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined 

benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the 

reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 

annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the 

defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 

interest rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period based 

on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be 

paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 

assumptions are credited or charged to other comprehensive income in the period in which they 

arise.

(v)	 Share-based compensation

The Group operates equity-settled, share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the 

employee services received in exchange for the grant of share options is recognized as an 

expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to 

the fair value of the options granted at the date of grant, excluding the impact of any non-market 

vesting conditions. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number 

of options that are expected to vest. It recognizes the impact of the revision of original estimates, if 

any, in the consolidated income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

At the expiration of options, the accumulated balance of special reserve recognized for those 

options is reclassified to revenue reserve.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share 

capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

(aa)	 Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities

Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 

incurred. Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any 

difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the 

consolidated income statement or capitalized as stated in note 3(x) over the period of the borrowings using 

the effective interest method.

Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 

period.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(ab)	 Segment reporting

Operating segment are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive Committee 

that makes strategic decisions.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment properties, intangible 

concession rights, intangible assets, VOBA, right-of-use assets, DAC, financial assets at FVOCI, financial 

assets at FVPL, derivative financial instruments, other non-current assets, investments related to unit-

linked contracts, inventories, receivables and cash and bank balances. Segment liabilities primarily 

comprise payables, other non-current liabilities, insurance and investment contracts liabilities, liabilities 

related to unit-linked contracts, taxation, borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities, derivative 

financial instruments, deferred tax liabilities and lease liabilities. Additions to non-current assets other than 

financial instruments, deferred tax assets and post-employment benefit assets, VOBA and DAC comprise 

additions to investment properties, property, plant and equipment, intangible concession rights, intangible 

assets and right-of-use assets.

(ac)	 Insurance and investment contracts

(i)	 Product classification

The Group’s insurance business issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or 

both.

Insurance contracts are those contracts for which the Group has accepted significant insurance 

risk from policyholders providing insurance coverage at the inception of the contract. As a general 

guideline, the Group determines whether it has significant insurance risk by comparing benefits 

paid with benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. The Group also accepts financial risk 

on insurance contracts. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in a specified interest 

rate, security price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of price or rate, credit rating or 

credit index or other variables.

Investment contracts are those contracts for which the Group has not accepted significant 

insurance risk but accepts financial risk.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract 

for the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, 

unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or expired.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(ac)	 Insurance and investment contracts (continued)

(ii)	 Insurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities represent net future policy liabilities as determined by the appointed 

actuary of the Group using a net level premium approach.

The provision for life insurance contracts with fixed level premiums is calculated on the basis of the 

prospective actuarial valuation method where the assumptions used depend on the circumstances 

prevailing. The liability is determined as the sum of the expected discounted value of the benefit 

payments, less the expected discounted value of the theoretical premiums that would be required 

to meet the benefits, based on the valuation assumptions as to discount rates, mortality and 

morbidity rates, lapse and partial lapse rates, persistency, expenses, inflation, policy dividend and 

fund growth rate that are appropriate at the time of valuation. Changes to the liabilities at each 

reporting date are recorded in the consolidated income statement or other comprehensive income 

for the year as appropriate.

For insurance contracts that are yearly renewable, which mainly correspond to products with pure 

risk coverage such as accident benefit, dread disease, medical insurance and disability insurance, 

the liabilities for the unexpired risks carried at the end of the reporting period are determined using 

unearned gross premiums approach.

The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled.

(iii)	 Investment contract liabilities

Liabilities for investment contracts are carried at fair values.

Deposits and withdrawals are recorded directly as an adjustment to the liability in the consolidated 

statements of financial position.

The liability is derecognized when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled. For a contract 

that can be cancelled by the policyholder, the fair value cannot be less than the surrender value.

(iv)	 Reinsurance

The Group cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business for its insurance contracts. 

Reinsurance assets represent balances due from reinsurance companies. Recoverable amounts 

are estimated in a manner consistent with the insurance contract liabilities and are in accordance 

with the reinsurance contract and are accounted for in the same period as the underlying claim.

An impairment review is performed at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of 

impairment arises during the reporting year. Impairment occurs when objective evidence exists that 

the Group may not recover outstanding amounts under the terms of the contract and when the 

impact on the amounts that the Group will receive from the reinsurer can be measured reliably. The 

impairment loss is recorded in the consolidated income statement for the year.

Reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policyholders.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(ac)	 Insurance and investment contracts (continued)

(v)	 VOBA

VOBA, in respect of a portfolio of long-term insurance and investment contracts, is an intangible 

asset that reflects the estimated fair value of in-force contracts in acquisition of an insurance 

company and represents the portion of the purchase price that is allocated to the value of the 

right to receive future cash flows from the business in-force at the acquisition date. VOBA is based 

on actuarially determined projections, by each block of business, of future policy and contract 

charges, premiums, mortality and morbidity, separate account performance, surrenders, operating 

expenses, investment returns and other factors. VOBA is amortized over the estimated life of the 

contracts in the acquired portfolio on a systematic basis primarily based on expected future profits. 

The carrying value of VOBA is reviewed annually for impairment and any reduction is charged to 

the consolidated income statement.

(vi)	 DAC

The direct acquisition costs and a portion of indirect acquisition costs relating to the production 

of new business are deferred so far as there are sufficient margins in the future profits of the new 

business to fund the amortization of DAC. DAC include first year commissions and other costs 

related to the acquisition of new business. All other acquisition costs and all maintenance costs 

are expensed as and when incurred. The Group has adopted an approach by which DAC of new 

business is amortized according to the expected future premiums or expected future profits, which 

are projected based on the Group’s best estimate assumptions and actual persistency.

(vii)	 Liability adequacy test

A liability adequacy test is performed at each reporting date to verify whether the insurance 

contract liabilities, net of DAC and VOBA, are adequate using current estimates of future cash 

flows under the insurance contracts. The liability value is adjusted if insufficient to meet future 

obligations, taking into account the future premiums, investment income, benefits and expenses 

and cash flows from embedded options and guarantees. If the test shows that a deficiency exists, 

the shortfall is immediately recorded in the consolidated income statement for the year.

(viii)	 Benefits and insurance claims

Death claims and surrenders are recorded when notifications have been received. Maturities and 

annuity payments are recorded when due.

Ceded reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same period as the underlying claim.

(ix)	 Commissions and bonuses

Commissions and bonuses payable to agents for the first policy year are included as a component 

of DAC.

Commissions from reinsurance policies that transfer underwriting risk are recognized as income at 

the same time as the reinsurance premiums are accounted for.
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3	 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(ac)	 Insurance and investment contracts (continued)

(x)	 Premium receivables

Premium receivables represent premiums which are due for payment. The Group normally allows 

policyholders to make payment within a grace period of one month from the due date. The grace 

period may be extended by management purely on a discretionary basis. Insurance policies 

continue in force if default premiums are settled before the expiry of the grace period.

Premium receivables are stated at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less 

provision for impairment.

(xi)	 Application of overlay approach in accordance with HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” 

(“HKFRS 4”) (Amendment)

The Group elected to apply an “overlay approach” in accordance with HKFRS 4 (Amendments) 

“Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts” which allows 

the Group to reclassify fair value gain or loss from consolidated income statement to other 

comprehensive income for those designated eligible financial assets previously classified as 

available-for-sale financial assets under HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement” (“HKAS 39”) but currently classified as financial assets at FVPL under HKFRS 9.

(ad)	 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the consolidated financial 

statements in the financial period when the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders and/

or directors, where appropriate.

(ae)	 Financial guarantee contracts

The Group accounts for its financial guarantee contracts as insurance contracts.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period the liabilities under its insurance contracts using 

current estimates of future cash flows. Changes in carrying amount of these insurance liabilities are 

recognized in the consolidated income statement.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk 

and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group is also exposed to insurance risk relating to the activities of 

its insurance business.

The Group has centralized treasury function for all of its subsidiaries in a manner consistent with the overall 

policies of the Group.

(a)	 Market risk

(i)	 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing 

assets and liabilities. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates 

will impact cash flows arising from variable rate financial instruments. The Group’s interest bearing 

assets on a floating rate basis mainly include cash deposits and amounts due from associated 

companies and joint ventures. The Group’s borrowings are mainly on a floating rate basis, which 

will be affected by fluctuation of prevailing market interest rates and will expose the Group to cash 

flow interest rate risk.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest risk mainly in relation to the bond investments 

classified as financial assets at FVOCI and derivative financial instruments. Fair value interest rate 

risk is the risk that the fair value of the future cash flows of the financial instruments will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest risk policy requires it to manage the interest rate risk by maintaining an 

appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments.

Variable interest bearing financial assets and liabilities are mainly subject to an interest re-pricing 

risk of one year or below.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2020: 100 basis points) higher/lower with all other 

variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the year would have been HK$79.3 million lower/

higher (2020: HK$144.9 million lower/higher) respectively and the Group’s other reserves would 

have been HK$6.3 billion lower/higher (2020: HK$5.5 billion lower/higher) respectively.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had 

occurred throughout the year and had been applied to calculate the exposure to interest rate 

risk for financial instruments in existence at the end of the reporting period. The 100 basis points 

increase or decrease represents a reasonably possible change in those interest rates which 

have the most impact on the Group over the period until the end of the next reporting period. 

Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-

interest financial instruments. Changes in market interest rates also affect the fair values of bond 

investments classified as financial assets at FVOCI and fair values of derivative financial instruments. 

As a consequence, they are included in the calculation of sensitivities.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(ii)	 Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and the Mainland. Entities within the Group are exposed 

to foreign exchange risk from future commercial transactions and monetary assets and liabilities 

that are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group’s foreign currency exposure arises from that are denominated in foreign currencies 

other than its functional currency. The Group monitors and controls this foreign exchange risk by 

entering into foreign exchange forward contracts and cross currency swaps contracts to cover 

its major foreign currency exposure. Besides, the Group also manages its foreign currency risk by 

closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and will consider to enter into foreign 

forward exchange contracts and cross currency swaps contracts to reduce the exposure should 

the need arises.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s entities with functional currency of Hong Kong dollar had net 

monetary assets denominated in United States dollar of HK$23,527.1 million (2020: HK$20,861.2 

million). Under the Linked Exchange Rate System in Hong Kong, Hong Kong dollar is pegged 

to the United States dollar, management therefore considers that there is no significant foreign 

exchange risk with respect to the United States dollar.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s entities with functional currency of Hong Kong dollar had net 

monetary assets denominated in Renminbi of HK$96.4 million (2020: HK$602.7 million) which 

the related foreign exchange risk has not been hedged. If Hong Kong dollar had strengthened/

weakened by 5% against Renminbi with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the 

year would have been HK$4.8 million (2020: HK$30.1 million) lower/higher respectively.

This sensitivity analysis ignores any offsetting foreign exchange factors and has been determined 

assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of the reporting 

period. The stated change represents reasonably next possible changes in foreign exchange rates 

over the period until the end of the next reporting period. Foreign exchange risk arise on account of 

monetary assets and liabilities being denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency, 

differences resulting from the translation of financial statements into the Group’s presentation 

currency are not taken into consideration.

(iii)	 Price risk

The Group is exposed to securities price risk because the Group held listed and unlisted 

investments of which the fair value are subject to changes in market prices. Gains and losses 

arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI and FVPL are dealt with in other 

comprehensive income or consolidated income statement respectively. The performance of the 

Group’s listed and unlisted investments are monitored regularly, together with an assessment of 

their relevance to the Group’s strategic plans.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(a)	 Market risk (continued)

(iii)	 Price risk (continued)

As at 30 June 2021, if the price of listed and unlisted investments, classified as financial assets 

at FVOCI (note 25) and financial assets at FVPL (note 26), excluding the bond investments, had 

been 25% higher/lower with all other variables held constant and did not assume the application 

of “overlay approach” as described in note 3(ac)(xi), the Group’s FVOCI reserves would have been 

HK$619.2 million (2020: HK$701.6 million) higher/lower respectively and profit for the year would 

have been HK$2,811.5 million (2020: HK$2,075.4 million) higher/lower respectively. If the price of 

the abovementioned investments had been 25% higher/lower with all other variables held constant 

but assumed the “overlay approach” was applied, the Group’s FVOCI reserves would have been 

HK$2,377.9 million (2020: HK$1,679.7 million) higher/lower respectively and the profit for the year 

would have been HK$1,052.8 million (2020: HK$1,097.3 million) higher/lower respectively. The 

sensitivity analysis has been determined based on a reasonable expectation of possible valuation 

volatility over the next 12 months.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group is also exposed to the upside risk of fuel prices as it has heavy 

demand on fuel for its transport business. The Group managed its exposure to this risk by using 

fuel price swap contracts if considered appropriate.

(b)	 Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from debt instruments, deposits with banks, trade, premium and 

other receivables, and balances receivable from group companies, including amounts due from associated 

companies and joint ventures. 

The Group considers the probability of default from initial recognition of assets and whether there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis by close monitoring against established credit 

policies in each of its business. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group 

compares the risk of a default occurring on the assets, generally on individual basis, as at the reporting 

date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and 

supportive forward-looking information. The following indicators are generally incorporated:

•	 external credit rating (if any);

•	 average default rate by independent external parties;

•	 actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 

are expected to cause a significant change to the counterparties’ ability to meet their obligations; 

and

•	 significant actual and expected changes in the performance and behaviour of the counterparties, 

including changes in the payment status of counterparties in the Group and changes in the 

operating results of the counterparties.

A default on a financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments when they fall 

due. Financial assets are considered to be credit-impaired and written off when there is no reasonable 

expectation of recovery.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(b)	 Credit risk (continued)

Deposits with banks are mainly placed with high-credit-quality financial institutions and the balances are 

considered to be of low credit risk. Debt instruments are limited to financial institutions or investment 

counterparties with high quality. Aaa and AAA are the highest credit ratings in the Moody’s and Standard 

& Poor’s credit rating systems respectively. The Group classifies its investment in bonds below ratings 

of Baa3 and BBB– in the Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s credit rating systems respectively as non-

investment grade bonds. As at 30 June 2021, the amount of the non-investment grade bonds held by the 

Group was approximately 3.2% (2020: 1.5%) of its invested assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets in relation to provision of services and infrastructure operations, 

expected credit loss allowance has been provided under lifetime expected credit loss assessment on 

individual basis with reference to the historical credit loss experience with counterparties and ageing 

analysis, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the counterparties and the economic environment. 

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables and contract assets from third 

party customers as the customer bases are widely dispersed in different industries.

To determine expected credit loss, the Group refers to probability of default and recovery rate tables from 

Moody’s study, which are derived based on default history of obligors with the same credit rating. The 

Group has also considered the forward-looking information by incorporating a set of weighted average 

different economic scenarios developed by Moody’s.

In relation to premium receivables from insurance business, the credit risk in respect of policyholder 

balances, incurred on the non-payment of premiums or contributions, will only persist during the grace 

period specified in the policy documents or trust deed on the expiry of which either the premium is paid 

or the policy will be terminated or changed to reduced paid-up or term cover according to the provision of 

the policy.

In addition, the Group monitors the exposure to credit risk in respect of the financial assistance provided 

to associated companies and joint ventures through exercising joint control or influence over their financial 

and operating policy decisions and reviewing their financial positions on a regular basis. The Group 

determines the probability of default and recovery rate based on the underlying financial information, the 

actual and expected changes in business performance and general market default and recovery rate. The 

Group has also considered the forward-looking information by incorporating a set of different economic 

scenarios.

Impairment on debt instruments, cash and bank balances, financial assistance provided to associated 

companies and joint ventures, other receivables and other non-current assets is measured as either 

12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has 

been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a 

receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then loss allowance is measured as lifetime expected 

credit losses.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of financial assets in the 

consolidated statement of financial position after deducting any loss allowance.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(c)	 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes managing the profile of debt maturities and funding sources, 

maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and ensuring the availability of funding from an 

adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. It is the 

policy of the Group to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and to ensure that 

adequate funding is available for operating, investing and financing activities. The Group also maintains 

undrawn committed credit facilities to further reduce liquidity risk in meeting funding requirements (including 

financing for the Group’s capital commitments as detailed in note 47). The directors of the Company are 

of the view that the Group has sufficient resources to meet the Group’s commitments and liabilities as and 

when they fall due.

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 

remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date, except for the liabilities 

related to unit-linked contracts where these unit-linked contracts typically include options for policyholders 

to surrender early, often subject to surrender or other penalties. The Group’s investments related to unit-

linked contracts are held for backing the liabilities to the policyholders.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash outflow/(inflows).

As at 30 June 2021

Non-derivative financial liabilities

HK$’m Note

Carrying 

amount

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years

Over 

5 years Unit-linked

Trade payables 44 627.9 627.9 627.8 0.1 – –

Retention money payables and 

other payables 8,198.8 8,198.8 6,976.7 1,222.1 – –

Payables to policyholders 44 1,709.6 1,709.6 1,709.6 – – –

Amounts due to non-controlling 

interests 44 146.2 146.2 110.3 35.9 – –

Amounts due to associated 

companies 44 6.0 6.0 6.0 – – –

Amounts due to joint ventures 44 56.4 56.4 56.4 – – –

Liabilities related to unit-linked 

contracts  

– Investment contract liabilities 31(b) 10,142.5 10,142.5 – – – 10,142.5

Borrowings and other interest-

bearing liabilities 39 25,348.0 28,411.5 2,613.0 17,147.6 8,650.9 –

Loans from non-controlling 

interests 43 25.0 25.0 – 25.0 – –

Lease liabilities 42 1,306.7 1,474.1 272.6 836.8 364.7 –

Derivative financial liabilities

HK$’m

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years

Over 

5 years

Derivative financial instruments  

(net settlement) 103.8 27.5 106.2 (29.9)

Derivative financial instruments  

(gross settlement)

Cash inflow (520.1) (246.1) (274.0) –

Cash outflow 521.4 246.7 274.7 –

1.3 0.6 0.7 –
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 30 June 2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities

HK$’m Note

Carrying 

amount

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years

Over 

5 years Unit-linked

Trade payables 44 584.8 584.8 584.7 0.1 – –

Retention money payables and 

other payables 8,734.5 8,734.5 6,552.2 2,142.7 39.6 –

Payables to policyholders 44 1,468.8 1,468.8 1,468.8 – – –

Amounts due to non-controlling 

interests 44 155.3 155.3 155.3 – – –

Amounts due to associated 

companies 44 1.5 1.5 1.5 – – –

Amounts due to joint ventures 44 56.4 56.4 56.4 – – –

Liabilities related to unit-linked 

contracts  

– Investment contract liabilities 31(b) 8,554.9 8,554.9 – – – 8,554.9

Borrowings and other interest-

bearing liabilities 39 30,955.7 34,842.8 4,786.2 20,032.1 10,024.5 –

Loans from non-controlling 

interests 43 28.9 28.9 – 28.9 – –

Lease liabilities 42 1,952.4 2,199.8 441.1 1,207.1 551.6 –

Derivative financial liabilities

HK$’m

Total 

contractual 

undiscounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year or 

on demand

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years

Over 

5 years

Derivative financial instruments  

(net settlement) 228.6 123.2 153.8 (48.4)

Derivative financial instruments  

(gross settlement)

Cash inflow (1,127.9) (249.4) (647.8) (230.7)

Cash outflow 1,141.4 250.5 657.4 233.5

 13.5 1.1 9.6 2.8
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)

The major liquidity risks the Group’s insurance business confronts are the daily calls on its available cash 

resources in respect of claims arising from insurance and investment contracts and the maturity of debt 

instruments.

The Group’s insurance business manages liquidity through its liquidity risk policy which includes 

determining what constitutes liquidity risk and the minimum proportion of funds to meet emergency calls, 

the setting up of contingency funding plans, specifying the sources of funding and the events that would 

trigger the plan, specifying the concentration of funding sources, the reporting of liquidity risk exposures 

and breaches to the monitoring authority, monitoring the compliance with liquidity risk policy and the 

reviewing of liquidity risk policy for pertinence and changing environment.

The table below presents the estimated amounts (on a discounted basis) and timing of cash outflow/

(inflow) arising from liabilities under insurance contracts, projected based on the Group’s best estimate 

assumptions. The Group’s insurance business has to meet daily calls on its cash resources, notably 

from claims arising on its insurance contracts and early surrender of policies for surrender value. There 

is therefore a risk that cash will not be available to settle liabilities when due at a reasonable cost. The 

Group’s insurance business manages this risk by monitoring and setting an appropriate level of cash 

position to settle these liabilities.

As at 30 June 2021

HK$’m Note

Total

 discounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years

Over 

5 years

Insurance contract liabilities 41(a) 42,497.5 3,861.4 (2,280.9) 40,917.0

As at 30 June 2020

HK$’m Note

Total 

discounted 

cash flow

Within 

1 year

Over 1 year 

but within 

5 years

Over 

5 years

Insurance contract liabilities 41(a) 34,894.7 3,200.5 (2,332.1) 34,026.3
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(d)	 Asset liability management framework

The Group’s insurance business exposes to financial risks arise from open positions in interest rate, 

currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements. The 

main risks that the Group’s insurance business faces due to the nature of its investments and liabilities are 

interest rate risk and duration risk. The Group’s insurance business manages these positions within an asset 

liability management (“ALM”) framework that has been developed to achieve long term investment returns 

in excess of its obligations under insurance and investment contracts. The principal technique of ALM is to 

match assets to the liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts by reference to the type of 

benefits payable to contract holders.

ALM also forms an integral part of the insurance risk management policy in order to ensure in each period 

sufficient cash flows are available to meet liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts.

(e)	 Regulatory framework of the Group’s insurance business

The operations of the Group’s insurance business are subject to local regulatory requirements in Hong 

Kong. The Group’s insurance business is required to maintain an appropriate solvency position to meet 

unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks and/or natural disasters.

(f)	 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital 

structure and shareholders’ returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group 

and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected 

capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. In order to maintain or adjust the 

capital structure, the Group may issue or repurchase shares, issue perpetual capital securities or raise new 

debt financing.

The Net Gearing Ratios as at 30 June were as follows:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Total borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities 39 (25,348.0) (30,955.7)

Add: Cash and bank balances 32 10,804.6 13,221.8

Net Debt (14,543.4) (17,733.9)

Total equity 58,454.0 57,457.7

Net Gearing Ratio 25% 31%
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(f)	 Capital management (continued)

The decrease of Net Debt was primarily resulted from proceeds from the disposals of interests in NWS 

Transport, NWS HKI and certain non-core businesses/investments, repayment of shareholder’s loan 

and dividends received from associated companies and joint ventures, net of payments of dividends and 

investments made.

The Group’s insurance business has an internal risk management framework for identifying risks to its 

business it exposed to. The internal framework estimates and indicates how much capital is needed to 

mitigate the risk of insolvency.

The Group’s insurance business always maintains a solvency position higher than 150% of the solvency 

margin required by the Insurance Authority (“IA”) to ensure an adequate surplus position. Further objectives 

are set by the Group’s insurance business to maintain a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in 

order to support its business.

The Group’s insurance business manages its capital requirements by assessing probable shortfalls 

between reported and required capital levels on a regular basis. Adjustments to current capital levels 

are made in light of changes in economic conditions and risk characteristics of the Group’s insurance 

business activities.

The Group’s insurance business fully complied with capital requirements imposed by the IA throughout the 

period since acquisition to the reporting date.

(g)	 Insurance risk

The Group’s insurance business is in the business of insuring against the risk of mortality, morbidity, 

disability, critical illness, accidents and related risks. The Group’s insurance business retains a maximum of 

US$150,000 for each risk it insures, with the excess being reinsured through surplus treaties, coinsurance 

treaties, facultative reinsurance, catastrophe treaties and quota share arrangements with reputable 

international reinsurers. Consequently, total claims payable in any given year can be predicted with a 

higher degree of precision. As part of the quality control process, the Group’s insurance business regularly 

invites reinsurers to audit its underwriting and claim practices and procedures, to ensure that it meets the 

highest industry standards.



179ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Notes to the Financial Statements

4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(g)	 Insurance risk (continued)

As at 30 June 2021

HK$’m

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

(note 41(b))

Reinsurer’s 

share of 

insurance 

contract 

liabilities

Net liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

Type of products

Whole life 35,999.2 (1.2) 35,998.0

Term 102.4 (0.3) 102.1

Dread disease 2,092.0 (0.1) 2,091.9

Medical 245.1 – 245.1

Disability 10.7 – 10.7

Accident 24.1 (0.1) 24.0

38,473.5 (1.7) 38,471.8

Coinsurance liabilities 363.0 – 363.0

38,836.5 (1.7) 38,834.8
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(g)	 Insurance risk (continued)

As at 30 June 2020

HK$’m

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

(note 41(b))

Reinsurer’s 

share of 

insurance 

contract 

liabilities

Net liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

Type of products

Whole life 29,069.6 (23.8) 29,045.8

Term 97.0 (0.3) 96.7

Dread disease 1,890.3 (0.1) 1,890.2

Medical 226.1 – 226.1

Disability 11.1 (0.1) 11.0

Accident 21.6 (0.1) 21.5

31,315.7 (24.4) 31,291.3

Coinsurance liabilities 244.7 – 244.7

31,560.4 (24.4) 31,536.0
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(g)	 Insurance risk (continued)

(i)	 Key assumptions

Liabilities on insurance contracts offered by the Group are predominantly conventional whole life 

insurance for which premiums are paid for a limited period of time or the whole of life, with fixed 

benefits paid upon death and surrender benefits increasing with the duration of policy.

Some plans provide for guaranteed periodic payments. Most of the whole life insurance products 

are entitled to annual dividends and some with terminal dividend upon policy termination.

The key assumptions used for the determination of future liabilities for most products is detailed 

below:

As at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020

Mortality rates For products with full underwriting, 62% of 2001 Hong Kong Assured Life 

Mortality tables for males and females, with selection factor 50% at year 1 

and 75% at year 2.

For products without full underwriting, 62% of 2001 Hong Kong Assured Life 

Mortality tables for males and females.

Discount rates Range between 2.00% and 4.10%, depending on the insurance plan policies

Lapse rates Based on Group’s experience

Expenses Based on Group’s experience

The method of calculating the liabilities is the net level premium reserve, with an adjustment to 

remove premium deficiency.

The Group’s actual claims compared to the mortality experience assumed in the calculation of 

future insurance contract liabilities, for the current year, is 73% (2020: 114%).
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(g)	 Insurance risk (continued)

(ii)	 Sensitivities

The sensitivity analyzes below have been determined based on reasonably possible changes in the 

respective key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while holding all the other 

assumptions constant.

As at 30 June 2021

Assumption 

change

(Decrease)/ 

increase 

in profit 

for the year 

and equity

 HK$’m

Mortality rates +10% (230.7)

Discount rates -50 basis points (2,442.6)

Lapse rates +20% 253.2

Expenses +10% (59.6)

As at 30 June 2020

Assumption

 change

(Decrease)/ 

increase 

in profit 

for the year 

and equity

 HK$’m

Mortality rates +10% (217.7)

Discount rates -50 basis points (2,378.5)

Lapse rates +20% 221.1

Expenses +10% (56.4)
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(h)	 Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts and fair value disclosures of the financial instruments of the Group are as follows:

(i)	 Listed investments are stated at market prices. The quoted market price used for financial assets 

held by the Group is the bid price at the end of the reporting period. Unlisted investments are 

stated at fair values which are estimated using other prices observed in recent transactions or 

valuation techniques when the market is not readily available.

(ii)	 The fair value of long-term financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future contractual 

cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial 

instruments.

(iii)	 The carrying values of bank balances, receivables, payables and short-term borrowings 

approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

(iv)	 The following table presents the Group’s financial instruments, including financial assets at 

FVOCI, financial assets at FVPL, derivative financial instruments, investments related to unit-linked 

contracts, investment contract liabilities and liabilities related to united-linked contracts, that are 

measured at fair value at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 respectively:

•	 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).

•	 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

•	 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Management determined the fair value of these financial assets within Level 2 and Level 3 as 

follows:

•	 The fair value of forward starting swap contracts and forward exchange contracts is 

determined by discounting the contractual future cash flows. The discount rate used is 

derived from the relevant swap curve as at the reporting date, with potential adjustment 

made for various collateralization agreement when appropriate;

•	 The fair value of cross currency swap contracts is determined by discounting the 

contractual future cash flows. The exchange rate and discount rate used are derived from 

the relevant foreign exchange forward rates and swap curve as at the reporting date, with 

potential adjustment made for various collateralization agreement when appropriate;

•	 For investments in unlisted investment funds, management discussed with the respective 

fund managers to understand the performance of the underlying investments and fair 

value measurement basis conducted by the respective fund managers in order to evaluate 

whether the fair values as stated in the fund statements at the end of reporting period is 

appropriate;
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(h)	 Fair value estimation (continued)

(iv)	 (continued)

•	 For investments in equity and debt instruments with recent transactions, management 

determined the fair value at the end of reporting period with reference to recent transaction 

prices of these financial assets. Investments in bonds are classified as Level 2 financial 

instruments if there was no active market for such instruments;

•	 For investments in equity and debt instruments without recent transactions, management 

has established fair values of these investments by using appropriate valuation techniques 

such as discounted cash flow with the credit risk of the issuer taken into consideration for 

investments in bonds. Independent external valuer has been involved in determining the fair 

value, when appropriate; and

•	 The fair values of the investment contract liabilities and liabilities related to unit-linked 

contracts are determined with reference to the accumulation value.

As at 30 June 2021

HK$’m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Financial assets at FVOCI

– Equity instruments 2,404.1 – 72.7 2,476.8

– Debt instruments 29,260.2 13,050.3 – 42,310.5

Financial assets at FVPL

– Equity instruments 333.6 117.0 276.5 727.1

– Debt instruments – 385.1 1,361.2 1,746.3

– Investment funds 7,213.7 – 3,336.6 10,550.3

Derivative financial instruments – 658.2 801.8 1,460.0

Investments related to  

unit-linked contracts

– Investment funds 10,717.1 – – 10,717.1

49,928.7 14,210.6 5,848.8 69,988.1

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments – (102.8) – (102.8)

Investment contract liabilities – (5.3) – (5.3)

Liabilities related to unit-linked 

contracts

– Investments contract liabilities – (10,142.5) – (10,142.5)

– (10,250.6) – (10,250.6)
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(h)	 Fair value estimation (continued)

(iv)	 (continued)

As at 30 June 2020

HK$’m Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Financial assets at FVOCI

– Equity instruments 2,448.8 357.6 – 2,806.4

– Debt instruments 21,630.6 14,102.8 – 35,733.4

Financial assets at FVPL

– Equity instruments 130.0 117.0 139.9 386.9

– Debt instruments 0.1 1,284.0 248.2 1,532.3

– Investment funds 3,557.5 – 3,384.7 6,942.2

Derivative financial instruments – 1,493.8 478.9 1,972.7

Investments related to 

unit-linked contracts

– Investment funds 8,884.2 – – 8,884.2

36,651.2 17,355.2 4,251.7 58,258.1

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments – (237.0) (1.4) (238.4)

Investment contract liabilities – (5.4) – (5.4)

Liabilities related to unit-linked 

contracts

– Investments contract liabilities – (8,554.9) – (8,554.9)

– (8,797.3) (1.4) (8,798.7)

During the year, there were transfer of debt instruments as financial assets at FVOCI relating 

to the Group’s insurance business with fair value of HK$3,106.8 million from Level 2 to Level 1 

(2020: HK$1,650.5 million from Level 1 to Level 2) fair value hierarchy classifications. Assets are 

transferred into or out of Level 1 based on whether they are transacted with sufficient frequency 

and volume in an active market.
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(h)	 Fair value estimation (continued)

(iv)	 (continued)

The following table presents the changes/transfers in Level 3 financial instruments for FY2021:

Assets Liabilities

Financial Financial Derivative Derivative
assets at assets at financial financial

HK$’m FVOCI FVPL assets Total liabilities

As at 1 July 2020 – 3,772.8 478.9 4,251.7 (1.4)
Transfer to Level 1 – (46.4) – (46.4) –
Transfer from Level 2 89.7 312.0 – 401.7 –
Translation differences – 13.4 – 13.4 –
Purchases/issues – 2,195.3 – 2,195.3 (280.0)
Disposals/settlement – (1,622.7) – (1,622.7) 280.0
Net fair value changes 

recognized in OCI (17.0) – 322.9 305.9 –
Net fair value changes 

recognized in 
consolidated income 
statement – 349.9 – 349.9 1.4

As at 30 June 2021 72.7 4,974.3 801.8 5,848.8 –

Net unrealized fair value 
changes recognized in 
consolidated income 
statement relating to 
balances held as at  
30 June 2021 – 128.4 – 128.4 –

The following table presents the changes/transfers in Level 3 financial instruments for FY2020:

Assets Liabilities

Financial Derivative Derivative
assets at financial financial

HK$’m FVPL assets Total liabilities

As at 1 July 2019 2,834.8 – 2,834.8 (7.3)
Transfer to Level 2 (164.0) – (164.0) –
Translation differences (7.7) – (7.7) –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 471.2 283.0 754.2 –
Purchases 662.0 – 662.0 –
Disposals (179.4) – (179.4) –
Net fair value changes recognized in OCI – 180.1 180.1 –
Net fair value changes recognized in  

 consolidated income statement 155.9 15.8 171.7 5.9

As at 30 June 2020 3,772.8 478.9 4,251.7 (1.4)

Net unrealized fair value changes 
recognized in consolidated income 
statement relating to balances held as 
at 30 June 2020 144.3 15.8 160.1 5.9
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4	 Financial and insurance risks management and fair value 
estimation (continued)
(h)	 Fair value estimation (continued)

(iv)	 (continued)

Level 3 financial instruments comprise investment funds, unlisted debt and equity instruments and 

derivative financial assets/(liabilities). Fair values of the investment funds are mainly determined 

based on the net asset value, representing the fair value of the funds reported by respective 

fund managers and relevant factors if deemed necessary. Fair value of unlisted debt and equity 

instruments is determined primarily based on the purchase price paid by the Group and taking into 

account the analysis of the investees’ financial position and results, risk profile, prospects, industry 

trend and other factors. Recent transaction prices, if any, are referenced or independent external 

valuer is involved, where appropriate, to determine the fair value.

Level 3 derivative financial asset represents a put option to sell or dispose of an investment 

in equity instrument held by the Group. The fair value of the put option is estimated by an 

independent external valuer. Valuation techniques used involve the use of current market based 

or independently sourced market parameters such as interest rates, currency rates and option 

volatilities. Fair value measurement of the underlying equity instrument is negatively correlated with 

valuation of the put option. Details of the put options are set out in note 27(c).

5	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the Group and are based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance.

The Group has considered the existing and potential impacts arising from the COVID-19 when preparing the 

consolidated financial statements. Assumptions and estimates are based on circumstances and conditions 

available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared and in particular, assumed that the current 

market condition as a result of the COVID-19 is not a long-term norm. Given the severity, duration and economic 

consequences of the COVID-19 are uncertain, actual results may differ significantly from those assumptions and 

estimates. The Group will remain alert and cautious on the ongoing development of COVID-19 that may cause 

further volatility and uncertainty in the global financial market, economy and business environment, and will take 

necessary measures to address the impact arising therefrom.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant effect on carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are as 

follows:

(a)	 Impairment of the Group’s investments in associated companies and 
joint ventures

In accordance with the requirements under HKAS 28 (2011) “Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures” and HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, management regularly reviews whether there are any 

indications of impairment of the Group’s investments in associated companies and joint ventures based 

on value in use calculations or fair value less cost of disposal approach. In determining the value in use, 

management assesses the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from their 

businesses. Estimates and judgements are applied in determining these future cash flows and discount 

rate.
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5	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(a)	 Impairment of the Group’s investments in associated companies and 

joint ventures (continued)

(i)	 Investment in Goshawk
The Group holds 50% equity interest in Goshawk, a joint venture which is principally engaged in 
aircraft leasing. As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s share of net assets was HK$1,542.2 million (before 
share of impairment provision for FY2021 as detailed below) and advances to Goshawk was 
HK$6,168.0 million (note 30(d)).

The COVID-19 pandemic and international travel-related control measures continued to bring 
challenges to aviation industry. The management of Goshawk has carried out an impairment 
assessment on the carrying value of its aircraft portfolio. Impairment arises when an aircraft’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount (which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell 
and value in use).

The value in use of an aircraft is derived from discounted cash flow model after taking into account 
of assumptions, such as forecast rental income, terminal value and discount rate. The discount 
rate of 5.2% (2020: ranged between 5.0% and 6.0%) is derived with reference to the weighted 
average cost of capital of comparable companies that are engaged in aviation industry. Based 
on the assessment, the Group shared an impairment losses (net of tax) on aircraft portfolio of 
approximately HK$347.1 million for FY2021 (2020: HK$64.3 million).

The assumptions used in the carrying value assessment are highly judgemental, and heavily 
dependent on the discount rate used and terminal value. For example, if the discount rate 
increases by 0.5% with other variable remain constant, if adopted, would result in an increase in 
impairment loss of approximately HK$25.7 million shared by the Group, as determined by the value 
in use calculation.

(ii)	 Investment in certain associated companies under the Strategic Investments segment
The Group has certain associated companies which are under the Strategic Investments segment 
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$420.6 million, before taking into account the impairment 
loss detailed below, where relevant impairment indicators existed as at 30 June 2021. Taking 
into consideration the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic and US-Mainland disputes as well as 
the underperformance of the associated companies concerned, management has carried out 
assessments on the recoverability of the Group’s carrying value of these associated companies. 
Based on the assessments, an aggregate impairment loss of HK$248.0 million (notes 6(a)(i) and 
23(e)) was recognized or shared by the Group in FY2021.

Included in the aggregate carrying amount of HK$420.6 million abovementioned are (i) the Group’s 
investment in a company engaged in manufacturing and sale of sapphire substrate and wafer, LED 
packaging and application business with a carrying value of HK$120.0 million, where an impairment 
loss of full amount was shared by the Group based on an assessment using fair value less cost of 
disposal approach and taking into consideration the value of assets pledged and the uncertainty 
on the execution and realization of asset pledge value by the Group; and (ii) the Group’s investment 
in a company engaged in development and manufacturing of advanced robotics business with 
a carrying value of HK$300.6 million, where an impairment loss of HK$128.0 million (note 8) was 
recognized by the Group based on an assessment using value in use approach. 

The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the present value of future cash flow 
over 5 years which has taken into account assumptions including revenue projection, terminal 
growth rate and discount rate. The discount rate of 14% is applied with reference to the weighted 
average cost of capital of comparable companies that are engaged in similar business. The 
assumptions used in the carrying value assessment are highly judgemental, and heavily dependent 
on the discount rate, terminal growth rate and revenue projection. For example, if the discount rate 
increases by 0.5% with other variable remain constant, if adopted, would result in an increase in 
impairment loss of approximately HK$9.2 million as determined by the value in use calculation.
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5	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(a)	 Impairment of the Group’s investments in associated companies and 

joint ventures (continued)

(iii)	 Investment in a joint venture under the Roads segment

In relation to the Group’s investment in a joint venture which operates an expressway in Guangzhou 

with carrying value amounting to HK$714.0 million as at 30 June 2021, management has carried 

out an updated assessment using a discounted cash flow method. In preparing the assessment, 

management has taken into consideration certain key assumptions such as traffic growth, toll rate 

growth and discount rate. The annual traffic growth rates of 2% to 7% for the first five projection 

years was adopted after taking into accounts the latest transportation network development and 

prevailing market condition. Discount rate of 8.5% was used to reflect specific risk relating to 

these investments. Based on the assessment, there was no further impairment for the Group’s 

investment in such expressway as at 30 June 2021. If the discount rate increases by 0.5% with 

other variable remain constant, if adopted, would not result in any impairment losses to the Group.

(b)	 Fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

For financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at FVPL with quoted market price, management 

determined fair value based on quoted market price. The fair value of those financial assets at FVOCI or 

FVPL that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques as detailed in 

note 4(h)(iv). The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and determine the fair values 

primarily based on the purchase price paid by the Group, net asset value and taking into account of 

the analysis of the investees’ financial trends and results, risk profile, prospects, industry trends and 

other factors. Recent transaction prices, if any, are referenced and independent external valuer has 

been involved in determining fair value of certain unlisted investments. The key assumptions adopted on 

projected cashflow are based on management’s best estimates.

(c)	 Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and financial 
assets at amortized cost

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts of property, plant 

and equipment have been determined based on the higher of their fair values less costs of disposal and 

value in use, taking into account the latest market information and past experience.

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment according to its recoverable 

amount determined by the CGU based on either fair value less cost of disposal or value in use calculations 

whichever is higher. These calculations require the use of estimates which are subject to changes of 

economic environment in future.

The loss allowances for financial assets at amortized cost are based on assumptions about risk of default 

and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the 

inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well 

as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.



190 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDNotes to the Financial Statements

5	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(d)	 Provision for onerous contract

The provision for onerous contract is based on the difference between the total expected cash inflow and 

the total value of future cash outflow (expenses including overhead) the Group is obligated to make for 

the remaining term of the contracts. Considerable amounts of estimates and judgements are required in 

assessing the expected cash inflow and outflow in the future. Where the unavoidable costs of meeting the 

obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it, onerous 

contract provision is recognized.

An onerous contract provision of HK$230.0 million (notes 6(a)(iii) and 8) was recognized in FY2020 for the 

Group’s duty free business in view of impact on financial performance and market condition arising from 

COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has performed an updated assessment as at 30 June 2021 and no 

further provision is required. The key assumptions used in assessing provision include estimated revenue 

growth. The assumptions used are highly judgemental and sensitive to the provision amount. Any changes 

in any of the key assumptions used would result in increase or decrease in provision.

(e)	 Estimated volume of Infrastructures of public services

The amortization for intangible concession rights and impairment assessment of Infrastructures for public 

services using discounted cash flow model are affected by the estimated volume for public services, such 

as toll roads. Management performs annual reviews to assess the appropriateness of estimated volume by 

making reference to independent professional studies, if necessary.

The traffic volume is directly and indirectly affected by a number of factors, including the availability, quality, 

proximity and toll rate differentials of alternative roads and the existence of other means of transportation. 

The growth of the traffic flow is also highly tied to the future economic and transportation network 

development of the area in which the Infrastructures serve. The growth in future traffic flow projected by 

the management is highly dependent on the realization of the aforementioned factors.

(f)	 Estimate of revenue for construction contracts

For revenue from construction work that is recognized over time, the Group recognizes such revenue by 

reference to the progress of satisfying the performance obligation at the reporting date. This is measured 

based on the Group’s costs incurred up to the reporting date and budgeted costs which depict the 

Group’s performance towards satisfying the performance obligation. Significant estimates and judgements 

are required in determining the accuracy of the budgets. In making the above estimation, the Group 

conducts periodic review on the budgets and makes reference to past experience and work of internal 

quantity surveyors.
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5	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(g)	 Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of each investment property is individually determined at the end of each reporting period 

by management or by independent external valuers based on a market value assessment. Fair value is 

based on active market prices and adjusted if necessary for any difference in nature, location or conditions 

of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such 

as recent prices on less active markets, income capitalization approach or professional valuation. These 

methodologies are based upon estimates of future results and a set of assumptions specific to each 

property to reflect its tenancy and cash flow profile. The fair value of each investment property reflects, 

among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future 

leases in the light of current market conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash 

outflows that could be expected in respect of the property.

As at 30 June 2021, if the market value of investment properties had been 5% (2020: 5%) higher/lower 

with all other variables held constant, the carrying value of the Group’s investment properties would have 

been HK$84.1 million (2020: HK$85.2 million) higher/lower respectively.

(h)	 Product classification of insurance business

Contracts are classified as insurance contracts where they transfer significant insurance risk from the 

holder of the contract to the Group. The Group’s accounting policy for the classification of insurance and 

investment contracts is discussed in more detail in note 3(ac)(i).

There are a number of contracts sold where the Group exercises judgement about the level of insurance 

risk transferred. Typically, these are contracts which contain a significant savings component. The level of 

insurance risk is assessed by considering whether there are any scenarios with commercial substance in 

which the Group is required to pay significant additional benefits. These benefits are those which exceed 

the amounts payable if no insured event were to occur. These additional amounts include claims liability 

and assessment costs, but exclude the loss of the ability to charge the holder of the contract for future 

services.

(i)	 Estimate of life insurance contract liabilities

The estimation of the ultimate liabilities arising from claims made under life insurance contracts is one of 

the most critical accounting estimate for the Group’s insurance business. There are sources of uncertainty 

that need to be considered in the estimation of the liabilities that the Group will ultimately pay for those 

claims.

The valuation of insurance contract liabilities requires the use of appropriate actuarial methodologies 

and also various economic and operational assumptions. The assumptions used in measuring the 

insurance contract liabilities include discount rates, mortality and morbidity rates, lapse and partial lapse 

rates, persistency, expenses, inflation, policy dividend and fund growth rate. Estimates are made as to 

the expected number of deaths for each of the years in which the Group is exposed to risk. The Group 

bases these estimates on standard industry and national mortality tables that reflect historical mortality 

experience, adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect the Group’s unique risk exposure. The estimated 

number of deaths determines the value of possible future benefits to be paid out which will be factored 

into ensuring sufficient cover by reserves, which in return is monitored against the current and future 

premiums. Lapse rates are based on the historical experience of the Group. Expenses are based on the 

renewal compensation cost structure and the maintenance expenses level of the Group. Discount rates 

are based on the investment strategy of the Group, with due regard to the expected recurring return on 

assets backing the insurance contracts.
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5	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
(i)	 Estimate of life insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Estimates for discount rates, mortality rates, lapse rates and expenses are determined at the date of 

acquisition, where applicable, and at the inception of the contract and are used to calculate the liability 

over the term of the contract. At each reporting date, these estimates are reassessed for adequacy with 

margin and changes will be reflected in adjustments to the liability.

(j)	 Amortization of DAC and VOBA

The Group adopted an approach by which DAC of new business is amortized according to the expected 

future premiums or expected future profits, which are projected based on the Group’s best estimate 

assumptions and actual persistency. Assumptions as to projected future premiums or expected future 

profits are made at the date of policy issue and are applied during the lives of the contracts consistently. 

VOBA is amortized over the estimated life of the contracts in the acquired portfolio on a systematic basis 

primarily based on expected future profits. Judgements are exercised in making appropriate estimate of 

future premiums or expected future profits.

6	 Revenue and segment information
The Group’s revenue from continuing operations is analyzed as follows:

2021
HK$’m Hong Kong

Mainland
 China Others Total

Roads – 3,033.2 – 3,033.2
Construction 15,114.1 – – 15,114.1
Insurance 9,640.6 – – 9,640.6
Facilities Management 355.8 53.6 – 409.4

25,110.5 3,086.8 – 28,197.3

2020
HK$’m
(restated) Hong Kong

Mainland
China Others Total

Roads – 2,070.5 – 2,070.5
Construction 12,454.4 – – 12,454.4
Insurance 6,180.0 – – 6,180.0
Facilities Management 1,637.0 47.0 223.3 1,907.3

20,271.4 2,117.5 223.3 22,612.2
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
Revenue from insurance business is further analyzed as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Gross premiums on insurance contracts 9,291.6 5,991.9
Less: premiums ceded to reinsurers (385.3) (224.7)

Premiums, net of reinsurance 8,906.3 5,767.2

Fee income on insurance and investment contracts 677.2 411.2
Reinsurance commission income and refund 46.1 (2.0)
Fee on referral business and commission income for general insurance  

and MPF 10.6 3.6
Others 0.4 –

Fee and commission income 734.3 412.8

9,640.6 6,180.0

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Committee 

of the Company that are used to make strategic decisions. The Executive Committee reviews the Group’s 

internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The Executive Committee considers 

the businesses of the Group from product and service perspectives, which comprised (i) Roads; (ii) Aviation;  

(iii) Construction; (iv) Insurance; (v) Logistics; (vi) Facilities Management; (vii) Strategic Investments;  

(viii) Environment; and (ix) Transport. During FY2021, the results of the “Environment” segment and “Transport” 

segment are presented as discontinued operations in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations” (“HKFRS 5”) as detailed in note 33. Last year’s comparative segment 

information has been restated to conform with the current year’s presentation.

The Executive Committee assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of 

Attributable Operating Profit (including share of results from associated companies and joint ventures). This 

measurement basis excludes the effects of corporate office and non-operating items. Corporate interest income, 

finance costs and expenses are not allocated to segments.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for FY2021 and related 

comparative figures is as follows:

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics
Facilities

 Management
Strategic

 Investments Subtotal Environment Transport Total

2021

Total revenue 3,033.2 – 15,114.1 9,641.8 – 409.5 – 28,198.6 – 655.1 28,853.7
Inter-segment – – – (1.2) – (0.1) – (1.3) – – (1.3)

Revenue – external 3,033.2 – 15,114.1 9,640.6 – 409.4 – 28,197.3 – 655.1 28,852.4

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Recognized at a point in time 3,033.2 – – – – 134.6 – 3,167.8 – 614.7 3,782.5
Recognized over time – – 15,114.1 734.3 – 274.8 – 16,123.2 – 40.4 16,163.6

3,033.2 – 15,114.1 734.3 – 409.4 – 19,291.0 – 655.1 19,946.1

Revenue from other source:
Insurance revenue – – – 8,906.3 – – – 8,906.3 – – 8,906.3

3,033.2 – 15,114.1 9,640.6 – 409.4 – 28,197.3 – 655.1 28,852.4

Attributable Operating Profit/(Loss)
Company and subsidiaries 955.6 – 802.1 971.7 (2.4) (437.7) 469.8 2,759.1 5.0 (3.5) 2,760.6
Associated companies 205.1 – 146.1 – 101.4 (217.5) 144.7 379.8 (c) 144.4 8.3 532.5
Joint ventures 646.8 496.0 0.3 – 564.0 5.9 124.9 1,837.9 (c) 94.9 – 1,932.8

1,807.5 496.0 948.5 971.7 663.0 (649.3) 739.4 4,976.8 244.3 4.8 5,225.9

Reconciliation – corporate office and  
non-operating items
Net loss on fair value of investment 

properties (13.2)
Remeasurement, impairments and 

provisions (2,551.6) (i)
Net gain on disposal of projects,  

net of tax 9.3
Net loss on fair value of derivative 

financial instruments (59.1)
Interest income 37.5
Finance costs (483.4) (ii)
Expenses and others (435.8)

Profit for the year after tax and  
non-controlling interests 1,729.6

Profit attributable to holders of perpetual 
capital securities (583.1)

Profit attributable to shareholders 1,146.5

(i)	 The amount mainly represents remeasurement loss upon reclassification as held-for-sale for Wai 
Kee of HK$1,373.8 million (included in “other income and gains, net” and detailed in notes 8 
and 34) and for NWS HKI of HK$228.1 million (included in “loss from discontinued operations” 
and detailed in note 33), share of impairment losses, expected credit loss provision and aircraft 
repossession/recovery costs for Goshawk of HK$553.3 million (net of tax) (included in “share of 
results of joint ventures” and detailed in note 24(b)), impairment loss related to certain associated 
companies of HK$248.0 million in aggregate (notes 5(a)(ii) and 23(e)) as well as certain other 
expected credit loss provision.

(ii)	 The finance costs recognized in the consolidated income statement for FY2021 from continuing 
operations and discontinued operations is HK$838.7 million and HK$5.7 million (note 33(a)) 
respectively, in which the above HK$483.4 million represents corporate office finance costs 
and HK$361.0 million is recognized as part of Attributable Operating Profit in various reportable 
segments.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for FY2021 and related 

comparative figures is as follows:

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics
Facilities

 Management
Strategic

 Investments Subtotal Environment Transport Total

2021

Total revenue 3,033.2 – 15,114.1 9,641.8 – 409.5 – 28,198.6 – 655.1 28,853.7
Inter-segment – – – (1.2) – (0.1) – (1.3) – – (1.3)

Revenue – external 3,033.2 – 15,114.1 9,640.6 – 409.4 – 28,197.3 – 655.1 28,852.4

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Recognized at a point in time 3,033.2 – – – – 134.6 – 3,167.8 – 614.7 3,782.5
Recognized over time – – 15,114.1 734.3 – 274.8 – 16,123.2 – 40.4 16,163.6

3,033.2 – 15,114.1 734.3 – 409.4 – 19,291.0 – 655.1 19,946.1

Revenue from other source:
Insurance revenue – – – 8,906.3 – – – 8,906.3 – – 8,906.3

3,033.2 – 15,114.1 9,640.6 – 409.4 – 28,197.3 – 655.1 28,852.4

Attributable Operating Profit/(Loss)
Company and subsidiaries 955.6 – 802.1 971.7 (2.4) (437.7) 469.8 2,759.1 5.0 (3.5) 2,760.6
Associated companies 205.1 – 146.1 – 101.4 (217.5) 144.7 379.8 (c) 144.4 8.3 532.5
Joint ventures 646.8 496.0 0.3 – 564.0 5.9 124.9 1,837.9 (c) 94.9 – 1,932.8

1,807.5 496.0 948.5 971.7 663.0 (649.3) 739.4 4,976.8 244.3 4.8 5,225.9

Reconciliation – corporate office and  
non-operating items
Net loss on fair value of investment 

properties (13.2)
Remeasurement, impairments and 

provisions (2,551.6) (i)
Net gain on disposal of projects,  

net of tax 9.3
Net loss on fair value of derivative 

financial instruments (59.1)
Interest income 37.5
Finance costs (483.4) (ii)
Expenses and others (435.8)

Profit for the year after tax and  
non-controlling interests 1,729.6

Profit attributable to holders of perpetual 
capital securities (583.1)

Profit attributable to shareholders 1,146.5

(i)	 The amount mainly represents remeasurement loss upon reclassification as held-for-sale for Wai 
Kee of HK$1,373.8 million (included in “other income and gains, net” and detailed in notes 8 
and 34) and for NWS HKI of HK$228.1 million (included in “loss from discontinued operations” 
and detailed in note 33), share of impairment losses, expected credit loss provision and aircraft 
repossession/recovery costs for Goshawk of HK$553.3 million (net of tax) (included in “share of 
results of joint ventures” and detailed in note 24(b)), impairment loss related to certain associated 
companies of HK$248.0 million in aggregate (notes 5(a)(ii) and 23(e)) as well as certain other 
expected credit loss provision.

(ii)	 The finance costs recognized in the consolidated income statement for FY2021 from continuing 
operations and discontinued operations is HK$838.7 million and HK$5.7 million (note 33(a)) 
respectively, in which the above HK$483.4 million represents corporate office finance costs 
and HK$361.0 million is recognized as part of Attributable Operating Profit in various reportable 
segments.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for FY2021 and related 

comparative figures is as follows (continued): 

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics

Facilities

 Management

Strategic

 Investments Corporate Subtotal Environment Transport Consolidated

2021

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 50.8 – 49.7 42.9 – 116.0 0.1 6.5 266.0 – 111.1 377.1

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.7 – 34.6 118.4 – 99.8 – 18.1 271.6 – 31.9 303.5

Amortization of intangible concession rights 1,052.5 – – – – – – – 1,052.5 – – 1,052.5

Amortization of intangible assets – – – 37.9 – 31.2 – – 69.1 – – 69.1

Amortization of VOBA – – – 256.4 – – – – 256.4 – – 256.4

Interest income (37.3) – (2.2) (1,428.3) – (35.8) (112.0) (37.5) (1,653.1) (5.0) (0.2) (1,658.3)

Finance costs 168.3 – 56.0 99.0 – 31.7 0.3 483.4 838.7 – 5.7 844.4

Income tax expenses/(credit) 486.8 – 141.7 72.0 10.1 (65.2) 41.2 4.6 691.2 – (52.7) 638.5

Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets – – – 1,270.6 – – – – 1,270.6 – – 1,270.6

Net gain on fair value of financial assets at FVPL – – – (1,478.4) – – (458.3) – (1,936.7) – – (1,936.7)

Additions to non-current assets (remark) 121.5 – 128.7 114.2 – 23.5 1.7 16.9 406.5 – 66.7 473.2

At 30 June 2021

Company and subsidiaries 16,351.4 6,168.0 6,659.2 84,705.6 1,851.8 3,936.1 7,608.0 4,758.7 132,038.8 4,054.5 – 136,093.3

Associated companies 2,808.1 – 69.8 – – 310.7 2,482.5 2.5 5,673.6 – – 5,673.6

Joint ventures 4,312.4 1,198.7 – – 3,029.0 5.9 2,249.7 10.3 10,806.0 – – 10,806.0

Total assets 23,471.9 7,366.7 6,729.0 84,705.6 (b) 4,880.8 4,252.7 12,340.2 4,771.5 148,518.4 4,054.5 – 152,572.9

Total liabilities 6,175.0 – 6,679.6 60,509.6 (b) 65.3 1,340.2 122.7 19,226.5 94,118.9 – – 94,118.9

Remark:	Being additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefits 
assets, VOBA and DAC.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for FY2021 and related 

comparative figures is as follows (continued): 

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics

Facilities

 Management

Strategic

 Investments Corporate Subtotal Environment Transport Consolidated

2021

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 50.8 – 49.7 42.9 – 116.0 0.1 6.5 266.0 – 111.1 377.1

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.7 – 34.6 118.4 – 99.8 – 18.1 271.6 – 31.9 303.5

Amortization of intangible concession rights 1,052.5 – – – – – – – 1,052.5 – – 1,052.5

Amortization of intangible assets – – – 37.9 – 31.2 – – 69.1 – – 69.1

Amortization of VOBA – – – 256.4 – – – – 256.4 – – 256.4

Interest income (37.3) – (2.2) (1,428.3) – (35.8) (112.0) (37.5) (1,653.1) (5.0) (0.2) (1,658.3)

Finance costs 168.3 – 56.0 99.0 – 31.7 0.3 483.4 838.7 – 5.7 844.4

Income tax expenses/(credit) 486.8 – 141.7 72.0 10.1 (65.2) 41.2 4.6 691.2 – (52.7) 638.5

Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets – – – 1,270.6 – – – – 1,270.6 – – 1,270.6

Net gain on fair value of financial assets at FVPL – – – (1,478.4) – – (458.3) – (1,936.7) – – (1,936.7)

Additions to non-current assets (remark) 121.5 – 128.7 114.2 – 23.5 1.7 16.9 406.5 – 66.7 473.2

At 30 June 2021

Company and subsidiaries 16,351.4 6,168.0 6,659.2 84,705.6 1,851.8 3,936.1 7,608.0 4,758.7 132,038.8 4,054.5 – 136,093.3

Associated companies 2,808.1 – 69.8 – – 310.7 2,482.5 2.5 5,673.6 – – 5,673.6

Joint ventures 4,312.4 1,198.7 – – 3,029.0 5.9 2,249.7 10.3 10,806.0 – – 10,806.0

Total assets 23,471.9 7,366.7 6,729.0 84,705.6 (b) 4,880.8 4,252.7 12,340.2 4,771.5 148,518.4 4,054.5 – 152,572.9

Total liabilities 6,175.0 – 6,679.6 60,509.6 (b) 65.3 1,340.2 122.7 19,226.5 94,118.9 – – 94,118.9

Remark:	Being additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefits 
assets, VOBA and DAC.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for the FY2021 and 

related comparative figures is as follows (continued):

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics
Facilities

 Management
Strategic

 Investments Subtotal Environment Transport Total

2020
(restated)

Total revenue 2,070.5 – 12,462.4 6,180.0 – 1,911.1 – 22,624.0 – 3,308.6 25,932.6
Inter-segment – – (8.0) – – (3.8) – (11.8) – (0.3) (12.1)

Revenue – external 2,070.5 – 12,454.4 6,180.0 – 1,907.3 – 22,612.2 – 3,308.3 25,920.5

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Recognized at a point in time 2,070.5 – – – – 1,144.1 – 3,214.6 – 3,131.5 6,346.1
Recognized over time – – 12,454.4 412.8 – 763.2 – 13,630.4 – 176.8 13,807.2

2,070.5 – 12,454.4 412.8 – 1,907.3 – 16,845.0 – 3,308.3 20,153.3

Revenue from other source:
Insurance revenue – – – 5,767.2 – – – 5,767.2 – – 5,767.2

2,070.5 – 12,454.4 6,180.0 – 1,907.3 – 22,612.2 – 3,308.3 25,920.5

Attributable Operating Profit/(Loss)
Company and subsidiaries 543.3 – 757.1 750.4 – (419.5) 243.4 1,874.7 25.7 (124.5) 1,775.9
Associated companies 101.6 – 308.9 – 91.8 (357.7) 43.8 188.4 (c) 207.0 5.7 401.1
Joint ventures 262.5 421.9 – – 536.0 5.4 (36.2) 1,189.6 (c) 147.7 – 1,337.3

907.4 421.9 1,066.0 750.4 627.8 (771.8) 251.0 3,252.7 380.4 (118.8) 3,514.3

Reconciliation – corporate office and  
non-operating items
Loss on fair value of investment 

properties (22.9)
Impairments and provisions (1,709.4) (iii)
Net gain on disposal of projects,  

net of tax 101.0
Net gain on fair value of derivative 

financial instruments, net of tax 73.1
Interest income 107.5
Finance costs (737.4) (iv)
Expenses and others (491.1)

Profit for the year after tax and  
non-controlling interests 835.1

Profit attributable to holders of perpetual 
capital securities (581.9)

Profit attributable to shareholders 253.2

(iii)	 The amount mainly represents impairment losses and expected credit loss provisions related 
for certain associated companies of HK$664.8 million (as detailed in note 23(e)), Goshawk 
of HK$107.7 million (as detailed in note 24(b)), transport business of HK$700.0 million (being 
impairment loss against goodwill of HK$386.9 million and against property, plant and equipment 
of HK$375.0 million, net of tax credit HK$61.9 million as included in “loss from discontinued 
operations” and detailed in note 33(a)(i)) as well as provision for onerous contract of HK$230.0 
million (as detailed in note 5(d)).

(iv)	 The finance costs recognized in the consolidated income statement for FY2020 from continuing 
operations and discontinued operations is HK$966.8 million and HK$29.0 million (note 33(a)) 
respectively, in which the above HK$737.4 million represents corporate office finance costs 
and HK$258.4 million is recognized as part of Attributable Operating Profit in various reportable 
segments.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for the FY2021 and 

related comparative figures is as follows (continued):

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics
Facilities

 Management
Strategic

 Investments Subtotal Environment Transport Total

2020
(restated)

Total revenue 2,070.5 – 12,462.4 6,180.0 – 1,911.1 – 22,624.0 – 3,308.6 25,932.6
Inter-segment – – (8.0) – – (3.8) – (11.8) – (0.3) (12.1)

Revenue – external 2,070.5 – 12,454.4 6,180.0 – 1,907.3 – 22,612.2 – 3,308.3 25,920.5

Revenue from contracts with customers:
Recognized at a point in time 2,070.5 – – – – 1,144.1 – 3,214.6 – 3,131.5 6,346.1
Recognized over time – – 12,454.4 412.8 – 763.2 – 13,630.4 – 176.8 13,807.2

2,070.5 – 12,454.4 412.8 – 1,907.3 – 16,845.0 – 3,308.3 20,153.3

Revenue from other source:
Insurance revenue – – – 5,767.2 – – – 5,767.2 – – 5,767.2

2,070.5 – 12,454.4 6,180.0 – 1,907.3 – 22,612.2 – 3,308.3 25,920.5

Attributable Operating Profit/(Loss)
Company and subsidiaries 543.3 – 757.1 750.4 – (419.5) 243.4 1,874.7 25.7 (124.5) 1,775.9
Associated companies 101.6 – 308.9 – 91.8 (357.7) 43.8 188.4 (c) 207.0 5.7 401.1
Joint ventures 262.5 421.9 – – 536.0 5.4 (36.2) 1,189.6 (c) 147.7 – 1,337.3

907.4 421.9 1,066.0 750.4 627.8 (771.8) 251.0 3,252.7 380.4 (118.8) 3,514.3

Reconciliation – corporate office and  
non-operating items
Loss on fair value of investment 

properties (22.9)
Impairments and provisions (1,709.4) (iii)
Net gain on disposal of projects,  

net of tax 101.0
Net gain on fair value of derivative 

financial instruments, net of tax 73.1
Interest income 107.5
Finance costs (737.4) (iv)
Expenses and others (491.1)

Profit for the year after tax and  
non-controlling interests 835.1

Profit attributable to holders of perpetual 
capital securities (581.9)

Profit attributable to shareholders 253.2

(iii)	 The amount mainly represents impairment losses and expected credit loss provisions related 
for certain associated companies of HK$664.8 million (as detailed in note 23(e)), Goshawk 
of HK$107.7 million (as detailed in note 24(b)), transport business of HK$700.0 million (being 
impairment loss against goodwill of HK$386.9 million and against property, plant and equipment 
of HK$375.0 million, net of tax credit HK$61.9 million as included in “loss from discontinued 
operations” and detailed in note 33(a)(i)) as well as provision for onerous contract of HK$230.0 
million (as detailed in note 5(d)).

(iv)	 The finance costs recognized in the consolidated income statement for FY2020 from continuing 
operations and discontinued operations is HK$966.8 million and HK$29.0 million (note 33(a)) 
respectively, in which the above HK$737.4 million represents corporate office finance costs 
and HK$258.4 million is recognized as part of Attributable Operating Profit in various reportable 
segments.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for the FY2021 and 

related comparative figures is as follows (continued):

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics

 Facilities

 Management

Strategic

 Investments Corporate Subtotal Environment Transport Consolidated

2020

(restated)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 45.0 – 41.5 26.0 – 122.5 – 7.8 242.8 – 397.1 639.9

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.7 – 25.3 93.1 – 95.6 – 22.8 237.5 – 110.5 348.0

Amortization of intangible concession rights 714.9 – – – – – – – 714.9 – – 714.9

Amortization of intangible assets – – – 23.9 – 31.2 – – 55.1 – 1.4 56.5

Amortization of VOBA – – – 173.5 – – – – 173.5 – – 173.5

Interest income (49.1) (0.1) (3.7) (877.3) (0.1) (58.5) (97.7) (107.5) (1,194.0) (25.7) (1.5) (1,221.2)

Finance costs 59.7 – 54.7 79.9 – 35.1 – 737.4 966.8 – 29.0 995.8

Income tax expenses/(credit) 368.0 – 139.1 43.2 8.5 (2.8) 9.4 24.2 589.6 – (132.0) 457.6

Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets – – – (208.2) – – – – (208.2) – – (208.2)

Net loss/(gain) on fair value of financial assets at FVPL – – – 223.0 – – (158.6) – 64.4 – – 64.4

Additions to non-current assets (remark) 5,387.6 – 80.5 6,566.4 – 188.9 3.3 17.7 12,244.4 – 274.0 12,518.4

At 30 June 2020

Company and subsidiaries 15,554.1 6,332.7 7,462.8 75,061.9 118.1 4,284.5 7,153.4 3,466.0 119,433.5 0.3 4,977.2 124,411.0

Associated companies 2,530.9 – 2,009.4 – 1,587.4 528.2 1,960.1 3.2 8,619.2 4,574.0 160.3 13,353.5

Joint ventures 3,984.3 978.1 0.1 – 2,848.9 5.6 2,332.7 13.5 10,163.2 2,124.3 – 12,287.5

Total assets 22,069.3 7,310.8 9,472.3 75,061.9 4,554.4 4,818.3 11,446.2 3,482.7 138,215.9 6,698.6 5,137.5 150,052.0

Total liabilities 6,034.7 – 8,065.6 51,448.3 68.5 1,544.1 73.3 23,239.4 90,473.9 4.0 2,116.4 92,594.3

Remark:	Being additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefits 
assets, VOBA and DAC.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(a)	 The information of the reportable segments provided to the Executive Committee for the FY2021 and 

related comparative figures is as follows (continued):

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HK$’m Roads Aviation Construction Insurance Logistics

 Facilities

 Management

Strategic

 Investments Corporate Subtotal Environment Transport Consolidated

2020

(restated)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 45.0 – 41.5 26.0 – 122.5 – 7.8 242.8 – 397.1 639.9

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 0.7 – 25.3 93.1 – 95.6 – 22.8 237.5 – 110.5 348.0

Amortization of intangible concession rights 714.9 – – – – – – – 714.9 – – 714.9

Amortization of intangible assets – – – 23.9 – 31.2 – – 55.1 – 1.4 56.5

Amortization of VOBA – – – 173.5 – – – – 173.5 – – 173.5

Interest income (49.1) (0.1) (3.7) (877.3) (0.1) (58.5) (97.7) (107.5) (1,194.0) (25.7) (1.5) (1,221.2)

Finance costs 59.7 – 54.7 79.9 – 35.1 – 737.4 966.8 – 29.0 995.8

Income tax expenses/(credit) 368.0 – 139.1 43.2 8.5 (2.8) 9.4 24.2 589.6 – (132.0) 457.6

Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets – – – (208.2) – – – – (208.2) – – (208.2)

Net loss/(gain) on fair value of financial assets at FVPL – – – 223.0 – – (158.6) – 64.4 – – 64.4

Additions to non-current assets (remark) 5,387.6 – 80.5 6,566.4 – 188.9 3.3 17.7 12,244.4 – 274.0 12,518.4

At 30 June 2020

Company and subsidiaries 15,554.1 6,332.7 7,462.8 75,061.9 118.1 4,284.5 7,153.4 3,466.0 119,433.5 0.3 4,977.2 124,411.0

Associated companies 2,530.9 – 2,009.4 – 1,587.4 528.2 1,960.1 3.2 8,619.2 4,574.0 160.3 13,353.5

Joint ventures 3,984.3 978.1 0.1 – 2,848.9 5.6 2,332.7 13.5 10,163.2 2,124.3 – 12,287.5

Total assets 22,069.3 7,310.8 9,472.3 75,061.9 4,554.4 4,818.3 11,446.2 3,482.7 138,215.9 6,698.6 5,137.5 150,052.0

Total liabilities 6,034.7 – 8,065.6 51,448.3 68.5 1,544.1 73.3 23,239.4 90,473.9 4.0 2,116.4 92,594.3

Remark:	Being additions to non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefits 
assets, VOBA and DAC.
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(b)	 Additional information of assets and liabilities by the following line items:

At 30 June 2021

HK$’m
Non-insurance
 and corporate Insurance Total

Assets
Intangible concession rights 14,355.6 – 14,355.6
Intangible assets 188.1 5,728.1 5,916.2
Value of business acquired – 5,395.1 5,395.1
Deferred acquisition costs – 1,711.5 1,711.5
Associated companies 5,673.6 – 5,673.6
Joint ventures 10,806.0 – 10,806.0
Financial assets at FVOCI 1,318.4 43,468.9 44,787.3
Financial assets at FVPL 4,544.8 8,478.9 13,023.7
Derivative financial instruments 7.0 1,453.0 1,460.0
Trade, premium and other receivables 13,392.8 1,769.4 15,162.2
Investments related to unit-linked contracts – 10,770.2 10,770.2
Cash and bank balances 6,307.4 4,497.2 10,804.6
Assets held-for-sale 6,324.9 – 6,324.9
Others 4,948.7 1,433.3 6,382.0

67,867.3 84,705.6 152,572.9

Represented by
Non-current assets 41,063.0 65,069.2 106,132.2
Current assets 26,804.3 19,636.4 46,440.7

67,867.3 84,705.6 152,572.9

Liabilities
Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities 22,464.3 2,883.7 25,348.0
Insurance and investment contract liabilities – 42,502.8 42,502.8
Liabilities related to unit-linked contracts – 10,951.0 10,951.0
Trade, other payables and payables to 

policyholders 8,060.9 3,272.0 11,332.9
Others 3,084.1 900.1 3,984.2

33,609.3 60,509.6 94,118.9

Represented by
Non-current liabilities 23,555.4 21,208.1 44,763.5
Current liabilities 10,053.9 39,301.5 49,355.4

33,609.3 60,509.6 94,118.9

Net current assets/(liabilities) (note 2) 16,750.4 (19,665.1) (2,914.7)
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6	 Revenue and segment information (continued)
(c)	 Reconciliation of Attributable Operating Profit from continuing operations of associated companies and 

joint ventures to the consolidated income statement:

Associated companies Joint ventures

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’m Note (restated) (restated)

Attributable Operating Profit 379.8 188.4 1,837.9 1,189.6
Corporate and non-operating items

– Impairment losses, expected 
credit loss provision and 
aircraft repossession/
recovery costs 23(e), 24(b) (120.0) (330.0) (553.3) (107.7)

– Others 6.4 9.0 (4.0) 11.0

Share of results of associated 
companies and joint ventures 266.2 (132.6) 1,280.6 1,092.9

(d)	 Information by geographical areas:

Non-current assets 
(remark)

HK$’m 2021 2020

Hong Kong 9,743.8 14,181.4
Mainland China 14,722.6 14,360.9
Others 32.7 32.7

24,499.1 28,575.0

The operations of the Group’s infrastructure businesses in Mainland China are undertaken mainly through 

associated companies and joint ventures, the results of which are accounted for by the equity method of 

accounting.

The Group’s share of revenue of associated companies and joint ventures from continuing operations are as 

follows:

Associated companies Joint ventures

2021 2020 2021 2020

HK$’m Note (restated)

Hong Kong 3,328.3 3,149.8 734.7 740.1

Mainland China 1,279.0 1,059.3 9,274.0 7,644.8

Global and others 842.5 549.5 5,736.5 5,337.0

23(k), 24(h) 5,449.8 4,758.6 15,745.2 13,721.9

Remark:	Being balance of non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit 
assets, VOBA and DAC.
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7	 Cost of sales
The Group’s cost of sales from continuing operations is analyzed as follows:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Cost of inventories sold (a) 32.0 1,044.9

Cost of construction (b) 12,436.8 9,894.9

Cost of services rendered 3,349.6 3,564.6

Claims and benefits, net of reinsurance (c) 8,331.3 5,084.1

Amortization of VOBA 20 256.4 173.5

24,406.1 19,762.0

(a)	 Cost of inventories sold is mainly related to the Group’s duty free business. The decrease in amount as 

compared to last year is primarily due to impact on financial performance and market condition of duty 

free business arising from COVID-19 pandemic.

(b)	 Cost of construction mainly represents subcontractor’s costs and material costs.

(c)	 Details of claims and benefits, net of reinsurance are shown below:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Claims 880.0 519.9

Reinsurers’ and coinsurers’ share of claims (233.0) (236.1)

Claims, net of reinsurers’ and coinsurers’ share 647.0 283.8

Surrenders, annuities and maturities 1,083.4 886.0

Reinsurers’ and coinsurers’ share (7.9) (28.7)

1,075.5 857.3

Policyholders’ dividends and interests 368.7 239.3

Incentives to policyholders 280.6 103.1

Increase in insurance contract liabilities 5,959.5 3,600.6

Total claims and benefits, net of reinsurance 8,331.3 5,084.1

The increases are mainly due to full year consolidation of expenses associated with the Group’s insurance 

business since the completion of acquisition of FTLife Insurance in November 2019.
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8	 Other income and gains, net

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Continuing operations

Gain associated with investments related to unit-linked 

contracts 2,187.9 122.2

Net gain/(loss) on fair value of financial assets at FVPL (a) 1,936.7 (64.4)

Net profit on disposal of debt instruments as 

financial assets at FVOCI 40.7 309.7

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 49(b)(i) – 19.7

Profit on disposal of interest in a joint venture 40.4 –

Profit/(loss) on disposal/partial disposal of interests in 

associated companies 69.0 (77.0)

Net (loss)/gain on fair value of derivative financial 

instruments (59.1) 105.6

Interest income

– Debt instruments as financial assets at FVOCI 1,392.0 822.7

– Bank deposits and others 261.1 371.3

Dividend income 212.3 178.3

Other income 40.3 64.4

Net exchange gain/(loss) 47.1 (78.6)

Impairment losses related to associated companies 5(a)(ii),23(e) (128.0) (334.8)

Provision for onerous contract 5(d),6(a)(iii) – (230.0)

Charges related to unit-linked contracts (2,171.0) (133.9)

Remeasurement loss on assets classified as held-for-sale 6(a)(i),34 (1,373.8) –

Net loss on fair value of investment properties 16 (13.2) (22.9)

Expected credit loss provision

– Trade, premium and other receivables 30(e) (418.4) (17.7)

– Debt instruments as financial assets at FVOCI (37.1) (32.2)

2,026.9 1,002.4

(a)	 The Group elected to apply the “overlay approach” in accordance with HKFRS 4 (Amendments) “Applying 

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts” which allows the Group to reclassify 

fair value gain or loss from consolidated income statement to other comprehensive income for those 

designated eligible financial assets previously classified as available-for-sale financial assets under HKAS 

39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” but currently classified as financial assets 

at FVPL under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. The designated financial assets applying the overlay 

approach are equity instruments and investment funds that are managed as underlying assets backing the 

insurance contracts issued.

The amount includes a net fair value gain of HK$1,270.6 million (2020: net fair value loss of HK$208.2 

million) which was then reclassified from consolidated income statement to other comprehensive income 

(note 37) as overlay approach adjustments for the designated financial assets.
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9	 Operating profit
Operating profit of the Group from continuing operations is arrived at after crediting and charging the following:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Crediting

Gross rental income from investment properties 49.5 54.8

Less: outgoings (11.2) (12.3)

38.3 42.5

Charging

Auditors’ remuneration 19.1 23.4

Cost of inventories sold 32.0 1,044.9

Cost of construction 12,436.8 9,894.9

Claims and benefits, net of reinsurance 8,331.3 5,084.1

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17(a) 266.0 242.8

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 21(c) 271.6 237.5

Amortization of intangible concession rights 18 1,052.5 714.9

Amortization of intangible assets 19 69.1 55.1

Amortization of VOBA (a),20 256.4 173.5

Agency commission and allowances, net of change in deferred 

acquisition costs (a),(b) 856.3 640.0

Expenses on short-term leases 15.6 29.2

Expenses on variable lease payments 57.2 86.3

Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments (note 15)) 10 2,442.2 2,597.7

Other costs and expenses 1,079.6 1,291.6

27,185.7 22,115.9

Represented by

Cost of sales 7 24,406.1 19,762.0

Selling and marketing expenses (a) 969.0 820.4

General and administrative expenses (a) 1,810.6 1,533.5

27,185.7 22,115.9

(a)	 The increases are mainly due to full year consolidation of expenses associated with the Group’s insurance 

business since the completion of acquisition of FTLife Insurance in November 2019.

(b)	 The amount includes amortization of deferred acquisition costs of HK$367.0 million (2020: HK$136.1 

million) (note 22).
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10	 Staff costs
(a)	 Staff costs

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Continuing operations
Wages, salaries and other benefits 2,312.1 2,473.8
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 128.1 121.5
Pension costs – defined benefits plans 2.0 2.4

9 2,442.2 2,597.7

Directors’ emoluments are included in staff costs.

Subsidies received from Employment Support Scheme launched by the Hong Kong Government 
amounting to HK$131.1 million for FY2021 (2020 restated: HK$23.9 million) are net off in total staff costs.

(b)	 Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include three (2020: 
three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in note 15(a). The emoluments of the remaining two 
individuals (2020: two) during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Fees 0.1 0.1
Basic salaries, allowances and other benefits 12.7 10.2
Discretionary bonuses 17.9 27.4
Employer’s contribution to retirement benefits schemes 1.1 1.0

31.8 38.7

The emoluments of the individuals fell within the following bands:

Number of individual(s)

2021 2020

Emolument band (HK$)
12,000,001–12,500,000 1 –
13,000,001–13,500,000 – 1
19,000,001–19,500,000 1 –
25,000,001–25,500,000 – 1

(c)	 Emoluments of senior management
Other than the emoluments of five highest paid individuals and directors disclosed in notes 10(b) and 15(a) 
respectively, the emoluments of the senior management fell within the following bands:

Number of individual(s)

2021 2020

Emolument band (HK$)
2,500,001–3,000,000 2 1
3,000,001–3,500,000 1 –
4,000,001–4,500,000 2 1
4,500,001–5,000,000 – 1
5,000,001–5,500,000 – 1
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11	 Finance costs

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Continuing operations

Interest on borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities 397.5 570.3

Interest on fixed rate bonds 294.3 268.1

Interest on lease liabilities 49(c)(i) 53.0 50.5

Others 93.9 77.9

838.7 966.8

12	 Income tax expenses
Hong Kong profits tax is provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the 

year. Taxation on Mainland China and overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated taxable profits for 

the year at the rates of tax prevailing in the regions in which the Group operates. These rates range from 12% to 

28% (2020: 12% to 28%). Withholding tax on dividends is mainly provided at the rate of 5% or 10% (2020: 5% or 

10%).

The assessable profits of the Group’s insurance business are computed in accordance with the special provisions 

of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance (“IRO”). Profits tax for the long-term insurance business, as defined 

by IRO, is computed at a rate of 16.5% of 5% of net premiums (gross premiums received less reinsurance 

premiums ceded) of the life insurance business in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of IRO.

The amount of income tax from continuing operations charged to the consolidated income statement represents:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Current income tax

Hong Kong profits tax 224.4 208.8

Mainland China and overseas taxation 628.6 426.6

Deferred income tax credit 40(a) (161.8) (45.8)

691.2 589.6

Share of taxation of associated companies and joint ventures from continuing operations of HK$151.0 million 

(2020 restated: HK$73.8 million) and HK$339.7 million (2020: HK$323.9 million) respectively are included in the 

consolidated income statement as share of results of associated companies and joint ventures respectively.

Dividends withholding tax from continuing operations of HK$124.1 million (2020: HK$140.5 million) is included in 

the above income tax charge.
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12	 Income tax expenses (continued)
The tax expenses from continuing operations on the Group’s profit before income tax differ from the theoretical 

amount that would arise using the profits tax rate of Hong Kong as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Profit before income tax 2,476.0 1,700.4

Excluding share of results of associated companies (266.2) 132.6

Excluding share of results of joint ventures (1,280.6) (1,092.9)

929.2 740.1

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) 153.3 122.1

Effect of different taxation rates in other countries 127.7 71.7

Tax on 5% of net premium of life insurance business 73.1 51.2

Results of life insurance business not taxable at the statutory rate (177.4) (143.3)

Income not subject to taxation (105.3) (73.9)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 454.9 318.5

Tax losses not recognized 28.0 81.7

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses (0.7) (2.2)

Withholding tax 130.1 170.5

Over-provisions in prior years (1.8) (5.4)

Others 9.3 (1.3)

Income tax expenses 691.2 589.6

13	 Dividends

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Interim dividend paid of HK$0.29 (2020: HK$0.29) per share 1,134.2 1,134.2

Final dividend proposed of HK$0.30 (2020: paid of HK$0.29) per share 1,173.3 1,134.3

2,307.5 2,268.5

At the meeting held on 30 September 2021, the Board recommended a final dividend of HK$0.30 per share. This 

proposed dividend has not been recognized as dividend payable in this consolidated financial statements but will 

be reflected as an appropriation of the retained profits in the consolidated financial statements for FY2022.

Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the 2021 AGM, it is expected that the final dividend will be paid 

on or about 20 December 2021.
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14	 Earnings/(loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share from continuing operations is based on profit attributable to 

shareholders of the Company arising from the continuing operations of HK$1,190.3 million (2020: HK$536.5 

million) and on the weighted average of 3,911,137,849 (2020: 3,911,137,849) ordinary shares outstanding during 

the year.

The calculation of basic loss per share from discontinued operations is based on the loss attributable to 

shareholders of the Company arising from the discontinued operations of HK$43.8 million (2020: HK$283.3 

million) and on the weighted average ordinary shares outstanding during the year as abovementioned.

There is no dilutive potential ordinary share outstanding for FY2021. For FY2020, exercise of the share options of 

the Company was not assumed for the calculation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share.

15	 Benefits and interests of directors
(a)	 The aggregate amounts of emoluments of the directors of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Remunerations (i) 69.4 79.3

Remuneration package, including director’s fee, basic salaries, allowances and other benefits, 

discretionary bonuses, employer’s contribution to retirement benefits scheme and share option benefits (if 

any), is determined according to individual performance, job responsibility and seniority, and is reviewed 

with reference to market conditions.

During this year, the Group did not pay the directors any inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as 

compensation for loss of office. No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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15	 Benefits and interests of directors (continued)
(a)	 The aggregate amounts of emoluments of the directors of the Company are as follows (continued):

(i)	 The remunerations of individual directors are set out below:

As director# As management##

Fees

Allowances

 and other

 benefits

Basic

salaries,

 allowances

 and other

 benefits

Employer’s

 contribution

 to retirement

 benefits

 schemes

2021

Total

2020

Total

Name of director HK$’m HK$’m HK$’m HK$’m HK$’m HK$’m

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry 0.77 0.05 7.69 0.62 9.13 16.82

Mr Ma Siu Cheung 1.06 0.13 8.75 0.35 10.29 12.16

Dr Cheng Chi Kong, Adrian 0.82 0.07 6.80 0.54 8.23 5.41

Mr Cheung Chin Cheung 0.41 0.09 6.80 0.54 7.84 9.42

Mr Cheng Chi Ming, Brian 0.74 0.08 6.83 0.54 8.19 9.49

Mr Ho Gilbert Chi Hang 1.10 0.08 6.98 0.54 8.70 10.87

Mr Chow Tak Wing 0.39 0.10 6.80 0.55 7.84 9.87

Mr Cheng Chi Leong, Christopher* 0.03 0.01 3.60 0.15 3.79 –

Mr To Hin Tsun, Gerald 0.30 0.07 – – 0.37 0.35

Mr Dominic Lai 0.43 0.10 – – 0.53 0.52

Mr Tsang Yam Pui** 0.30 0.07 – – 0.37 0.36

Mr Lam Wai Hon, Patrick*** 0.32 0.07 – – 0.39 0.41

Mr William Junior Guilherme Doo 0.35 0.07 – – 0.42 0.41

Mr Kwong Che Keung, Gordon 0.63 0.11 – – 0.74 0.73

Dr Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher 0.47 0.10 – – 0.57 0.55

Mr Shek Lai Him, Abraham 0.52 0.10 – – 0.62 0.61

Mr Lee Yiu Kwong, Alan 0.43 0.10 – – 0.53 0.51

Mrs Oei Fung Wai Chi, Grace 0.39 0.09 – – 0.48 0.46

Mr Wong Kwai Huen, Albert 0.34 0.07 – – 0.41 0.40

9.80 1.56 54.25 3.83 69.44 79.35

*	 Appointed on 1 December 2020

**	 Resigned on 1 January 2021

***	 Retired as a non-executive director and was appointed as the alternate director to Mr William Junior Guilherme 
Doo, both on 25 November 2020

#	 The amount represented emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, 
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

##	 The amount represented emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s other services in connection 
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings and included basic salaries, 
discretionary bonuses, employer’s contribution to retirement benefit scheme, allowances and other benefits.
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15	 Benefits and interests of directors (continued)
(b)	 Directors’ material interest in transactions, arrangements or contracts

On 24 April 2020, a master services agreement (the “DOO Master Services Agreement”) was entered 

into between the Company and Mr Doo Wai Hoi, William (“Mr Doo”) whereby each of the Company and  

Mr Doo agreed to, and agreed to procure that members of the Group or the Services Group (being 

Mr Doo and any company which is a direct or indirect 30%-controlled company of Mr Doo, and the 

subsidiaries of such companies) (to the extent practicable), engage relevant members of the Services 

Group or the Group to provide certain operational services to relevant members of the Group or the 

Services Group during the term of the DOO Master Services Agreement. Mr Doo is the father of Mr William 

Junior Guilherme Doo, brother-in-law of Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry, and uncle of Dr Cheng Chi Kong, 

Adrian, Mr Cheng Chi Ming, Brian and Mr Cheng Chi Leong, Christopher, all of whom except for Mr Doo 

are directors of the Company.

The DOO Master Services Agreement has an initial term of three years commencing from 1 July 2020. For 

the year ended 30 June 2021, the approximate total contract sum was HK$936.0 million (2020: HK$722.1 

million).

Save as mentioned above, no other significant transactions, arrangements or contracts in relation to 

the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a 

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the 

year.
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16	 Investment properties

HK$’m Note

Commercial

 properties in

 Hong Kong

Commercial

 properties in

 Macau

Residential

 properties in 

Mainland

 China Total

At 1 July 2020 1,658.0 31.4 13.7 1,703.1

Fair value changes 8 (14.0) – 0.8 (13.2)

Transfer to property, plant and 

equipment 17 – – (9.0) (9.0)

Translation differences – – 0.5 0.5

At 30 June 2021 1,644.0 31.4 6.0 1,681.4

HK$’m Note

Commercial

 properties in

 Hong Kong

Commercial 

properties in

 Macau

Residential 

properties in 

Mainland

China Total

At 1 July 2019 1,681.0 31.6 13.9 1,726.5

Fair value changes 8 (23.0) (0.2) 0.3 (22.9)

Translation differences – – (0.5) (0.5)

At 30 June 2020 1,658.0 31.4 13.7 1,703.1

The investment properties of the Group measured at fair value are categorized as Level 3 in the fair value 

hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the 

date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There was no transfer among Levels 1, 2 

and 3 fair value hierarchy during the year.

(a)	 Valuation process of the Group

The investment properties were revalued on 30 June 2021 by an independent, professionally qualified 

valuer, Knight Frank Petty Limited, based on a market value assessment or income approach as detailed 

in note 5(g).

The Group’s management reviews the valuations performed by the independent valuers for financial 

reporting purposes. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the management 

and valuers at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates.
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16	 Investment properties (continued)
(b)	 Valuation methods

Fair values of the residential properties in Mainland China are generally derived using the sales comparison 

method. This valuation method is based on comparing the properties to be valued directly with other 

comparable properties transacted and/or asking prices. However, given the heterogeneous nature of real 

estate properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any qualitative differences that 

may affect the price likely to be achieved by the properties under consideration.

Fair values of commercial properties in Hong Kong and Macau are generally derived using the income 

capitalization method. This valuation method is based on the capitalization of the net income and 

reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate capitalization rates, which are derived from analysis 

of sale transactions and valuers’ interpretation of prevailing investor requirements or expectations. The 

prevailing market rents adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings, within the subject 

properties and other comparable properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

(c)	 Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair value

Fair value at
30 June 2021

 HK$’m

Fair value at
30 June 2020

 HK$’m Valuation methods Unobservable inputs

Range of
 unobservable

 inputs for 2021

Range of
 unobservable

inputs for 2020 Note

Commercial properties in Hong Kong 1,644.0 1,658.0 Income capitalization Capitalization rate 4.2%–5.2% 4.2%–5.2% (i)

Average monthly rental HK$40–
HK$440/sq ft

 HK$3,600 per 
carpark space

HK$40–
HK$450/sq ft

 HK$3,600 per
 carpark space

(ii)

Commercial properties in Macau 31.4 31.4 Income capitalization Capitalization rate 1.9%–3.0% 1.9%–3.0% (i)

Average monthly rental HK$30–
HK$34/sq ft

HK$3,500 per 
carpark space

HK$30–
HK$34/sq ft

HK$3,500 per
carpark space

(ii)

Residential properties in Mainland China 6.0 13.7 Sales comparison Property specific adjusting 
factor

1.00–1.05 0.95–1.00 (ii)

1,681.4 1,703.1

Notes:	 Descriptions of the sensitivity in unobservable inputs and inter-relationship:

(i)	 The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the unobservable input that the lower the factor will 
result in a higher fair value.

(ii)	 The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the unobservable input that the higher the factor will 
result in a higher fair value.
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17	 Property, plant and equipment

HK$’m Note

Land and

 properties

Other

plant and

equipment

Construction

in progress

Buses,

vessels and

 other motor

 vehicles Total

Cost

At 1 July 2020 1,132.5 2,958.9 102.0 4,011.7 8,205.1

Additions – 261.6 57.3 6.4 325.3

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) (1,035.0) (215.9) (112.1) (4,029.1) (5,392.1)

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary – (5.0) – – (5.0)

Transfer from investment properties 16 9.0 – – – 9.0

Disposals – (150.7) – (5.9) (156.6)

Transfers – 2.3 (47.2) 44.9 –

Translation differences 0.9 36.8 – 0.2 37.9

At 30 June 2021 107.4 2,888.0 – 28.2 3,023.6

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 July 2020 274.1 1,733.6 – 1,315.9 3,323.6

Depreciation (a) 8.1 265.1 – 103.9 377.1

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) (260.2) (77.2) – (1,392.4) (1,729.8)

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary – (0.1) – – (0.1)

Disposal – (143.4) – (4.1) (147.5)

Translation differences – 14.1 – 0.2 14.3

At 30 June 2021 22.0 1,792.1 – 23.5 1,837.6

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 85.4 1,095.9 – 4.7 1,186.0

(a)	 The amount represents depreciation charge of HK$377.1 million which includes HK$266.0 million (note 9) 

arising from continuing operations and HK$111.1 million arising from discontinued operations.
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17	 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

HK$’m Note

Land and

 properties

Other

plant and

equipment

Construction

in progress

Buses,

vessels and

 other motor

vehicles Total

Cost

At 1 July 2019 1,147.7 2,499.1 142.0 3,970.9 7,759.7

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 110.4 – 0.4 110.8

Additions – 534.8 48.0 167.4 750.2

Disposals – (152.6) – (23.5) (176.1)

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) (15.2) (27.8) – (190.4) (233.4)

Transfers – 1.0 (88.0) 87.0 –

Translation differences – (6.0) – (0.1) (6.1)

At 30 June 2020 1,132.5 2,958.9 102.0 4,011.7 8,205.1

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 July 2019 148.5 1,612.7 – 770.0 2,531.2

Depreciation (a) 45.5 259.7 – 334.7 639.9

Impairment 33(a)(i) 84.5 – – 290.5 375.0

Disposals – (120.0) – (19.3) (139.3)

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) (4.4) (14.9) – (59.9) (79.2)

Translation differences – (3.9) – (0.1) (4.0)

At 30 June 2020 274.1 1,733.6 – 1,315.9 3,323.6

Net book value

At 30 June 2020 858.4 1,225.3 102.0 2,695.8 4,881.5

(a)	 The amount represented depreciation charge of HK$639.9 million which included HK$242.8 million (note 9) 

arising from continuing operations and HK$397.1 million arising from discontinued operations.
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18	 Intangible concession rights

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Cost

At beginning of year 22,418.0 18,153.1

Additions (a) – 5,167.4

Disposals – (233.2)

Translation differences 2,153.2 (669.3)

At end of year 24,571.2 22,418.0

Accumulated amortization and impairment

At beginning of year 8,334.1 8,092.3

Amortization 9 1,052.5 714.9

Disposals – (203.2)

Translation differences 829.0 (269.9)

At end of year 10,215.6 8,334.1

Net book value

At end of year (b) 14,355.6 14,083.9

(a)	 Additions for FY2020 mainly represented acquisition of intangible concession rights of Changliu 

Expressway.

(b)	 Intangible concession rights refer to the Group’s investment in the Roads segment. Amortization of 

intangible concession rights is included in the cost of sales in the consolidated income statement.
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19	 Intangible assets

HK$’m Note Goodwill

Operating right 

and others Total

Cost

At 1 July 2020 5,981.9 702.2 6,684.1

Additions – 78.5 78.5

Disposal of subsidiaries (386.9) – (386.9)

At 30 June 2021 5,595.0 780.7 6,375.7

Accumulated amortization and impairment

At 1 July 2020 402.3 375.0 777.3

Amortization 9 – 69.1 69.1

Disposal of subsidiaries (386.9) – (386.9)

At 30 June 2021 15.4 444.1 459.5

Net book value

At 30 June 2021 5,579.6 336.6 5,916.2

HK$’m Note Goodwill

Operating right 

and others Total

Cost

At 1 July 2019 422.0 636.4 1,058.4

Acquisition of subsidiaries 5,576.3 90.5 5,666.8

Additions – 44.5 44.5

Disposals (6.6) – (6.6)

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) (9.8) (69.2) (79.0)

At 30 June 2020 5,981.9 702.2 6,684.1

Accumulated amortization and impairment

At 1 July 2019 15.4 324.3 339.7

Amortization (a) – 56.5 56.5

Impairment 33(a)(i) 386.9 – 386.9

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) – (5.8) (5.8)

At 30 June 2020 402.3 375.0 777.3

Net book value

At 30 June 2020 5,579.6 327.2 5,906.8

(a)	 The amount represented depreciation charge of HK$56.5 million which included HK$55.1 million (note 9) 

arising from continuing operations and HK$1.4 million arising from discontinued operations.
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19	 Intangible assets (continued)
(a)	 Goodwill

A summary of the goodwill allocation to segment is presented below:

HK$’m Hong Kong Mainland China Total

At 30 June 2021

Roads – 3.3 3.3

Insurance 5,576.3 – 5,576.3

5,576.3 3.3 5,579.6

At 30 June 2020

Roads – 3.3 3.3

Insurance 5,576.3 – 5,576.3

5,576.3 3.3 5,579.6

In FY2021, the Group has finalized the assessment of the fair value of assets and liabilities of FTLife 

insurance and its subsidiaries as at the acquisition date of 1 November 2019 with no adjustment being 

made from goodwill of HK$5,576.3 million as reported in FY2020 annual financial statements.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according to country of operation and business 

segment. For the purpose of impairment test, the recoverable amount of the business unit is determined 

based on either fair value less costs of disposal or value in use calculations whichever is higher.

For Insurance segment, annual growth rates for premium from new business being 14% to 25% for the 

first five projection years and steady growth rate of 5% for the next five projection years are determined 

by considering both internal and external factors. Discount rate of 7.75% was used to reflect specific risk 

relating to such business. The assessment indicated no impairment is required on the carrying value of 

goodwill of Insurance segment as at 30 June 2021.

The assumptions used in the carrying value assessment are highly judgmental, and heavily dependent 

on the discount rate used and premium from new business projection. For example, any increase in the 

risk premium or any decrease in the premium from new business projection with other variables remain 

constant, if adopted, would result in decrease in the recoverable amount as determined by the value in use 

calculation.

(b)	 Operating right and others

Operating right was primarily resulted from the acquisition of right to operate facilities management 

business and is amortized over the period of the operating right. Other intangible asset mainly represents 

computer software under the Group’s Insurance segment and is amortized over a period of 3 to 5 years 

or the estimated useful life, whichever is shorter. Operating right and other intangible assets are tested for 

impairment when there is indication of impairment.

(c)	 Amortization

Amortization of intangible assets is included in the cost of sales and general and administrative expenses 

in the consolidated income statement.
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20	 Value of business acquired

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

At beginning of the year 5,651.5 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 5,825.0

Amortization 7, 9 (256.4) (173.5)

At end of year 5,395.1 5,651.5

21	 Right-of-use assets

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Leasehold land 209.6 635.7
Buildings, plant and equipment 527.3 657.0

Others 623.0 707.0

1,359.9 1,999.7

(a)	 Rental contracts capitalized as right-of-use assets are typically made for fixed periods range from 21 

months to 19 years for buildings, plant and equipment and others, but may have extension options which 

majority of these options are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessors. Lease term 

for leasehold land ranges from 32 years to 125 years (2020: ranged from 3 years to 125 years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 

conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the 

leased assets that are held by the lessor.

(b)	 During the year, additions to the right-of-use assets are HK$69.4 million (2020: HK$778.7 million, in which 

HK$557.5 million in relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries).

(c)	 Depreciation of right-of-use assets from continuing operations are as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Leasehold land 20.1 14.1

Buildings, plant and equipment 167.5 139.4

Others 84.0 84.0

9 271.6 237.5
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22	 Deferred acquisition costs

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

At beginning of the year 688.2 –
Additions of new business 1,390.3 824.3
Amortization 9(b) (367.0) (136.1)

At end of year 1,711.5 688.2

23	 Associated companies

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Group’s share of net assets, including goodwill
Listed shares – Hong Kong (a) 1,078.1 2,967.1
Listed shares – overseas (a) 628.1 486.9
Unlisted shares (b) 3,737.4 8,583.9

(d) 5,443.6 12,037.9

Amounts receivable
Gross amount (f) 1,704.7 2,575.3
Less: provision (g) (1,474.7) (1,259.7)

(c), (e) 5,673.6 13,353.5

(a)	 As at 30 June 2021, the share of market value of the Group’s listed associated companies amounts to 
HK$2,094.3 million (2020: HK$2,197.3 million).

(b)	 As at 30 June 2021, the Group has provided a pledge over its 30% equity interest in an associated 
company which owns and operates Suiyuenan Expressway with carrying amount of approximately 
HK$1,679.9 million (2020: HK$1,443.2 million) as security for a bank loan made by that associated 
company.

(c)	 As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amount mainly represents the Group’s investments in various roads, 
healthcare, strategic investments and other projects.

(d)	 During the current year, the Group’s certain investments in associated companies were reclassified to 
assets held-for-sale. Details were set out in notes 33 and 34.

(e)	 Management regularly reviews whether there are any indications of impairment of the Group’s investments 
in associated companies. Management is of the view that there is no impairment of the Group’s 
investments in associated companies as at 30 June 2021 except for an aggregate impairment loss of 
HK$248.0 million (notes 5(a)(ii) and 6(a)(i)) (2020: HK$664.8 million) (note 6(a)(iii)), of which HK$128.0 
million (2020: HK$334.8 million) (note 8) was recognized in “other income and gains, net” from continuing 
operations in the consolidated income statement whereas HK$120.0 million (2020: HK$330.0 million) (note 
6(c)) was shared by the Group and included in “share of results of associated companies” from continuing 
operations in the consolidated income statement.
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23	 Associated companies (continued)
(f)	 Amounts receivable are analyzed as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Interest bearing (i) 1,704.7 2,563.3

Non-interest bearing – 12.0

1,704.7 2,575.3

(i)	 The balance includes an amount of HK$104.7 million (2020: HK$104.7 million) which carries 

interest at 8% per annum, an aggregate amount of HK$1,600.0 million (2020: HK$1,600.0 million) 

which carries interest at 6-month HIBOR plus a margin of 1.3% per annum. The balance as at 30 

June 2020 also includes an amount of HK$751.8 million which carries interest 1-month HIBOR 

plus a margin of 1.025% per annum and an amount of HK$106.8 million which carries interest at 

one-to-five-year Renminbi benchmark lending rate published by People’s Bank of China.

The amounts are not repayable within the next 12 months from the end of the reporting period. As at 

30 June 2021, the carrying amounts of the amounts receivable are not materially different from their fair 

values.

(g)	 During the current year, additional provision of HK$215.0 million (2020: HK$343.6 million) is recognized in 

respect of amounts receivable which mainly represents share of loss from associated companies.

(h)	 Dividend income from associated companies for the current year is HK$353.1 million (2020: HK$534.6 

million). The amount of dividend income received during the current year amounting to HK$436.3 million 

(2020: HK$345.6 million) is disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(i)	 Details of principal associated companies are given in note 56. The directors of the Company are of the 

view that as at 30 June 2021, there is no individual associated company that was material to the Group.

(j)	 Financial guarantee contracts relating to associated companies are disclosed in note 48.

(k)	 The Group’s share of revenue and results of associated companies from continuing operations are 
summarized below:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Revenue 6(d) 5,449.8 4,758.6

Profit/(loss) for the year 266.2 (132.6)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 636.0 (360.6)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 902.2 (493.2)
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23	 Associated companies (continued)
(l)	 The Group’s share of assets and liabilities of associated companies are summarized below:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Non-current assets 7,536.2 19,002.3

Current assets 2,605.5 4,199.9

Current liabilities (1,245.4) (5,153.3)

Non-current liabilities (5,019.2) (7,548.8)

Net assets 3,877.1 10,500.1

24	 Joint ventures

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Co-operative joint ventures

Cost of investment less provision, including goodwill 860.6 1,202.7

Share of undistributed post-acquisition results 2,285.8 1,715.2

Amounts receivable (c) 30.1 21.3

3,176.5 2,939.2

Equity joint ventures

Group’s share of net assets, including goodwill 3,459.3 3,376.2

Companies limited by shares

Group’s share of net assets, including goodwill (d) 2,624.5 4,538.5

Amounts receivable

Gross amount (c) 2,953.7 2,820.9

Less: provision (d) (1,408.0) (1,387.3)

4,170.2 5,972.1

(a), (b) 10,806.0 12,287.5

(a)	 As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amount mainly represents the Group’s investments in various roads, 

logistics, commercial aircraft leasing and other projects.
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24	 Joint ventures (continued)
(b)	 The share of results of joint ventures from continuing operations in the current year includes the Group’s 

share of impairment loss (net of tax) for Goshawk on aircraft portfolio of HK$347.1 million (2020: HK$64.3 

million). The key assumptions used in the impairment assessment are detailed in note 5(a)(i). Besides, 

the share of results of joint ventures from continuing operations also includes the Group’s share of 

an expected credit loss provision on account receivables and aircraft repossession/recovery costs of 

HK$206.2 million (net of tax) (2020: HK$43.4 million) from Goshawk. The key assumptions used in the 

expected credit loss assessment include credit rating of airlines and provision rate.

Other than the above, management is of the view that there is no impairment of the Group’s investments 

in joint ventures as at 30 June 2021.

(c)	 Amounts receivable are analyzed as follows:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Interest bearing (i) 473.1 421.4

Non-interest bearing (ii) 2,510.7 2,420.8

2,983.8 2,842.2

(i)	 The balance includes an amount of HK$30.1 million (2020: HK$21.3 million) which carries interest 

at Hong Kong prime rate, an amount of HK$241.0 million (2020: HK$219.8 million) which carries 

interest at 90% of over-five-year Renminbi benchmark lending rate published by People’s Bank of 

China and an amount of HK$202.0 million (2020: HK$180.3 million) which carries interest at 4% 

per annum.

(ii)	 The balance includes an amount of HK$197.5 million (2020: HK$197.5 million) which has been 

subordinated to certain indebtedness of a joint venture.

As at 30 June 2021, the carrying amounts of the amounts receivable are not materially different from their 

fair values.

(d)	 During the current year, additional provision of HK$20.7 million (2020: HK$78.8 million) is recognized in 

respect of amounts receivable which mainly represents share of loss from joint ventures.

(e)	 Dividend income from joint ventures for the current year is HK$998.6 million (2020: HK$1,770.1 million). 

The amount of dividend income received during the current year amounting to HK$910.6 million (2020: 

HK$1,656.7 million) is disclosed in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(f)	 Details of principal joint ventures are given in note 57. The directors of the Company are of the view that as 

at 30 June 2021, there is no individual joint venture that was material to the Group.

(g)	 Financial guarantee contracts relating to joint ventures are disclosed in note 48.



225ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Notes to the Financial Statements

24	 Joint ventures (continued)
(h)	 The Group’s share of revenue and results of joint ventures from continuing operations are summarized 

below:

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

(restated)

Revenue 6(d) 15,745.2 13,721.9

Profit for the year 1,280.6 1,092.9
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 776.2 (631.9)

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,056.8 461.0

(i)	 The Group’s share of assets and liabilities of joint ventures are summarized below:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Non-current assets 42,134.8 45,196.9
Current assets 7,193.7 5,876.4
Current liabilities (15,414.3) (14,470.1)
Non-current liabilities (26,265.4) (27,511.5)

Net assets 7,648.8 9,091.7

25	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Equity instruments
Listed in Hong Kong 2,363.6 2,448.8
Listed in overseas 40.5 –
Unlisted (a) 72.7 357.6

2,476.8 2,806.4

Debt instruments
Listed in Hong Kong 8,428.0 7,613.8
Listed in overseas 30,781.3 24,700.5
Unlisted (a) 3,101.2 3,419.1

(b) 42,310.5 35,733.4

(c) 44,787.3 38,539.8

Represented by
Non-current assets 42,889.2 38,011.7
Current assets 1,898.1 528.1

44,787.3 38,539.8
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25	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (continued)
(a)	 Unlisted investments are stated at fair values which are determined by the recent transaction price or 

estimated using a variety of valuation methods or assessed the reasonableness with reference to market 

comparables, with the assistance of independent external valuer when necessary.

(b)	 A maturity profile of the debt instruments is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Within one year 523.1 528.1
In the second to fifth year 1,788.0 1,439.4
After the fifth year 39,999.4 33,765.9

42,310.5 35,733.4

(c)	 The financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are denominated in the following 

currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Hong Kong dollar 6,078.6 5,743.8

United States dollar 38,708.7 32,796.0

44,787.3 38,539.8
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26	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Equity instruments
Listed in Hong Kong 134.4 112.7
Listed in overseas 199.2 17.3
Unlisted (a) 393.5 256.9

727.1 386.9

Unlisted debt instruments (a) 1,746.3 1,532.3

Investment funds
Listed 4,009.5 3,493.9
Unlisted (a) 6,540.8 3,448.3

(b),(c) 10,550.3 6,942.2

(d) 13,023.7 8,861.4

Represented by
Non-current assets 12,551.8 8,488.2
Current assets 471.9 373.2

13,023.7 8,861.4

Financial assets at FVPL related to unit-linked contracts are detailed in note 31(a).

As mentioned in note 3(ac)(xi), the Group elected to apply the overlay approach for certain designated eligible 

financial assets according to HKFRS 4 (Amendment), the financial assets elected by the Group applying the 

overlay approach are equity instruments and investment funds that are managed as underlying assets supporting 

the insurance contracts issued and those fair values are generally expected to be volatile. The designated eligible 

financial assets applying the overlay approach, which are included in the financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, at the end of the reporting period are analyzed below:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Equity instruments 107.4 97.6

Investment funds 7,863.2 3,922.0

7,970.6 4,019.6
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26	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
During the current year, the total amount of overlay approach adjustments reclassified between consolidated 

income statement and other comprehensive income was derived from:

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

The amount of gains/(losses) reported in profit or loss and 

presented in consolidated income statement within “other 

income and gains, net” for the designated financial assets 

under HKFRS 9 1,462.6 (202.3)

Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets in  

consolidated income statement 8(a) (1,270.6) 208.2

The amount of gains that would have been reported in 

consolidated income statement for the designated  

financial assets as if HKAS 39 had been applied 192.0 5.9

(a)	 Unlisted investments are stated at fair values which are estimated using a variety of valuation methods or 

assessed the reasonableness with reference to market comparables, with the assistance of independent 

external valuer, when necessary.

(b)	 As at 30 June 2021, the Group holds certain investment funds with aggregate fair value of HK$2,319.7 

million (2020: HK$2,452.0 million) which are managed by the general partner while the Group participated 

in the funds as a limited partner. Management considered that the Group has neither significant influence 

nor joint control over the fund and therefore it is classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss.

(c)	 As at 30 June 2021, the Group holds participating shares of an investment fund with fair value of 

HK$776.7 million (2020: HK$776.7 million). Given all relevant investment decision making power is rested 

with the management shareholder and investment manager. There is no mechanism in place that allow 

participating shareholder to participate in investment related decision making. Management considered 

that the Group has neither significant influence nor joint control over this investment and therefore 

accounted for this investment as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(d)	 The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Hong Kong dollar 1,740.3 753.2

United States dollar 10,672.5 7,749.3

Renminbi 471.4 291.6

Pound Sterling 97.5 42.9

Euro 41.3 23.7

Others 0.7 0.7

13,023.7 8,861.4
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27	 Derivative financial instruments

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Derivative financial assets

Cross currency swaps (a) 16.3 0.2

Interest rate swaps (b) 641.9 1,493.0

Foreign currency forward contracts – 0.6

Put option (c) 801.8 478.9

1,460.0 1,972.7

Represented by

Non-current assets 658.2 1,972.0

Current assets 801.8 0.7

1,460.0 1,972.7

Derivative financial liabilities

Cross currency swaps (a) (102.8) (92.9)

Interest rate swaps (b) – (3.6)

Fuel price swaps – (141.5)

Foreign currency forward contracts – (0.4)

(102.8) (238.4)

Represented by

Non-current liabilities (102.5) (140.7)

Current liabilities (0.3) (97.7)

(102.8) (238.4)

(a)	 Cross currency swaps

As at 30 June 2021, the Group has certain cross currency swap contracts designated as cash flow 

hedges against its foreign currency risk in respect of cash flows from certain bond investments and bank 

loan with total notional amount of US$150.7 million (2020: US$122.9 million) and HK$1,005.7 million (2020: 

HK$1,005.7 million), respectively and with maturities ranging from 2021 to 2037 (2020: 2020 to 2029). 

These cross currency swap contracts are entered with several counterparties over the counter. The Group 

seeks to hedge the foreign currency risk by the exchange of payments denominated in targeted currency, 

and applies a hedge ratio of 1:1. The existence of an economic relationship between the cross currency 

swap contracts and the highly probable forecast transactions/actual transaction is determined based on 

their currency amounts and the timing of their respective cash flows. The terms of the cross currency 

swap contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the underlying bond investments and bank 

loan. The cash flow hedges were assessed to be highly effective and the related cumulative losses in the 

hedge reserve amounted to HK$40.6 million (2020: HK$72.9 million).
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27	 Derivative financial instruments (continued)
(b)	 Interest rate swaps

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s insurance business has certain forward starting swap contracts 

designated as cash flow hedges against its interest rate risk in respect of bonds to be purchased in the 

future. Under the contracts, the Group’s insurance business will be entitled to receive fixed rate of around 

4% to 5% per annum, and required to pay floating rate of 3-month LIBOR, in US$ published by the British 

Banker’s Association. The total notional amount was US$295.0 million (2020: US$450.0 million). The cash 

flow hedge was assessed to be highly effective and the related cumulative gains in the hedge reserve 

amounted to HK$47.5 million (2020: HK$477.9 million).

The Group’s insurance business seeks to hedge the interest rate risk by the exchange of payments 

benchmarked against the targeted fixed interest rate. The Group’s insurance business applies an 

approximate hedge ratio of 1:1 and determines the existence of an economic relationship between 

the forward starting swap contracts and the debt security investments by matching their critical terms, 

including the reference interest rates and interest payments.

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s insurance business received HK$640.9 million (2020: HK$1,582.0 

million) cash and bank balance from counterparties (note 39) as collateral which are repayable on demand. 

Interest is calculated on overnight federal fund rate and payable to counterparties.

(c)	 Put option

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s insurance business holds a put option which is carried at fair value of 

HK$801.8 million (2020: HK$478.9 million). The Group has the right to sell or dispose of an investment 

in equity instrument held by the Group at a specified price within a specified transaction period. As at 30 

June 2021, the fair value of the underlying equity instrument which is classified as financial assets at FVOCI 

amounted to HK$220.4 million (2020: HK$252.3 million).

28	 Other non-current assets

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Security deposits 400.7 400.7

Deferred tax assets 40 56.6 22.8

Policy loans 506.4 478.4

Consideration receivable 639.8 –

Others 344.2 296.8

1,947.7 1,198.7
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29	 Inventories

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Raw materials and consumables 13.5 89.7

Finished goods 193.5 238.9

207.0 328.6

30	 Trade, premium and other receivables

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Trade receivables (a) 1,313.2 1,924.4

Premium receivables 288.4 344.4

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (b) 4,055.0 4,843.4

Retention money receivables 1,533.6 1,697.8

Contract assets 35 870.6 201.2

Amounts due from associated companies (c) 246.2 271.1

Amounts due from joint ventures (c),(d) 6,855.2 6,925.2

(e) 15,162.2 16,207.5

(a)	 The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Under 3 months 1,205.6 1,796.1

4 to 6 months 28.5 11.2

Over 6 months 79.1 117.1

1,313.2 1,924.4

(b)	 The balance includes construction related receivables amounting to HK$1,280.5 million (2020: 

HK$2,789.2 million) which have not yet been billed at year end.
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30	 Trade, premium and other receivables (continued)
(c)	 As at 30 June 2021, the amounts due from associated companies and joint ventures of the Group are 

interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand or within the next 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period except for an amount of HK$498.0 million (2020: HK$280.8 million) due from a joint 
venture which carries compound interest at 5% per annum (2020: carries interest at 12-month LIBOR plus 
a margin of 12.15% per annum).

(d)	 The balance mainly includes advances to Goshawk amounting to HK$6,168.0 million (2020: HK$6,332.7 
million) which are interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand, except for HK$6,166.6 million (2020: 
HK$6,331.3 million) which are repayable within the next 12 months from the end of reporting period. The 
Group applies 12-month expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9 and considers there is no significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. As at 30 June 2021, loss allowance of HK$8.0 million is 
recognized.

(e)	 The Group has various credit policies for different business operations depending on the requirements of 
the markets and businesses in which the subsidiaries operate. Retention money receivables in respect of 
construction services are settled in accordance with the terms of respective contracts and majority of the 
balances are expected to settle beyond one year after the year end.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a 
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables, retention money receivables and contract 
assets. In relation to premium receivables, other receivables and amount due from associated company or 
joint ventures, the expected credit loss allowances are measured as either 12-month or lifetime expected 
credit loss. The movement of loss allowance is as follows:

HK$’m Note
Trade

receivables

Other
receivables 

and deposits

Retention
money

receivables

Amount
due from

joint
ventures Total

As at 1 July 2020 – 39.5 – – 39.5
Increase in loss allowance 

recognized in consolidated  
income statement 8 41.4 325.5 60.8 8.0 435.7

Unused amount reversed 8 – (17.3) – – (17.3)

As at 30 June 2021 41.4 347.7 60.8 8.0 457.9

HK$’m Note

Other
receivables 

and deposits

Amount
due from

associated
companies Total

As at 1 July 2019 28.8 – 28.8
Increase in loss allowance recognized  

in consolidated income statement 8 10.7 7.0 17.7
Receivables written off during the  

year as uncollectible – (7.0) (7.0)

As at 30 June 2020 39.5 – 39.5
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30	 Trade, premium and other receivables (continued)
(e)	 (continued)

During the current year, management has assessed the expected credit loss on performing financial assets 

based on methodology set out in note 4(b) and HK$32.1 million expected credit loss provision has been 

made. For non-performing assets including (i) trade receivables, other receivables and retention money 

receivables of certain construction projects, management has assessed the expected credit loss based 

on lifetime expected credit loss approach with reference to the creditability of the specific counterparties 

and HK$254.0 million expected credit loss provision has been made; and (ii) certain interest receivable 

amounting to HK$149.6 million (before provision), management has assessed the expected credit loss 

based on lifetime expected credit loss approach with reference to the creditability of the counterparties 

and provided full amount of expected credit loss provision during the current year.

(f)	 Included in the Group’s trade, premium and other receivables are HK$8,791.4 million (2020: HK$8,047.7 

million) denominated in United States dollar, HK$314.0 million (2020: HK$545.9 million) denominated in 

Renminbi and HK$12.8 million (2020: HK$14.8 million) denominated in Macau Pataca. The remaining 

balances are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

31	 Investments/liabilities related to unit-linked contracts
(a)	 Investments related to unit-linked contracts are analyzed as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Financial assets at FVPL – Investment funds, at fair value 10,717.1 8,884.2

Cash and bank balances 53.1 169.4

10,770.2 9,053.6

The classification and measurement of financial assets at FVPL related to unit-linked contracts are in 

accordance with HKFRS 9.

(b)	 Liabilities related to unit-linked contracts are analyzed as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Insurance contract liabilities 808.5 666.9

Investment contract liabilities 10,142.5 8,554.9

10,951.0 9,221.8

Represented by

Non-current liabilities 180.8 168.2

Current liabilities 10,770.2 9,053.6

10,951.0 9,221.8
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32	 Cash and bank balances

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Time deposits – maturing within three months 2,929.3 7,973.4

Time deposits – maturing after more than three months 13.7 13.6

Pledged deposits – 10.0

Other cash at bank and on hand 7,861.6 5,224.8

10,804.6 13,221.8

The effective interest rate on time deposits is 0.1% (2020: 1.5%) per annum; these deposits have an average 

maturity of 11 days (2020: 17 days).

The balances include HK$2,251.8 million (2020: HK$2,898.5 million) which are kept in the bank accounts opened 

with banks in Mainland China where the remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control.

The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Hong Kong dollar 2,837.9 3,601.7

Renminbi 2,397.5 3,006.8

United States dollar 5,484.2 6,467.8

Euro 48.0 111.8

Macau Pataca 11.4 12.3

Others 25.6 21.4

10,804.6 13,221.8
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33	 Discontinued operations
During FY2021, the Group entered into (i) a sale and purchase agreement with Bravo Transport Holdings Limited 

to dispose of the entire issued share capital of NWS Transport (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company) at the consideration of HK$3,200.0 million (subject to instalment arrangements and adjustments); and 

(ii) a sale and purchase agreement with Chu Kong Shipping Enterprises (Holdings) Company Limited to dispose 

of its remaining 40% interest in New World First Ferry Services Limited (collectively, “Transport Disposal”). Both 

transactions were completed during FY2021 and the Group ceased to operate the transport business. The Group 

has recognized an aggregate net loss on Transport Disposal of HK$64.8 million (note 33(a)) in the consolidated 

income statement for FY2021. The assets and liabilities of NWS Transport at the date of completion of disposal 

were included in note 49(b).

The results related to the Transport Disposal are presented as discontinued operations in accordance with 

HKFRS 5.

The Group holds 42% interest in SUEZ NWS (an associated company of the Group) and owned 100% interest in 

NWS HKI (which indirectly holds 12.55% effective interest in Derun Environment) (collectively with SUEZ NWS, the 

“Environment Disposal Group”). In December 2020, the Group reached an advanced stage of negotiation of the 

disposal of the Environment Disposal Group. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the Environment Disposal 

Group were reclassified as held-for-sale as at 31 December 2020 and were measured at the lower of carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell.

In January 2021, the Group entered into conditional sale and purchase agreements for the disposal of the 

Group’s entire interest in SUEZ NWS and NWS HKI together with the inter-company payable by NWS HKI to the 

Company at an aggregate cash consideration of HK$6,533.0 million. The disposal of NWS HKI was completed 

in May 2021 and the Group has recognized a remeasurement loss of HK$228.1 million (note 33(a)) in FY2021 

as a standalone disposal of NWS HKI. The carrying value of SUEZ NWS of HK$4,054.5 million continued to be 

accounted for as an asset held-for-sale as at 30 June 2021 and was included in the amount disclosed in note 34.

Given the Environment Disposal Group accounts for a significant part of the Group’s environment business, the 

disposal constituted a discontinued operation under HKFRS 5.



236 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDNotes to the Financial Statements

33	 Discontinued operations (continued)
An analysis of the results, total comprehensive income/(loss) and cash flows relating to the discontinued 

operations is set out below:

(a)	 Results from discontinued operations

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Revenue 655.1 3,308.3

Cost of sales (791.8) (3,637.6)

Gross loss (136.7) (329.3)

Other income and gains/(charges), net (i) 126.0 (378.0)

Selling and marketing expenses (1.5) (9.1)

General and administrative expenses (33.4) (185.8)

Operating loss (45.6) (902.2)

Finance costs 6(a)(ii),6(a)(iv) (5.7) (29.0)

Share of results of

Associated companies 152.8 212.8

Joint venture 94.9 148.0

Profit/(loss) before income tax 196.4 (570.4)

Income tax credit (i) 52.7 132.0

249.1 (438.4)

Remeasurement loss upon reclassification  

as held-for-sale 6(a)(i) (228.1) –

Net (loss)/profit on disposal of discontinued operations (64.8) 155.1

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (43.8) (283.3)

(i)	 The amount for FY2020 included impairment loss for transport business of HK$700.0 million (note 

6(a)(iii)), of which HK$386.9 million (note 19) was provided against goodwill and against HK$375.0 

million (note 17) was provided against property, plant and equipment, net of tax credit HK$61.9 

million.
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33	 Discontinued operations (continued)
(b)	 Total comprehensive income/(loss) from discontinued operations

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (43.8) (283.3)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Net fair value changes on equity instruments as  

financial assets at FVOCI 1.9 (47.0)

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligation 3.1 (25.9)

Release of reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries 99.1 24.7

Release of reserves upon disposal of interest in  

an associated company (1.5) –

Share of other comprehensive loss of a joint venture – (4.7)

Cash flow hedges 41.6 (152.8)

Currency translation differences 394.7 (167.3)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 538.9 (373.0)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year from  

discontinued operations 495.1 (656.3)

(c)	 Cash flows from discontinued operations

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Net cash generated from operating activities 151.1 258.2

Net cash generated from investing activities 858.5 4.9

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 17.8 (49.7)

Net cash from discontinued operations 1,027.4 213.4
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34	 Assets held-for-sale
As detailed in note 33, the Group’s entire interest in SUEZ NWS was classified as an asset held-for-sale as at 30 

June 2021.

In June 2021, the Group entered into a framework agreement for the proposed disposal of its entire 20% interest 

in XCTG (an associated company of the Group), at a cash consideration of RMB1,568.0 million (equivalent to 

approximately HK$1,877.8 million). Accordingly, the Group’s interest in XCTG was reclassified as assets held-for-

sale as at 30 June 2021 and was measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. No 

remeasurement loss was recognized for FY2021 in accordance with the provisions under HKFRS 5. A conditional 

sale and purchase agreement for this disposal was subsequently entered into in August 2021.

Apart from the above, the Group reclassified its investment in Wai Kee from an associated company to an asset 

held-for-sale as at 31 December 2020 as the Group intended to recover the carrying amount through sales. Upon 

reclassification, the investment was measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Based on the fair value of the investment, a remeasurement loss of HK$1,373.8 million (notes 6(a)(i) and 8) was 

recognized as “other income and gains, net” from continuing operations in the consolidated income statement 

during FY2021. In April 2021, the Group disposed of half of its shareholding interest in Wai Kee with a profit of 

HK$63.7 million recognized as “other income and gains, net” from continuing operations in the consolidated 

income statement. The fair value of the remaining interest in the investment of HK$379.2 million continued to be 

classified as an asset held-for-sale as at 30 June 2021. 

Assets held-for-sale as at 30 June 2020 mainly represented the Group’s 20% equity interest in an associated 

company engaged in healthcare business amounting to HK$72.7 million. It was classified as assets held-for-sale 

as the Group intended to recover the carrying amount through a sale transaction and the recoverable amount 

was determined primarily based on estimated disposal consideration. Based on the assessment, a provision of 

HK$40.0 million for impairment was made against the Group’s interests in this associated company in FY2020. 

Subsequently, the Group’s interest in this associated company was disposed of in September 2020.

The assets classified as held-for-sale, which have been presented separately in the consolidated statement of 

financial position, are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Assets

Associated companies 6,324.2 111.5

Trade and other receivables 0.7 0.7

6,324.9 112.2
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35	 Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract assets and contract liabilities are related to the Group’s construction business, details are as follows:

2021 2020
Note HK$’m HK$’m

Contract assets 30 870.6 201.2

Contract liabilities 44 (447.3) (1,311.8)

423.3 (1,110.6)

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognized in the current reporting period relates to contract 

liability balance at the beginning of the year and the amount relates to performance obligations that were satisfied 

in previous years:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Revenue recognized that was included in the  

contract liability balance at the beginning of the year 1,209.9 1,006.9

Revenue recognized from performance obligations satisfied/partially  

satisfied in previous years 289.4 272.2

The following table shows the amount of unsatisfied performance obligations:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Expected to be recognized within one year 14,972.1 19,672.6

Expected to be recognized after one year 13,257.4 16,475.6

28,229.5 36,148.2
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36	 Share capital

Ordinary Shares

No. of shares HK$’m

Authorized

At 1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021 6,000,000,000 6,000.0

Issued and fully paid

At 1 July 2020 and 30 June 2021 3,911,137,849 3,911.1

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme of the Company, which was adopted on 21 November 2011, is valid and effective for 

a period of ten years from the date of adoption. The Board may, at their discretion, grant options to any eligible 

participant as defined under the Share Option Scheme to subscribe for the shares of the Company.

There were no share options of the Company granted during the current year or outstanding as at 30 June 2021 

and 30 June 2020 under the share option scheme of the Company.
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37	 Reserves

HK$’m Note
Share

premium
Special

reserves
Hedge

reserves

FVOCI
reserve 

(non-
(recycling)

FVOCI 
reserve

(recycling)
Exchange

reserve
Revenue

reserve Total

At 1 July 2020 17,821.5 528.1 (265.4) (814.5) 1,363.2 (1,926.3) 25,749.3 42,455.9
Profit attributable to shareholders  

of the Company – – – – – – 1,146.5 1,146.5
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company – – – – – – (2,268.5) (2,268.5)
Release of reserves upon disposal/partial 

disposal of interests in associated companies – (46.3) (1.5) – – (56.6) 42.8 (61.6)
Release of reserve upon disposal  

of interest in a joint venture – – – – – (93.8) – (93.8)
Release of reserves upon disposal of 

subsidiaries – 4.7 99.1 (297.5) – (27.7) 292.8 71.4
Release of reserve upon disposal of equity 

instruments as financial assets at FVOCI – – – 6.8 – – (6.8) –
Release of reserve upon disposal of debt 

instruments as financial assets at FVOCI – – – – (40.7) – – (40.7)
Release of reserve upon deconsolidation of a 

subsidiary – – – – – (10.3) – (10.3)
Net fair value changes on equity instruments as 

financial assets at FVOCI
Group – – – 62.8 – – – 62.8
Associated company – – – 11.8 – – – 11.8
Joint venture – – – 1.9 – – – 1.9

Net fair value changes and other net  
movements on debt instruments as  
financial assets at FVOCI (a) – – – – (1,677.3) – – (1,677.3)

Amount reported in other comprehensive income 
applying overlay approach adjustments on 
financial assets 8(a) – – – – 1,270.6 – – 1,270.6

Currency translation differences
Group – – – – – 1,186.6 – 1,186.6
Associated companies – – – – – 932.0 – 932.0
Joint ventures – – – – – 750.4 – 750.4

Share of other comprehensive loss of associated 
companies and joint ventures – (2.9) – – – – (0.4) (3.3)

Cash flow/fair value hedges
Group – – (26.6) – – – – (26.6)
Associated company – – (0.5) – – – – (0.5)
Joint ventures – – 269.8 – – – – 269.8

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit 
obligation – – – – – – 25.2 25.2

Transfer of reserves – 32.3 – – – – (32.3) –

At 30 June 2021 17,821.5 515.9 74.9 (1,028.7) 915.8 754.3 24,948.6 44,002.3

(a)	 The amounts represent net fair value changes of financial assets at FVOCI for the current year recognized 

in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, in which net fair value changes of debt instruments 

are mainly relating to investments held by the Group’s insurance business.
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37	 Reserves (continued)

HK$’m Note
Share

premium
Special

reserves
Hedge

reserves

FVOCI
reserve 

(non-
(recycling)

FVOCI 
reserve

(recycling)
Exchange

reserve
Revenue

reserve Total

At 1 July 2019 17,821.5 784.5 (421.5) (704.7) – (635.6) 28,184.1 45,028.3
Profit attributable to shareholders  

of the Company – – – – – – 253.2 253.2
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company – – – – – – (2,268.5) (2,268.5)
Release of reserves upon disposal/partial 

disposal of interests in associated companies – (8.5) – – – (6.0) – (14.5)
Release of reserves upon disposal of 

subsidiaries – – 24.7 (1.8) – – 1.8 24.7
Release of reserve upon disposal of equity 

instruments as financial assets at FVOCI – – – 666.1 – – (666.1) –
Release of reserve upon disposal of debt 

instruments as financial assets at FVOCI – – – – (309.7) – – (309.7)
Net fair value changes on equity instruments as 

financial assets at FVOCI
Group – – – (761.5) – – – (761.5)
Associated company – – – (15.7) – – – (15.7)
Joint venture – – – 3.1 – – – 3.1

Net fair value changes and other net  
movements on debt instruments as  
financial assets at FVOCI (a) – – – – 1,881.1 – – 1,881.1

Amount reported in other comprehensive income 
applying overlay approach adjustments on 
financial assets 8(a) – – – – (208.2) – – (208.2)

Currency translation differences
Group – – – – – (472.2) – (472.2)
Associated companies – – – – – (424.0) – (424.0)
Joint ventures – – – – – (388.5) – (388.5)

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income 
of associated companies and joint ventures – (13.3) – – – – 0.4 (12.9)

Cash flow/fair value hedges
Group – – 438.3 – – – – 438.3
Associated company – – 2.1 – – – – 2.1
Joint venture – – (309.0) – – – – (309.0)

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit 
obligation – – – – – – 32.0 32.0

Transaction costs in relation to the issuance of 
perpetual capital securities – – – – – – (22.2) (22.2)

Transfer of reserves (b) – (234.6) – – – – 234.6 –

At 30 June 2020 17,821.5 528.1 (265.4) (814.5) 1,363.2 (1,926.3) 25,749.3 42,455.9

(a)	 The amounts represented net fair value changes of financial assets at FVOCI for the last year recognized 

in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, in which net fair value changes of debt instruments 

were mainly relating to investments held by the Group’s insurance business.

(b)	 The amount mainly represented the transfer of share option reserve HK$254.9 million to revenue reserve.
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37	 Reserves (continued)
Special reserves include statutory reserves which are created in accordance with the relevant laws of the Mainland 

and/or terms of the joint venture agreements of subsidiaries and joint ventures established in the Mainland and are 

required to be retained in the financial statements of these subsidiaries and joint ventures for specific purposes. 

Special reserves also include capital redemption reserve and property revaluation reserve. Hedge reserves include 

(i) cash flow hedge reserve arising from foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps, cross currency 

swaps contracts and fuel price swaps and (ii) fair value hedge reserve arising from a put option.

38	 Perpetual capital securities
The balance represents US$1,000 million and US$300 million 5.75% senior perpetual capital securities issued 

by the Group in January 2019 and July 2019 respectively which were consolidated as a single series. The senior 

perpetual capital securities are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and have no maturity date. The Group 

has the right to redeem the securities from the holders and the payments of distribution can be deferred at the 

discretion of the Group. The securities are classified as equity in the consolidated financial statements of the 

Group.

39	 Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Non-current

Unsecured long-term bank loans (a), (b) 16,167.7 19,668.2

Unsecured fixed rate bonds (c) 6,864.7 6,973.7

Financing received under a financial reinsurance arrangement (d) 197.0 249.6

Unsecured other borrowings – 0.2

23,229.4 26,891.7

Current

Current portion of unsecured long-term bank loans (a), (b) 1,297.1 1,537.0

Unsecured short-term bank loans 94.0 829.7

Financing received under a financial reinsurance arrangement (d) 86.5 115.2

Cash collateral received for cross currency swap and  

forward starting interest rate swap contracts 27(b) 640.9 1,582.0

Unsecured other borrowings 0.1 0.1

2,118.6 4,064.0

25,348.0 30,955.7
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39	 Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities (continued)
(a)	 Unsecured long-term bank loans

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Unsecured long-term bank loans 17,464.8 21,205.2
Amounts repayable within one year included in current liabilities (1,297.1) (1,537.0)

16,167.7 19,668.2

The maturity of unsecured long-term bank loans is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’m HK$’m

Within one year 1,297.1 1,537.0
In the second year 4,131.2 1,724.9
In the third to fifth year 9,187.5 14,075.8
After the fifth year 2,849.0 3,867.5

17,464.8 21,205.2

As at 30 June 2021, the Group’s long-term bank loans of HK$17.465 billion (2020: HK$21.205 billion) are 
exposed to interest rate risk of contractual repricing dates falling within one year. Interest rate swaps and 
cross currency swaps contracts are used to hedge against part of the Group’s underlying interest rate 
exposures.

(b)	 The effective interest rates of bank loans at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

2021 2020

Hong Kong dollar 1.19% 1.62%
Renminbi 4.22% 4.30%
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39	 Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities (continued)
(c)	 Fixed rate bonds

Fixed rate bonds represent the following:

•	 US$650.0 million bonds issued in June 2019 at a price 99.718% of the principal amount bearing 
a coupon rate of 4.25% per annum. These bonds are unsecured, have maturity of ten years falling 
due 2029 and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The effective interest rate applied is 4.42% 
per annum. During the year, US$14.1 million in aggregate principal amount of the bonds were 
redeemed and cancelled by the Group. As at 30 June 2021, US$635.9 million (2020: US$650.0 
million) in aggregate principal amount of the bonds remains outstanding; and

•	 US$250.0 million bonds issued in April 2013 at a price 99.272% of the principal amount bearing 
a coupon rate of 4.125% per annum. These bonds are unsecured, will fully mature in April 2023 
and listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The effective 
interest rate applied is 3.58% per annum.

As at 30 June 2021, the fair value of the bonds amounted to US$921.2 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$7,175.8 million) (2020: US$901.9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$7,022.3 million)) which is 
based on the quoted market prices.

(d)	 The Group had a financial reinsurance arrangement with a reinsurer. Under the financial reinsurance 

arrangement, the Group had received an up-front fee of US$103 million at finance cost of 3-month HIBOR 

plus 2.975% per annum. The fair value of the financing approximately equals to the corresponding carrying 

value.

(e)	 Other than fixed rate bonds in note (c) above, the carrying amounts of the borrowings and other interest-

bearing liabilities approximate their fair values.

(f)	 The carrying amounts of the borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities are denominated in the 

following currencies (after taken into account cross currency swaps contracts entered):

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Hong Kong dollar 13,778.7 18,462.6

United States dollar 7,765.9 8,846.7

Renminbi 3,780.2 3,572.5

Euro 23.2 73.9

25,348.0 30,955.7
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40	 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the taxes relate to the same tax authority and where 

offsetting is legally enforceable. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown 

separately on the consolidated statement of financial position.

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Deferred tax assets 28 56.6 22.8

Deferred tax liabilities (1,925.4) (2,285.9)

(1,868.8) (2,263.1)

At beginning of year (2,263.1) (2,234.2)

Translation differences (135.5) 50.7

Acquisition of subsidiaries – (299.0)

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) 295.6 34.4

Written back upon disposal of intangible concession rights – 4.7

Amount credited to other comprehensive income 19.7 –

Net amount credited to the consolidated income statement (a) 214.5 180.3

At end of year (1,868.8) (2,263.1)

(a)	 The amount represents deferred tax credit of HK$214.5 million (2020: HK$180.3 million) which includes 

HK$161.8 million (2020: HK$45.8 million) (note 12) arising from continuing operations and HK$52.7 million 

(2020: HK$134.5 million) arising from discontinued operations.

(b)	 Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal 

taxation rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%).

(c)	 Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realization 
of the related tax benefits through the future taxable profits are probable. The Group has unrecognized 
tax losses of HK$1,632.6 million (2020: HK$1,668.5 million) to be carried forward against future taxable 
income. These tax losses have no expiry dates.

(d)	 As at 30 June 2021, the aggregate amount of unrecognized deferred tax liabilities associated with 
investments in subsidiaries totalled approximately HK$112.7 million (2020: HK$117.4 million). For this 
unrecognized amount, the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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40	 Deferred income tax (continued)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation 
jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Tax losses
Other deductible 

temporary differences Total

HK$’m 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

At beginning of year 0.7 1.9 62.6 65.4 63.3 67.3
Translation differences – – 3.5 (1.3) 3.5 (1.3)
Disposal of subsidiaries – – (19.7) – (19.7) –
Credited to other  

comprehensive income – – 19.7 – 19.7 –
Credited/(charged) to the 

consolidated income  
statement 66.5 (1.2) (31.3) (1.5) 35.2 (2.7)

At end of year 67.2 0.7 34.8 62.6 102.0 63.3

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax 
depreciation

Amortization of 
concession rights

Undistributed profits 
of subsidiaries, 

associated companies 
and joint ventures Others Total

HK$’m 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

At beginning of year (413.8) (594.1) (1,374.0) (1,488.8) (244.5) (215.3) (294.1) (3.3) (2,326.4) (2,301.5)
Translation differences 0.2 – (131.5) 48.9 (7.7) 3.1 – – (139.0) 52.0
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – (299.0) – (299.0)
Disposal of subsidiaries 311.3 34.4 – – 4.0 – – – 315.3 34.4
Written back upon disposal of  

intangible concession rights – – – 4.7 – – – – – 4.7
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated 

income statement 51.8 145.9 132.3 61.2 (16.3) (32.3) 11.5 8.2 179.3 183.0

At end of year (50.5) (413.8) (1,373.2) (1,374.0) (264.5) (244.5) (282.6) (294.1) (1,970.8) (2,326.4)
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41	 Insurance and investment contract liabilities

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Insurance contract liabilities (a),(b) 42,497.5 34,894.7

Investment contract liabilities 5.3 5.4

42,502.8 34,900.1

Represented by

Non-current liabilities 18,143.5 14,454.8

Current liabilities 2 24,359.3 20,445.3

42,502.8 34,900.1

Insurance and investment contract liabilities related to unit-linked contracts are detailed in note 31(b).

(a)	 The maturity profile of insurance contract liabilities, which is presented on a discounted basis and 

projected according to the Group’s best estimate on the timing of future cash flows based on the historical 

settlement pattern, is stated as below:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Payable within one year 3,861.4 3,200.5

Payable after one year 38,636.1 31,694.2

4(c) 42,497.5 34,894.7

(b)	 Insurance contract liabilities comprised:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Liabilities for guaranteed benefits 38,404.1 31,246.0

Liabilities for coinsurance payments 363.0 244.7

Provision for annual dividends 69.4 69.7

Insurance contract liabilities excluding policyholders’ 

dividends and bonuses 4(g) 38,836.5 31,560.4

Policyholders’ dividends and bonuses 3,661.0 3,334.3

Total insurance contract liabilities 42,497.5 34,894.7
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41	 Insurance and investment contract liabilities (continued)
Movements in the relevant insurance contract liabilities/resinsurer’s share of liabilities are as follows:

HK$’m

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities

Coinsurance 

liabilities

Insurance

contract

liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

Reinsurers’ 

share of 

liabilities

Net

liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

At 1 July 2020 31,315.7 244.7 31,560.4 (24.4) 31,536.0

Premiums received 8,629.0 (27.1) 8,601.9 (305.6) 8,296.3

Liabilities incurred for death, surrender and maturity (2,096.5) 24.0 (2,072.5) 231.2 (1,841.3)

Benefit and claim experience variations (190.3) (10.2) (200.5) 99.3 (101.2)

Investment income variations (487.0) 7.6 (479.4) (0.2) (479.6)

Investment income 1,438.5 – 1,438.5 – 1,438.5

Financing cost for coinsurance – 10.7 10.7 – 10.7

Adjustment due to change in reserve assumptions (179.0) – (179.0) – (179.0)

Others – 113.3 113.3 – 113.3

Translation differences 43.1 – 43.1 (2.0) 41.1

At 30 June 2021 38,473.5 363.0 38,836.5 (1.7) 38,834.8

HK$’m

Insurance 

contract 

liabilities

Coinsurance 

liabilities

Insurance

contract

liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

Reinsurers’ 

share of 

liabilities

Net

liabilities

excluding

policyholders’

dividends and

bonuses

At 1 July 2019 – – – – –

Acquisition of subsidiaries 28,099.3 245.6 28,344.9 (107.0) 28,237.9

Premiums received 4,119.9 (33.8) 4,086.1 (168.9) 3,917.2

Liabilities incurred for death, surrender and maturity (1,507.5) 19.8 (1,487.7) 153.1 (1,334.6)

Benefit and claim experience variations 188.1 0.2 188.3 98.7 287.0

Investment income variations (334.4) 5.2 (329.2) – (329.2)

Investment income 880.2 – 880.2 (1.0) 879.2

Financing cost for coinsurance – 7.7 7.7 – 7.7

Adjustment due to change in reserve assumptions 112.3 – 112.3 – 112.3

Translation differences (242.2) – (242.2) 0.7 (241.5)

At 30 June 2020 31,315.7 244.7 31,560.4 (24.4) 31,536.0

Investment income and investment income variations mainly correspond to the investment income on the assets 

backing the insurance contract liabilities and variations of such investment income against the interest accretion 

on the insurance contract liabilities, respectively.
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42	 Lease liabilities
The maturity of lease liabilities is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Within one year 227.3 377.3

In the second year 199.9 319.5

In the third to fifth year 530.9 736.7

After the fifth year 348.6 518.9

1,306.7 1,952.4

Represented by

Non-current liabilities 1,079.4 1,575.1

Current liabilities 227.3 377.3

1,306.7 1,952.4

For the year ended 30 June 2021, the total cash outflow for leases, which comprise payments for lease liabilities, 

short-term leases and variable leases, was HK$451.4 million (2020: HK$579.1 million).

43	 Other non-current liabilities

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Long service payment obligations 4.8 38.0

Deferred income 22.7 52.1

Loans from non-controlling interests (a) 25.0 28.9

Retirement benefit obligations – 8.9

Others 50.0 61.4

102.5 189.3

(a)	 The loans are interest free, unsecured and not repayable within one year.
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44	 Trade, other payables and payables to policyholders

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Trade payables (a) 627.9 584.8

Payables to policyholders 45 1,709.6 1,468.8

Other payables and accruals (b) 6,976.7 7,553.8

Retention money payables 1,362.8 1,342.6

Contract liabilities 35 447.3 1,311.8

Amounts due to non-controlling interests (c) 146.2 155.3

Amounts due to associated companies (c) 6.0 1.5

Amounts due to joint ventures (c) 56.4 56.4

11,332.9 12,475.0

(a)	 The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Under 3 months 606.4 558.8

4 to 6 months 4.0 1.4

Over 6 months 17.5 24.6

627.9 584.8

(b)	 The balance includes construction related accruals and provisions amounting to HK$3,496.3 million (2020: 

HK$4,153.6 million).

(c)	 The amounts payable are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms.

(d)	 Included in the Group’s trade, other payables and payables to policyholders are HK$2,212.2 million (2020: 

HK$1,602.9 million) denominated in United States dollar, HK$995.9 million (2020: HK$828.9 million) 

denominated in Renminbi and HK$38.2 million (2020: HK$115.6 million) denominated in Macau Pataca. 

The remaining balances are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar.
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45	 Payables to policyholders

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Claims payable 274.2 254.1

Premium deposits 1,262.6 1,094.1

Other payables 172.8 120.6

1,709.6 1,468.8

The carrying amounts disclosed above reasonably approximate their fair values as at 30 June 2021.

Claims payable represents provision for claims reported by policyholders and claims incurred but not reported, 

while premium deposits represent amounts left in deposits with the Group for the payment of future premiums. 

Both balances are expected to be settled or utilized within the next 12 months from the end of the reporting 

period.

46	 Financial instruments by category
Financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position include financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets 

at FVPL, amount receivables from associated companies and joint ventures, derivative financial instruments, 

investments related to unit-linked contracts, trade receivables, loan and other receivables and cash and bank 

balances. All these financial assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method except for 

the “financial assets at FVOCI”, “financial assets at FVPL”, “derivative financial instruments” and financial assets at 

FVPL under “investments related to unit-linked contracts” which are carried at fair value.

Financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position include borrowings and other interest-bearing 

liabilities, trade payables, derivative financial instruments, investment contract liabilities, liabilities related to unit-

linked contracts and loan and other payables. All these financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method except for the “derivative financial instruments”, “investment contract liabilities” and 

investment contract liabilities under “liabilities related to unit-linked contracts” which are carried at fair value.



253ANNUAL REPORT 2021 Notes to the Financial Statements

47	 Commitments
(a)	 The outstanding commitments for capital expenditure are as follows:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Contracted but not provided for

Property, plant and equipment 178.9 196.8

Intangible concession rights 178.8 3.3

Intangible assets 620.5 –

Capital contributions to associated companies  

and joint ventures (i) 287.4 566.0

Investment funds and other financial investments 944.0 393.7

2,209.6 1,159.8

(i)	 The Group has been committed to providing sufficient funds in the form of advances, capital and 

loan contributions to certain associated companies and joint ventures to finance relevant projects. 

The Group estimates that the share of projected funds requirements of these projects would be 

approximately HK$287.4 million (2020: HK$566.0 million) which represents the attributable portion 

of the capital and loan contributions to be made to the associated companies and joint ventures.

(b)	 The Group’s share of commitments for capital expenditure committed by the joint ventures not included 

above are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Contracted but not provided for

Property, plant and equipment 8,321.5 11,559.4

(c)	 Future minimum rental payments receivable

The future minimum rental payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

In the first year 14.2 26.0

In the second year 0.5 13.2

In the third year – 0.5

14.7 39.7

The Group’s operating leases terms range from 1 to 5 years.
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48	 Financial guarantee contracts
The Group’s financial guarantee contracts are as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Guarantees for credit facilities granted to

Associated companies 1,736.8 1,662.9

Joint ventures 2,145.0 2,145.0

3,881.8 3,807.9

In addition, the Company and NWD, through their respective wholly-owned subsidiaries, provided a joint and 

several guarantee in favour of the Hong Kong Government for the punctual, true and faithful performance and 

observance by KTSPL under the contract entered into between the Hong Kong Government and KTSPL for 

the design, construction and operation of Kai Tak Sports Park. Taking into consideration the deed of counter-

indemnity which has been entered into, the Group’s guarantee towards KTSPL is up to the extent of 25% of the 

contract sum or an amount of approximately HK$7.5 billion as at 30 June 2021 (30 June 2020: HK$7.5 billion). 

KTSPL is an associated company of the Group in which the Group has a 25% interest.
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49	 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows
(a)	 Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash generated from operations:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Operating profit from continuing and discontinued operations 1,429.4 959.8

Depreciation and amortization 2,058.6 1,932.8

Overlay approach adjustments on financial assets 1,270.6 (208.2)

Net profit on disposal of debt instruments as financial assets 

at FVOCI (40.7) (309.7)

Gain associated with investments related to unit-linked contracts (2,187.9) (122.2)

Loss/(profit) on disposal of subsidiaries 87.7 (174.8)

Net loss/(gain) on fair value of derivative financial instruments 59.1 (105.6)

Net (gain)/loss on fair value of financial assets at FVPL (1,936.7) 64.4

Interest income (1,658.3) (1,221.2)

Dividend income (212.3) (204.6)

(Profit)/loss on disposal/partial disposal of interest in 

associated companies (66.5) 77.0

Profit on disposal of interest in a joint venture (40.4) –

Impairment losses related to associated companies 128.0 334.8

Impairment loss on goodwill – 386.9

Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment – 375.0

Remeasurement loss on assets classified as held-for-sale 1,601.9 –

Provision for onerous contract – 230.0

Net loss on fair value of investment properties 13.2 22.9

Expected credit loss provision on debt instruments as financial 

assets at FVOCI and trade, premium and other receivables 455.5 49.9

Net exchange loss 33.5 66.3

Other non-cash items (8.4) 6.2

Operating profit before working capital changes 986.3 2,159.7

Decrease in inventories 51.2 69.8

Decrease in security deposits – 452.0

Decrease/(increase) in trade, premium and other receivables 709.3 (324.7)

Decrease in trade, other payables and payables to policyholders (765.5) (985.3)

(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to non-controlling interests (18.4) 8.6

Increase in deferred acquisition costs (1,023.3) (688.2)

Increase in insurance and investment contract liabilities 7,555.8 3,618.4

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities related to unit-linked contracts 1,695.3 (18.1)

Purchases of financial assets at FVPL associated with 

investments related to unit-linked contracts (5,892.2) (4,600.1)

Disposal of financial assets at FVPL associated with 

investments related to unit-linked contracts 6,267.3 4,895.5

Changes in balances with associated companies, 

joint ventures and related companies (12.5) (216.1)

Others (10.2) (15.3)

Net cash generated from operations 9,543.1 4,356.2
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49	 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
(b)	 Disposal of subsidiaries

During FY2021, the Group disposed of its entire issued share capital of NWS Transport and NWS HKI as 

disclosed in note 33 as well as a subsidiary which principally held a strategic investment as financial assets 

at FVPL. For FY2020, the Group disposed certain subsidiaries which engaged in information technology 

business, ticketing business and ferry services operation. The net assets of these subsidiaries at the date 

of completion of disposal and net profit/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries recognized during FY2021 and 

FY2020 were set out as below:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Net assets disposed of

Property, plant and equipment 17 3,662.3 154.2

Intangible assets 19 – 73.2

Right-of-use assets 401.8 4.2

Joint ventures 2,143.2 –

Financial assets at FVOCI 267.9 1.8

Financial assets at FVPL 468.0 –

Inventories 70.4 30.2

Trade, premium and other receivables 426.3 53.9

Cash and bank balances 234.6 15.3

Lease liabilities 49(c) (405.5) (4.2)

Derivative financial instruments (118.8) (24.7)

Other non-current liabilities (47.1) (15.9)

Borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities 49(c) (598.8) –

Trade, other payables and payables to policyholders (775.6) (52.5)

Taxation (0.6) (3.8)

Deferred tax liabilities 40 (295.6) (34.4)

5,432.5 197.3

Net (loss)/profit on disposals (i) (87.7) 174.8

Release of reserves upon disposal 71.4 24.7

Interest retained by the Group as an associated company – (140.5)

5,416.2 256.3

Represented by

Cash consideration received 5,318.0 256.3

Consideration receivable by instalments included as 

other non-current assets 626.7 –

Other payables (248.5) –

Vendor cash flow subsidy settled (280.0) –

5,416.2 256.3

(i)	 The amount for FY2021 represents net loss on disposals of HK$87.7 million arising from 
discontinued operations.

The amount for FY2020 represented net profit on disposals of HK$174.8 million which included 
HK$19.7 million (note 8) arising from continuing operations and HK$155.1 million (note 33) arising 
from discontinued operations.
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49	 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
(b)	 Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries:

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

Cash consideration received 5,318.0 256.3

Cash and bank balances disposed of (234.6) (15.3)

5,083.4 241.0

(c)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

HK$’m Note

Bank loans

and other

interest-

bearing

liabilities

Fixed

rate

bonds

Loans

from non-

controlling

interests

Lease

liabilities Total

At 1 July 2020 23,982.0 6,973.7 28.9 1,952.4 32,937.0

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) (598.8) – – (405.5) (1,004.3)

Cash flows from financing activities

Drawdown 1,860.1 – – – 1,860.1

Repayment (6,197.8) (112.0) (6.5) – (6,316.3)

Decrease in cash collateral received 

from counterparties (948.0) – – – (948.0)

Capital element of lease liabilities 

payments – – – (301.1) (301.1)

New leases entered/lease modified – – – 58.9 58.9

Interest expenses (i) – – – 56.9 56.9

Interest element of lease liabilities 

payments – – – (56.1) (56.1)

Translation differences 324.9 3.3 2.6 1.2 332.0

Other non-cash movements 60.9 (0.3) – – 60.6

At 30 June 2021 18,483.3 6,864.7 25.0 1,306.7 26,679.7

(i)	 The amount represents interest expenses of HK$56.9 million which includes HK$53.0 million (note 

11) arising from continuing operations and HK$3.9 million arising from discontinued operations.
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49	 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
(c)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (continued):

HK$’m Note

Bank loans

and other

interest-

bearing

liabilities

Fixed

rate

bonds

Loans

from non-

controlling

interests

Lease

liabilities Total

At 1 July 2019 10,067.0 5,002.4 34.5 1,510.9 16,614.8

Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,554.4 1,994.4 – 559.8 4,108.6

Disposal of subsidiaries 49(b) – – – (4.2) (4.2)

Cash flows from financing activities

Drawdown 14,559.7 – – – 14,559.7

Repayment (2,672.6) – (4.5) – (2,677.1)

Increase in cash collateral received 

from counterparties 423.9 – – – 423.9

Capital element of lease liabilities 

payments – – – (280.9) (280.9)

New leases entered/lease modified – – – 164.1 164.1

Interest expenses (i) – – – 65.9 65.9

Interest element of lease liabilities 

payments – – – (63.0) (63.0)

Translation differences (37.8) (22.3) (1.1) (0.2) (61.4)

Other non-cash movements 87.4 (0.8) – – 86.6

At 30 June 2020 23,982.0 6,973.7 28.9 1,952.4 32,937.0

(i)	 The amount represented interest expenses of HK$65.9 million which included HK$50.5 million (note 

11) arising from continuing operations and HK$15.4 million arising from discontinued operations.

(d)	 The amount represents cash and cash equivalents of the deconsolidated subsidiary.
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50	 Related party transactions
(a)	 The following is a summary of significant related party transactions during the year carried out in the 

normal course of the Group’s business:

2021 2020

Note HK$’m HK$’m

Transactions with affiliated companies (i)

Provision of construction work services (ii) – 0.5

Provision of other services (iii) 4.0 0.8

Interest income (iv) 96.4 149.4

Management fee income (v) 2.3 4.4

Rental and other related expenses (vi) – (1.7)

Other expenses (viii) (199.5) (383.2)

Transactions with other related parties (i)

Provision of construction work services (ii) 805.8 1,516.9

Provision of other services (iii) 39.1 49.7

Interest income (iv) 73.5 38.1

Rental, other related expenses and additions to 

right-of-use assets (vi) (33.9) (31.8)

Mechanical and electrical engineering services (vii) (881.4) (638.6)

Other expenses (viii) (84.2) (99.6)

(i)	 Affiliated companies include associated companies and joint ventures of the Group. Related parties 

are subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures of NWD, CTF Enterprises as well as  

Mr Doo and his associates which are not companies within the Group. NWD is the ultimate holding 

company of the Company and CTF Enterprises is a substantial shareholder of NWD. Mr Doo is 

the Vice-chairman and a non-executive director of NWD and is the father of Mr William Junior 

Guilherme Doo, a non-executive director of the Company.

(ii)	 Revenue from the provision of construction work services was charged in accordance with the 

relevant contracts. Revenue from provision of construction work services to KTSPL, which is both 

a subsidiary of NWD and an associated company of the Group, was presented under “Transactions 

with other related parties” only.

(iii)	 The Group provided various kinds of services including facilities management, property 

management and other services to certain affiliated companies and related parties. The services 

were provided and charged in accordance with the relevant contracts.

(iv)	 Interest income was charged at relevant interest rates as specified in notes 23, 24 and 30 on the 

outstanding balances due from the affiliated companies or relevant yield on investments in debt 

instruments.
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50	 Related party transactions (continued)
(a)	 (continued)

(v)	 Management fee was charged at rates in accordance with the relevant contracts.

(vi)	 Rental and other related expenses were charged and additions to right-of-use assets were 

measured in accordance with the respective tenancy agreements.

(vii)	 Mechanical and electrical engineering services were charged in accordance with the relevant 

contracts.

(viii)	 Other expenses include purchase of construction materials, laundry, security and guarding, 

landscaping, cleaning, property management and other services. The services were charged in 

accordance with the relevant contracts.

(b)	 Key management compensation

No significant compensation arrangement has been entered into with the directors of the Company (being 

the key management personnel) during the year other than the emoluments paid to them (being the key 

management personnel compensation) as disclosed in note 15.

(c)	 During the year, FTLife Insurance, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, subscribed for senior 

unsubordinated and unsecured notes in the principal amount of HK$1,000.0 million (2020: HK$1,500.0 

million) issued by NWD (MTN), a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWD, as part of its investment portfolio. 

These notes are bearing a coupon rate of 4.79% (2020: 4.89%) per annum, having maturity of 30 years 

and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

As at 30 June 2021, the outstanding principal amount was HK$2,500.0 million (2020: HK$1,500.0 million) 

and fair value of these notes was HK$2,693.7 million (2020: HK$1,614.7 million) which was included in the 

consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as financial assets at FVOCI.

(d)	 The amounts of outstanding balances with associated companies, joint ventures and non-controlling 

interests are disclosed in notes 23, 24, 30, 43 and 44, and the pledge of the Group’s equity interest in an 

associated company as security for a bank loan of the associated company is disclosed in note 23(b).
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51	 Events subsequent to year end
In August 2021, the Group entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Xiamen International Port 

Co., Ltd for the disposal of its entire 20% interest in XCTG. Details were set out in note 34. 

In September 2021, the Group entered into formal sale and purchase agreements with Good Sense Development 

Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of NWD) for the acquisition of the office units on 18th–21st floors of 

No. 888 Lai Chi Kok Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong at the aggregate purchase price of approximately HK$1,367 

million. In addition, the Group shall be entitled to (i) priority to purchase up to nine parking spaces for each floor 

purchased at a price of not higher than HK$1.5 million per parking space and (ii) leasing benefits offered by 

the vendor under which the Group entered into tenancy agreements as landlord for these properties at pre-

determined annual rent and has the option to terminate the relevant tenancy agreement(s) for a pre-determined 

amount to be received according to when the termination of the relevant tenancy agreement(s) occurs. The 

transaction are yet to complete up to the date of this report as the properties are still under construction and the 

completion is expected to take place in April 2022.

52	 Comparative figures
As detailed in note 2(c), certain comparative figures for FY2020, primarily relating to discontinued operations, have 

been reclassified or extended to conform with the presentation for the FY2021.

53	 Ultimate holding company
The directors regard NWD, a company incorporated in Hong Kong and listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, 

as being the ultimate holding company. The Company is held by NWD and certain of its subsidiaries.
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54	 Company statement of financial position

2021 2020

HK$’m HK$’m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 9.9 17.1

Subsidiaries 7,893.4 7,893.4

Right-of-use assets 9.2 23.5

Other non-current asset 3.3 3.3

7,915.8 7,937.3

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 63,266.0 65,946.6

Cash and bank balances 1,556.8 887.4

64,822.8 66,834.0

Total assets 72,738.6 74,771.3

EQUITY

Share capital 3,911.1 3,911.1

Reserves 42,377.7 41,600.1

Total equity 46,288.8 45,511.2

LIABILITIES

Non-current liability

Lease liabilities – 9.5

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 26,440.3 29,236.0

Lease liabilities 9.5 14.6

26,449.8 29,250.6

Total liabilities 26,449.8 29,260.1

Total equity and liabilities 72,738.6 74,771.3

Dr Cheng Kar Shun, Henry Mr Ma Siu Cheung

Director Director
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54	 Company statement of financial position (continued)
Reserves

HK$’m

Share 

premium

Contributed

surplus

Special

reserves

Revenue

reserve Total

At 1 July 2020 17,821.5 237.3 1.1 23,540.2 41,600.1

Profit for the year – – – 3,046.1 3,046.1

Dividends – – – (2,268.5) (2,268.5)

At 30 June 2021 17,821.5 237.3 1.1 24,317.8 42,377.7

At 1 July 2019 17,821.5 237.3 208.3 20,592.5 38,859.6

Profit for the year – – – 5,009.0 5,009.0

Dividends – – – (2,268.5) (2,268.5)

Transfer of reserves – – (207.2) 207.2 –

At 30 June 2020 17,821.5 237.3 1.1 23,540.2 41,600.1

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the nominal value of the ordinary 

share capital issued by the Company and the consolidated net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired at the 

date of acquisition pursuant to the group reorganization implemented in 1997. Under the Companies Act 1981 of 

Bermuda (as amended), the Company may make distributions to its members out of contributed surplus in certain 

circumstances.
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55	 Principal subsidiaries
The directors of the Company were of the view that as at 30 June 2021, there was no individual subsidiary that 

had non-controlling interests that were material to the Group.

As at 30 June 2021

Issued and fully paid up

share capital#

Approximate

percentage

of shares held 

by the GroupNumber Amount Principal activities

HK$

Incorporated and operate in Hong Kong

Anway Limited 1 1 100.0 Duty free operation and general 

trading

Billionoble Investment Limited 4,998 4,998 100.0 Investment holding

2* 2 100.0

Bounty Gain Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding

Chinese Future Limited 1,300,000,000 1,300,000,000 100.0 Investment holding

Dynamic Ally Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding

Earning Star Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding

Grace Crystal Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding

Grand Express International Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding

Hip Hing Builders Company Limited 40,000 40,000,000 100.0 Construction

10,000* 10,000,000 100.0

Hip Hing Construction Company Limited 400,000

600,000*

40,000,000

60,000,000

100.0

100.0

Construction and civil 

engineering

Hip Hing Engineering Company Limited 2,000,000 200,000,000 100.0 Building construction

Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre 

(Management) Limited

3

1*

3

1

100.0

100.0

Management of HKCEC

Hong Kong Exhibition and Convention Venue Management 

China Limited

1 1 100.0 Investment holding

i-Residence Management Limited 1 1 100.0 Property management and 

consultancy

Kiu Lok Property Services (China) Limited 2 2 100.0 Property agency, management

2* 2 100.0 and consultancy

New Advent Limited 1 1 100.0 Property investment

New World – Guangdong Highway 999,900 99,990,000 100.0 Investment holding

Investments Co. Limited 100* 10,000 50.0

New World Port Investments Limited 2 2 100.0 Investment holding

New World (Xiamen) Port Investments Limited 2 2 100.0 Investment holding

NWS (Finance) Limited 2 2 100.0 Financial services

NWS Holdings (Finance) Limited 1 1 100.0 Financing

NWS Infrastructure Renewables (Italy) Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding
△NWS Modern Logistics (Hong Kong) Limited  

(formerly known as China Century Modern Logistics 

(Hong Kong) Limited)

1 1 100.0 Investment holding, operating 

modern logistics business
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55	 Principal subsidiaries (continued)
As at 30 June 2021

Issued and fully paid up

share capital#

Approximate

percentage

of shares held 

by the GroupNumber Amount Principal activities

HK$

Incorporated and operate in Hong Kong (continued)

Polytown Company Limited 2 20 100.0 Property investment, 

operation, marketing, 

promotion and management 

of HKCEC

100,000* 1,000,000 100.0

Profit Now Limited 1 1 100.0 Investment holding

Sky Connection Limited 100 100 100.0 Duty free operation and general 

trading

True Hope Investment Limited 299,999,998 299,999,998 100.0 Investment holding

2* 2 100.0

Urban Parking Limited 15,000,000 15,000,000 100.0 Carpark management

Vibro Construction Company Limited 1,630,000 163,000,000 100.0 Civil engineering

20,000* 2,000,000 100.0

Vibro (H.K.) Limited 20,000,004 60,328,449 99.8 (a) Piling, ground investigation and 

civil engineering

Wisemec Enterprises Limited 2 2 100.0 Investment holding



266 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDNotes to the Financial Statements

55	 Principal subsidiaries (continued)
As at 30 June 2021

Issued share capital# Approximate
percentage

of shares held
by the GroupNumber

Par value
per share Principal activities

HK$

Incorporated in Bermuda and operates in Hong Kong

FTLife Insurance Company Limited 506,100,141 US$1 100.0 Life insurance
9,000,000§ US$1 100.0

10,000,000§§ US$1 100.0

Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and 
operates in Hong Kong

NWS Service Management Limited 1,323,943,165 HK$0.10 100.0 Investment holding

Incorporated in the Cayman Islands

Chinese Future Corporation 1,000,000 US$0.01 100.0 Investment holding

Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and 
operate in Hong Kong

Bellwood Group Limited 100 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Best Star (BVI) Investments Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Busy Bee Global Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Celestial Dynasty Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Bond issuer
Celestial Miles Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Bond issuer
Century Charm Global Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Creo Capital Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Economic Velocity Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Hetro Limited 101 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Lucky Strong Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Noonday Limited 100 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS Financial Management Services Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS Infrastructure Management Limited 2 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS Infrastructure Roads Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS Ports Management Limited 2 US$1 100.0 Investment holding

Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

Beauty Ocean Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
FTL Capital Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Bond issuer
Gravy Train Investments Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Ideal Global International Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Moscan Developments Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Natal Global Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS CON Limited 1 HK$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS Construction Limited 190,000 US$0.1 100.0 Investment holding

7,225** US$0.1 –
5,919*** US$0.1 –

NWS Infrastructure Power Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
NWS Infrastructure Water Limited 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Right Heart Associates Limited 4 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
Righteous Corporation 1 US$1 100.0 Investment holding
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55	 Principal subsidiaries (continued)
As at 30 June 2021

Amount of fully

paid up capital

Approximate

percentage of

attributable interest

to the Group Principal activities

Incorporated and operate in Mainland China

^Chaoming (Chongqing) Investment Company Limited US$78,000,000 100.0 Investment holding

NWS Modern Logistics (Shenzhen) Limited RMB5,000,000 100.0 Investment holding
++Hunan NWS Expressway Management Co., Ltd. RMB1,600,000,000 100.0 Operation of toll road
^NWS (Guangdong) Investment Company Limited RMB3,184,853,600 100.0 Investment holding
+Shanxi Xinda Highways Limited RMB49,000,000 60.0 (b) Operation of toll road
+Shanxi Xinhuang Highways Limited RMB56,000,000 60.0 (b) Operation of toll road
^Xiamen Creo Capital Investment Company Limited RMB200,000,000 100.0 Investment holding
@Zhejiang NWS Expressway Co., Ltd. US$320,590,000 100.0 Operation of toll road

Incorporated and operate in Macau

Hip Hing Engineering (Macau) Company Limited MOP100,000 100.0 Construction

Vibro (Macau) Limited MOP1,000,000 99.8 (a) Foundation works

Incorporated and operates in Italy

NWS Infrastructure Renewables (Italy) S.r.l. EUR10,000 100.0 Investment holding

#	 Ordinary shares, unless otherwise stated
*	 Non-voting deferred shares
**	 Redeemable, non-convertible and non-voting A preference shares
***	 Redeemable, non-convertible and non-voting B preference shares
^	 Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law
@	 Registered as sino-foreign equity joint venture under PRC law
+	 Registered as sino-foreign cooperative joint venture under PRC law
++	 Registered as limited company under PRC law
§	 Class A redeemable preference shares (non-convertible)
§§	 Class C redeemable preference shares (convertible)
△	 Renamed on 21 September 2021

(a)	 The approximate percentage of shares held by non-controlling interests is 0.2%

(b)	 Cash sharing ratio of 90% (percentage for non-controlling interest is 10%) for the first 12 years from the 

operation date and thereafter 60% (percentage for non-controlling interest is 40%)
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56	 Principal associated companies
The list of principal associated companies which are accounted for by the equity method of accounting as at 30 

June 2021 is as follows:

Issued and fully paid up

share capital#

Approximate

percentage

of shares held

by the GroupNumber Amount Principal activities

HK$

Incorporated and operate in Hong Kong

GHK Hospital Limited 10 10 40.0 Healthcare

Joy Fortune Investments Limited 10,000 10,000 50.0 Investment holding

Kai Tak Sports Park Limited 300 906,666,900 25.0 To develop and operate 

Kai Tak Sports Park

Quon Hing Concrete Company Limited 200,000 20,000,000 50.0 Production and sales of ready-

mixed concrete

Yargoon Company Limited 150,000 15,000,000 42.0 Operating a quarry mill and 

trading in aggregates and 

stonefines

Shoucheng Holdings Limited 7,291,017,794 12,546,847,000 11.5 (a) Investment holding

Incorporated in Hong Kong and operates 

in Greater China

*SUEZ NWS Limited 20,256,429 5,134,005,207 42.0 Investment holding and 

operation of water, 

wastewater and waste 

management businesses

Issued and fully paid up

share capital#

Approximate

percentage

of shares held

by the GroupNumber Amount Principal activities

Incorporated and operates in Singapore

PBA International Pte. Ltd. 10,932 Singapore dollar

24,242,000

20.0 Development and 

manufacturing of 

advanced robotics
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56	 Principal associated companies (continued)
The list of principal associated companies which are accounted for by the equity method of accounting as at 30 

June 2021 is as follows (continued):

Issued share capital#
Approximate

percentage

of shares held

by the GroupNumber

Par value

per share Principal activities

Incorporated in Bermuda and operates in Hong Kong

*Wai Kee Holdings Limited 793,124,034 HK$0.10 11.5 Construction

Incorporated in Cyprus and operates in South Africa

Tharisa plc 269,157,056 US$0.001 14.6 (a) Chrome and platinum group 

metals mining, processing 

and trading

Amount of

fully paid capital

Approximate

percentage of

attributable interest

to the Group Principal activities

Incorporated and operate in Mainland China

Chongqing Silian Optoelectronics Science And 

Technology Co., Ltd.

RMB500,000,000 20.0 (b) Manufacturing and sale of 

sapphire substrate and 

wafer, LED packaging and 

application

Hangzhou Ring Road Expressway Petroleum 

Development Co., Ltd.

RMB10,000,000 39.0 (c) Operation of gasoline station

NWS Asset Management (Hainan) Company Limited RMB1,000,000,000 50.0 (b) Asset Management

Hubei Suiyuenan Expressway Co., Ltd. RMB1,770,000,000 30.0 (b) Operation of toll road

Hunan Daoyue Expressway Industry Co., Ltd. RMB600,950,000 40.0 (b) Operation of toll road

*Xiamen Container Terminal Group Co., Ltd. RMB2,436,604,228 20.0 (b) Operation of container 

terminals

Zhaoqing Yuezhao Expressway Co., Ltd. RMB818,300,000 25.0 (c) Operation of toll road

#	 Ordinary shares, unless otherwise stated

*	 The Group’s interest in these companies were reclassified as assets held-for-sale as at 30 June 2021 (note 34)

(a)	 The directors of the Company considered the Group has significant influence over these companies 

through its representative on the board of directors of these companies

(b)	 Percentage of equity interest

(c)	 Percentage of interest in ownership and profit sharing
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57	 Principal joint ventures
The list of principal joint ventures which are accounted for by the equity method of accounting as at 30 June 2021 

is as follows:

Amount of fully

paid up capital

Approximate 

percentage of 

attributable interest

to the Group Principal activities

Incorporated and operate in Mainland China

Beijing-Zhuhai Expressway Guangzhou- 

Zhuhai Section Company Limited

RMB580,000,000 25.0 (a) Operation of toll road

China United International Rail Containers 

Co., Limited

RMB4,200,000,000 30.0 (b) Operation of rail container 

terminals and related 

business

Guangzhou Northring Intelligent Transportation 

Technology Company Limited

US$19,255,000 65.3 (a),(d) Operation of toll road

Guangzhou Pearl River Electric Power 

Fuel Co., Ltd.

RMB613,361,800 35.0 (b) Wholesale, assembling and 

storage of fuel

Guoneng Chengdu Jintang Power Generation 

Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Guodian Chengdu 

Jintang Power Generation Co., Ltd.)

RMB924,000,000 35.0 (a) Generation and supply of 

electricity

Huizhou City Huixin Expressway 

Company Limited

RMB34,400,000 50.0 (a) Investment holding

Tianjin Xinzhan Expressway Company Limited RMB2,539,100,000 60.0 (c),(d) Operation of toll road

Incorporated and operates in Italy

ForVEI II S.r.l. EUR20,000 40.0 Investment holding and 

operation of solar power 

assets

Issued and fully paid up

share capital#

Approximate

percentage

of share held

by the GroupNumber Amount Principal activities

HK$

Incorporated and operate in Hong Kong

ATL Logistics Centre Hong Kong Limited 100,000‘A’ 100,000 56.0 (d) Operation of cargo 

handling and storage 

facilities

20,000‘B’** 20,000 79.6

54,918* 54,918 –

Wincon International Limited 300,000,000 300,000,000 50.0 Investment holding
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57	 Principal joint ventures (continued)
The list of principal joint ventures which are accounted for by the equity method of accounting as at 30 June 2021 

is as follows (continued):

Issued share capital # Approximate

percentage

of shares held

by the GroupNumber

Par value 

per share Principal activities

Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

Success Concept Investments Limited 1,000 US$1 90.0 (d) Investment holding

Incorporated and operates in the Netherlands

Hyva I B.V. 19,000 EUR1 50.0 Manufacturing and supply 

of components used in 

hydraulic loading and 

unloading systems

Issued share capital # Approximate

percentage

of shares held

by the GroupNumber

Par value 

per share Principal activities

Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and 

operates globally

Goshawk Aviation Limited 362,026,264

preference

shares

US$0.001 50.0 Commercial aircraft 

leasing and management

     

#	 Ordinary shares, unless otherwise stated
*	 Non-voting deferred shares
**	 Non-voting preference shares

(a)	 Percentage of interest in ownership and profit sharing

(b)	 Percentage of equity interest

(c)	 Cash sharing ratio of 90% for the first 15 years from the operation date and thereafter 60%

(d)	 The directors of the Company considered the Group does not have unilateral control governing the 

financial and operating activities over these joint ventures
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Five-Year Financial Summary

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Earnings per share – Basic (HK$) 0.29 0.06 1.04 1.56 1.46

Earnings per share – Diluted (HK$) N/A N/A 1.04 1.56 N/A

Key ratios

Net Gearing Ratio 25% 31% 0% 7% 7%

Return on Equity 3% 1% 7% 12% 11%

Return on Capital Employed 2% 1% 6% 10% 9%

Consolidated income statement data

(HK$’m)

Revenue 28,852.4 25,920.5 26,833.5 35,114.8 31,385.0

Revenue by segments

Roads 3,033.2 2,070.5 2,529.0 2,623.6 2,377.0

Aviation – – 161.6 160.8 –

Construction 15,114.1 12,454.4 16,211.0 23,260.4 20,360.3

Insurance 9,640.6 6,180.0** – – –

Facilities Management 409.4 1,907.3 4,151.7 5,570.9 6,915.1

Transport 655.1 3,308.3 3,780.2 3,499.1 1,732.6*

Revenue by region

Hong Kong 25,765.6 23,579.7 23,382.9 31,599.0 28,449.7

Mainland China 3,086.8 2,117.5 2,600.2 2,726.1 2,470.5

Global and others – 223.3 850.4 789.7 464.8

Profit attributable to shareholders of  

the Company 1,146.5 253.2 4,043.2 6,068.8 5,628.9

Attributable Operating Profit 5,225.9 3,514.3 4,707.4 5,231.9 4,840.3

Attributable Operating Profit/(Loss)  

by segments

Roads 1,807.5 907.4 1,805.5 1,947.1 1,479.1

Aviation 496.0 421.9 500.3 695.2 610.5

Construction 948.5 1,066.0 1,203.8 1,055.3 909.5

Insurance 971.7 750.4 – – –

Logistics 663.0 627.8 650.6 654.6 641.2

Facilities Management (649.3) (771.8) (393.4) (73.1) 301.1

Strategic Investments 739.4 251.0 282.8 340.3 335.8

Environment *** 244.3 380.4 667.9 454.9 340.8

Transport *** 4.8 (118.8) (10.1) 157.6 222.3

*	 The amount represented revenue consolidated after being acquired as the Group’s subsidiaries since 30 December 2016.

**	 The amount represented revenue consolidated after being acquired as the Group’s subsidiaries since 1 November 2019.

***	 Being discontinued operations (prior year’s comparative figures has been restated to conform with FY2021’s classification).
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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Consolidated income statement data 

(continued)

(HK$’m)

Attributable Operating Profit by region

Hong Kong 2,015.2 1,716.6 1,324.4 2,015.8 2,213.8

Mainland China 2,389.2 1,361.0 2,815.6 2,623.5 2,117.9

Global and others 821.5 436.7 567.4 592.6 508.6

Corporate office and non-operating items

Net gain on disposal of a project under  

an associated company – – – – 932.8

Gain on restructuring of a joint venture – – – – 454.3

Net gain on disposal of projects, net of tax 9.3 101.0 285.1 52.7 179.8

Net (loss)/gain on fair value of investment 

properties (13.2) (22.9) 33.7 93.6 117.1

Gain on remeasurement of a previously  

held equity interest in a joint venture – – – – 113.1

Gains on partial disposal and 

remeasurement related to an associated 

company – – – 1,879.3 –

Losses on partial disposal, impairment and 

remeasurement related to an associated 

company – – – – (290.6)

Remeasurement, impairments and 

provisions (2,551.6) (1,709.4) – (600.0) –

Interest income 37.5 107.5 78.3 36.8 54.4

Net (loss)/gain on fair value of derivative 

financial instruments, net of tax (59.1) 73.1 40.1 – –

Finance costs (483.4) (737.4) (373.8) (266.6) (399.8)

Expenses and others (435.8) (491.1) (540.7) (358.9) (372.5)

Consolidated statement of financial 

position data

(HK$’m)

Total assets 152,572.9 150,052.0 86,065.0 78,138.6 75,725.9

Total liabilities, perpetual capital securities  

and non-controlling interests 104,659.5 103,685.0 37,019.0 28,188.6 26,668.8

Total borrowings 25,348.0 30,955.7 15,069.4 10,174.6 9,682.7

Shareholders’ funds 47,913.4 46,367.0 49,046.0 49,950.0 49,057.1
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PROJECT KEY FACTS AND FIGURES
(As at 30 June 2021)

Roads

Attributable 
Interest

Form of 
Investment

Length Lanes Expiry 
Date

Average Daily 
Traffic Flow

Guangdong Province

1 Guangzhou City Northern Ring Road 65.29% CJV 22 km Dual 3-Lane 2023 2021/364,383
2020/264,877
2019/350,818

2 Beijing-Zhuhai Expressway 
(Guangzhou-Zhuhai Section)

25% CJV Section 1: 8.6 km
Section 2: 49.59 km

Section 1:  
Dual 3-Lane
Section 2:  
Dual 2 to 3-Lane

2030 2021/170,844
2020/124,007
2019/195,047

3 Beijing-Zhuhai Expressway  
(Guangzhou-Zhuhai Northern Section)

15% CJV 27 km Dual 3-Lane 2032 2021/98,523
2020/69,134
2019/83,974

4 Guangzhou-Zhaoqing Expressway 25% CJV Phase 1: 48 km
Phase 2: 5.39 km

Phase 1:  
Dual 2-Lane
Phase 2:  
Dual 3-Lane

2031 2021/99,224
2020/66,301
2019/87,003

5 Shenzhen-Huizhou Expressway  
(Huizhou Section)

33.33% CJV 34.7 km Dual 3 to 4-Lane 2023 2021/111,976
2020/78,720
2019/105,694

6 Guangzhou Dongxin Expressway 45.9% Equity 46.22 km Dual 3 to 4-Lane 2035 2021/190,207
2020/119,605
2019/148,685

7 Guangzhou City Nansha Port Expressway 22.5% Equity 72.4 km Dual 3 to 4-Lane 2030 2021/184,631
2020/116,144
2019/139,714

8 Guangdong E-serve United Co., Ltd. 1.02% Equity N/A N/A N/A N/A

Zhejiang Province

9 Hangzhou Ring Road 100% Equity 103.4 km Dual 2 to 3-Lane 2029 2021/340,871
2020/250,236
2019/318,521

Shanxi Province

10 Shanxi Taiyuan – Gujiao Roadway 
(Gujiao Section)

60%† CJV 36.02 km Dual 1-Lane 2025 2021/1,126
2020/1,158
2019/1,541

11 Roadway No.309 (Changzhi Section) 60%† CJV 22.2 km Dual 1 to 2-Lane 2023 2021/3,790
2020/2,849
2019/4,955

12 Taiyuan – Changzhi Roadway  
(Changzhi Section)

60%† CJV 18.3 km Dual 1 to 2-Lane 2023 2021/666
2020/981
2019/1,061

Tianjin Municipality

13 Tangjin Expressway  
(Tianjin North Section)

60%†† CJV Section 1: 43.45 km
Section 2: 17.22 km

Dual 3-Lane 2039 2021/79,813
2020/51,824
2019/71,337

Hubei Province

14 Hubei Suiyuenan Expressway 30% EJV 98.06 km Dual 2-Lane 2040 2021/32,879
2020/20,683
2019/24,389

Hunan Province

15 Hunan Sui-Yue Expressway 40% EJV 24.08 km Dual 3-Lane 2038 2021/33,877
2020/22,162
2019/30,660#

16 Hunan Changliu Expressway 100% Equity 65 km Dual 2-Lane 2043 2021/48,367
2020/30,092^

2019/N/A
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Aviation

Goshawk Aviation Limited

Attributable Interest 50%

Form of Investment Equity

Date of Incorporation October 2013

No. of Aircraft Owned 2021	 2020	 2019

162	 162	 154

Construction

Hip Hing Group

Attributable Interest 100%

Services Offered General contracting, construction management, civil engineering works and foundation works

Total Value of Contracts Awarded this Year HK$7 billion

Value of Contracts on Hand HK$49.4 billion (remaining value of works to be completed: HK$28.2 billion)

Insurance

FTLife Insurance Company Limited

Attributable Interest 100%

Services Offered Provision of financial protection and wealth management services to individual and 

institutional clients from a diverse portfolio

Product Category Life Insurance, Medical Insurance, Critical Illness Insurance, Personal Accident Insurance, 

Saving Insurance Plan, Investment-linked Assurance Scheme, Annuity

No. of Agents Approximately 3,000

Solvency Ratio 524%

Remarks:
†	 Cash sharing ratio of 90% for the first 12 years from the operation date and thereafter 60%
††	 Cash sharing ratio of 90% for the first 15 years from the operation date and thereafter 60%
CJV:	 Co-operative Joint Venture (profit sharing percentage)
EJV:	 Equity Joint Venture (percentage of equity interest)
N/A:	 Not applicable
#	 For the period from December 2018 to June 2019 as the acquisition of 40% interest was completed in December 2018
^	 For the period from August 2019 to June 2020 as the concession rights were acquired in July 2019
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Logistics

ATL Logistics Centre Hong Kong Limited

Attributable Interest 56%

Form of Investment Equity

Leasable Area 5.9 million sq ft

Location Hong Kong

Operation Date Phase 1: February 1987

Phase 2: March 1988

Phase 3: February 1992

Phase 4: January 1994

Phase 5: November 1994

Expiry Date 2047

Average Occupancy Rate 2021	 2020	 2019

99.7%	 99.7%	 99.3%

China United International Rail Containers Co., Limited

Attributable Interest 30%

Form of Investment EJV

Investment Scope Pivotal rail container terminal network

Handling Capacity 6 million TEUs / year

Location and Operation Date Kunming:	 January 2008

Chongqing:	December 2009

Chengdu:	 March 2010

Zhengzhou:	April 2010

Dalian:	 July 2010

Qingdao:	 August 2010

Wuhan:	 August 2010

Xian:	 December 2010

Ningbo:	 January 2011

Tianjin:	 January 2017

Urumqi:	 June 2017

Qinzhou:	 June 2019

Expiry Date 2057

Throughput Achieved (TEUs) 2021	 2020	 2019

4,869,000	 3,895,000	 3,438,000

Note:	 A framework agreement for the disposal of the Group’s entire 20% equity interest in Xiamen Container Terminal Group Co., Ltd. was signed on  
30 June 2021
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Facilities Management

Hong Kong Convention 

and Exhibition Centre 

(Management) Limited

Shenyang New World Expo 

(Management) Limited

Hong Kong – Shanghai 

Venue Management 

(Zhengzhou) Limited

Attributable Interest 100% 100% 30%

Services Offered Management and operation of venues for exhibitions, conventions, meetings, entertainment 

events, banquets and catering events, etc

Gross Rentable Space 91,500 sq m 28,000 sq m 93,000 sq m

No. of Events Held this Year 235 36 200

Total Attendance this Year Over 1 million Over 0.5 million Over 2.46 million

Gleneagles Hospital Hong Kong

Attributable Interest 40%

Services Offered 500-bed private hospital with more than 35 specialties and subspecialties. It offers a 

comprehensive range of healthcare facilities and services, including 24-hour outpatient and 

emergency, cardiac catheterisation laboratory, clinical laboratory, critical care unit, radiotherapy 

and oncology centre, radiology department, endoscopy centre, chemotherapy centre, dialysis 

centre, health screening clinic, rehabilitation centre, specialist outpatient clinics, dietetic services, 

etc

Free Duty

Attributable Interest 100%

Services Offered Retail of duty free tobacco, liquor, perfume, cosmetics, package food and general merchandise

Shop Locations MTR Lo Wu, Hung Hom and Lok Ma Chau Stations; Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge  

(Hong Kong Port Passenger Clearance Building)
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Glossary of Terms

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the following meanings:

GENERAL TERMS

“ATL Logistics Centre” or “ATL” ATL Logistics Centre Hong Kong Limited

“Board” the board of directors of NWS Holdings

“CTFC” Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited

“CTF Enterprises” Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited

“CTFH” Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited

“CUIRC” China United International Rail Containers Co., Limited

“Derun Environment” Chongqing Derun Environment Co., Ltd.

“ESG” Environmental, Social and Governance

“ERM” Enterprise Risk Management

“EUR” Euro, the official currency of the Eurozone

“FTLife Insurance” FTLife Insurance Company Limited

“FY2019” the financial year ended 30 June 2019

“FY2020” the financial year ended 30 June 2020

“FY2021” the financial year ended 30 June 2021

“FY2022” the financial year ending 30 June 2022

“GHG” Greenhouse gas

“GHK Hospital” Gleneagles Hospital Hong Kong

“Goshawk” Goshawk Aviation Limited

“Greater Bay Area” or “GBA” the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area

“GRI” Global Reporting Initiative

“Group” NWS Holdings and its subsidiaries

“HIBOR” Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate

“Hip Hing Group” NWS Construction Limited and its subsidiaries

“HK$” Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“HK$’m” million of Hong Kong dollar

“HKCEC” Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre

“HKICPA” Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

“HML” Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre (Management) Limited
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“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“KTSPL” Kai Tak Sports Park Limited

“LIBOR” London Interbank Offered Rate

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange

“Macau” the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Mainland” or “Mainland China” the PRC excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

“MOP” Macau Pataca, the lawful currency of Macau

“NWCL” New World China Land Limited

“NWD” New World Development Company Limited

“New World Group” NWD and its subsidiaries

“NWD (MTN)” NWD (MTN) Limited

“NWS HKI” NWS Hong Kong Investment Limited

“NWS”, “NWS Holdings” or “Company” NWS Holdings Limited

“NWS Transport” NWS Transport Services Limited

“OHS” Occupational health and safety

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“SDGs” Sustainable Development Goals

“SUEZ NWS” SUEZ NWS Limited

“SV2030” New World Sustainability Vision 2030

“TCFD” Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure

“US” or “USA” the United States of America

“US$” United States dollar, the lawful currency of USA

“Wai Kee” Wai Kee Holdings Limited

“XCTG” Xiamen Container Terminal Group Co., Ltd.

GENERAL TERMS (continued)
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TECHNICAL TERMS

“CO2e” carbon dioxide equivalent

“GJ” gigajoule(s), equal to 1,000,000,000 joules

“m3” cubic metre(s)

“CJV” co-operative joint venture company

“EJV” equity joint venture company

“km” kilometre(s)

“kW” kilowatt(s)

“kWh” kilowatt-hour(s)

“sq ft” square foot (feet)

“sq m” square metre(s)

“TEU(s)” twenty-foot equivalent unit(s), a standard measurement unit of a container. It 

is based on the dimensions of a container 20 feet long by 8 feet wide by 8.5 

feet high with an average load of approximately nine tonnes

“tonne(s)” equal to 1,000 kilograms
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FINANCIAL TERMS

“EBITDA” earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization

“Attributable Operating Profit” or “AOP” profit available for appropriation before corporate office and non-operating 

items

“Attributable Operating Loss” or “AOL” loss before corporate office and non-operating items

“Dividend Payout Ratio” dividends

profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

“Basic Earnings per Share” profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

weighted average number of shares in issue during the year

“FVPL” fair value through profit or loss

“FVOCI” fair value through other comprehensive income

“Net Assets” total assets less total liabilities

“Net Assets per Share” Net Assets

number of issued shares at the end of the year

“Net Debt” Total Debt less cash and bank balances and short-term deposits

“Net Gearing Ratio” Net Debt

total equity

“Return on Capital Employed” profit for the year

total equity + non-current liabilities

“Return on Equity” profit for the year

total equity

“Total Debt” the aggregate of borrowings and other interest-bearing liabilities



282 NWS HOLDINGS LIMITEDGlossary of Terms

OTHER TERMS FOR INSURANCE BUSINESS

“APE” annual premium equivalent, a measure of new insurance business activity 

that is calculated as the sum of annualized regular premiums from new 

insurance business plus 10% single premiums on new insurance business 

written during a period

“DAC” deferred acquisition costs, being the direct acquisition costs and a portion 

of indirect acquisition costs relating to the production of new insurance 

business deferred

“Embedded value” being an actuarially determined estimate of the economic value of a life 

insurance business based on a particular set of assumptions, which is 

equal to the sum of adjusted net worth and value of in-force business, 

excluding any economic value attributable to future new insurance 

business

“VOBA” value of business acquired, in respect of a portfolio of long-term insurance 

and investment contracts, being an intangible asset that reflects the 

estimated fair value of in-force contracts in acquisition of an insurance 

company and represents the portion of the purchase price that is allocated 

to the value of the right to receive future cash flows from the business in-

force at the acquisition date

“VONB” value of new business, being the present value of distributable statutory 

earnings in the future (less the cost of holding solvency capital) from new 

insurance business sold in a period
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